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COSH was first established in 1987. It is a statutory body vested with functions, as set out
in the “Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance” (Cap. 389), to protect and
improve the health of the community by:

1. Informing and educating the public on the harm of smoking and its adverse effects on

health;

2. Conducting and coordinating research into the cause, prevention and cure of tobacco
dependence;

3. Advising the Government, community health organizations or any public body on
matters relating to smoking and health.

Under such a charter, COSH has taken up the role as an active player and commentator
on all issues relating to tobacco control. We aim to act within our charter in response to
the changing local environment as it affects the promotion of tobacco and the epidemic
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=EfE Chairman

SIS K MH KMt
Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP

SEBEERBACEEFRRLIE N2018FMAZ
B8 WN2020FBZERZESERE RAKMM
MEZESMWENZESLE THREEE  HRE

WEBENHELEBREEEE-

Mr Henry TONG is the Managing Director of
an enterprise. He joined COSH in 2018 and was
appointed as COSH Chairman in 2020. He is the
Chairman of the Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee, and also a member
of the Executive Committee, Community Liaison
Committee and Education & Publicity Committee.

Bl=EE Vice-chairman

S+ SBS, BBS K4 L
Dr Johnnie CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, BBS, JP

RERBELABEBEHERBEEBEMNITHRER  ©
2009 FMAZEE - RIELTHR 2012 F = 2014 FHE(TAL
EMEEES T ENA2014FEE2015FEAHERS
BLEeEFE Y2020 FEZTALZECRIEF-
RIETIRATTHREESEMHEBEZESER - 5
hEELZES - BAMARZEEMEMIZESELE -

Dr Johnnie CHAN is the Chief Executive Officer of an
international real estate services group and joined COSH
in 2009. Dr Chan was the Chairman of the Community
Liaison Committee from 2012 to 2014 and the Chairman
of the Education & Publicity Committee from 2014 to
2015. He was appointed as COSH Vice-chairman in 2020.
He is now the Chairman of the Executive Committee and
Community Liaison Committee. He is also a member
of the Education & Publicity Committee, Information &
Research Committee and Legislation Committee.
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Dr Amy CHIU Pui-yin, JP

HREELRERBLEERESEH
e M2018FIMAZRER

Dr Amy CHIU is the Controller,
Regulatory Affairs of Department
of Health. She joined COSH as an
ex-officio member in 2018.

Z & Member

& B F e 4 MH
Mr Langton CHEUNG
Yung-pong, MH

RERTERNEREK WAEEE
B/ BREEREFEE - F2020F 0
ALZEBE BHAHEMEEEZEY
MEPIZEGERE -

Mr Langton CHEUNG is a primary
school principal and also the
Honorary Chairman of the Hong
Kong Aided Primary School Heads
Association. He joined COSH
in 2020 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee
and Legislation Committee.

ZE N4 Members of COSH

ZE Member

BEBELEMH
Mr Clement FUNG
Cheuk-nang, MH

BERENERBACEEE A
A EBRESRER K2020F
MAZES BALRHMERES

Mr Clement FUNG is a Director
of an enterprise and the former
Chairman of Yan Chai Hospital.
He joined COSH in 2020 and is a
member of the Community Liaison
Committee.
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ZE Member

t DRI+ MH
Ms Sharmila GURUNG, MH
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Ms Sharmila GURUNG is a senior
service manager in a not-for-profit
medical organization. She joined
COSH in 2020 and is a member of
the Community Liaison Committee.

Z & Member

EWEELE
Dr Tony HA King-hang

EWEEFIR AEREREREE R
@B B RIS BITIEACIE - PA20194F
MAZES= -

Dr Tony HA is the Chief Manager of
Primary and Community Services,
Hospital Authority. He joined COSH
in 2019.
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Dr Daniel HO Sai-yin

MEEFLAFEBEREAREES
SRRl - M2017 FMAZES
ERitEMEEES HERER
Z8g BEMMARZRESLEN
é%@%@%

Dr Daniel HO is an Associate Professor
in the School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2017 and is a member of
the Community Liaison Committee,
Education & Publicity Committee,
Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee.
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Dr Hon David LAM is a surgeon
and the current Legislative Council
Member (Medical and Health
Services). He joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Community
Liaison Committee.
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Dr Haston LIU Wai-ming
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Dr Haston LIU is a dentist and Past
President of Hong Kong Dental
Association. He joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Education &
Publicity Committee and Legislation
Committee.

A Members of COSH

ZE& Member

N4 e
Prof Phoenix MO Kit-han

ZIMBIR B OIRER KRB BR
RERHARE M AEEEERIH
B M2020FIMAZER HRE
n—L&ﬁH %iggg °
Prof Phoenix MO is a psychologist
and an Associate Professor in the
School of Public Health and Primary
Care, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. She joined COSH in 2020 and
is a member of the Information &
Research Committee.
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ZE Member

Dr Loletta SO Kit-ying

BRR4BAIR ABE R ERHE
BEERREAEA AT RERR
RINER MBI E TR ES -
R2018FIMAZEE MAEHER
SELZEENEMKAREZERZLE

Dr Loletta SO is the Cluster Chief
Executive of Hong Kong East Cluster
and Hospital Chief Executive of
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern
Hospital, St John Hospital and Wong
Chuk Hang Hospital. She joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Information & Research Committee.

Z & Member

BIRBAEEMHAFE# L
Mr Teddy TANG
Chun-keung, MH, JP

Hikg L E BRIKPERE B
2018 FEMALZES BAEHENLE

BREeMAIZBEXRE-

Mr Teddy TANG is a retired secondary
school principal. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Legislation Committee.

ZE Member

BV ESE
Mr Richard TSANG Lap-ki

BUESERRAHBREREE
THE R2016 FIMAZESE B
HEREBELZECTRNITHES
g%8-

Mr Richard TSANG is the Chairman of
a public relations consultancy group.
He joined COSH in 2016 and is the
Chairman of the Education & Publicity
Committee, and also a member of the
Executive Committee.



ZE Member

BEERBEARKYEHLT
Dr Stewart TUNG Yuk, JP
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Dr Stewart TUNG is a Consultant
in Tuen Mun Hospital. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.

Z & Member
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Dr Kelvin WANG Man-ping

IY%ﬁiﬁﬁ?:ki%E&F
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Dr Kelvin WANG is the Associate
Professor in the School of Nursing, The
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Information & Research Committee
and Legislation Committee.

A Members of COSH

ZE Member

EERZLAFHL
Ms Sandy WONG
Hang-yee, JP

BERRTARMTBEEEZMEE
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Ms Sandy WONG is Consultant
Solicitor at a law firm and the Past
President of Hong Kong Federation of
Women Lawyers. Ms Wong is actively
involved in public service. She joined
COSH in 2017 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Legislation Committee.
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Chairman's Report

BEERRAMBEKITA - TEUR ZEGEEBERES
RNE BRABEAEESRIGHEZ[EERE]-

Tobacco control development is like a boat sailing against
the current and it must forge ahead in order not to be driven
back. COSH will rally the efforts of all sectors in the years to
come, to create favourable conditions for achieving “Tobacco
Endgame” in Hong Kong.

EFE BIEBEMHKFE#+
Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP
Chairman
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FEHRE Chairman's Report

Since the enactment of the Smoking (Public Health)
Ordinance in 1982, smoking prevalence of Hong Kong
has been dropping from 23.3% to 10.2% in 2019 and is
one of the lowest in the world. Yet, there has been an
obvious slowdown in falling prevalence of smoking in the
past decade with obstacles behind the work of tobacco
control, of which the tobacco industry exploring new
markets to increase profitability is fuelling concerns.
Tobacco industry not only launches new smoking
products, but also portrays the trendy smoking products
positively to downplay the health risks associated with
smoking so as to lure especially teenagers and non-
smokers into smoking that would pose serious threat to
public health.

In view of the alarming trend in the use of alternative
smoking products (ASPs) may undermine the efforts of
tobacco control in Hong Kong over the years, COSH
took immediate actions to debunk the misleading claims
of ASPs through multiple channels, including a press
conference held by COSH and the academia from The
University of Hong Kong to announce the first evidence
on nearly 50% higher risks of persistent respiratory
symptoms, in adolescent heated tobacco product
(HTP) users than exclusive ever cigarette users, and in
result the use of HTP failed to reduce harms caused
by smoking. With a broad consensus in the community
that to support a total ban on ASPs, COSH submitted
around 120,000 signatures from all sectors including
organizations, corporations and individuals, and
conveyed public aspiration of smoke-free Hong Kong
to the Legislative Council members. Meanwhile, COSH
launched public transport advertising, accepted media
interviews with experts and academia from different
sectors of the society, wrote articles and issued press
releases to elaborate on the vital importance of passing
the Bill and raise the awareness of the harmful effects
of ASPs to the general public. The Smoking (Public
Health) (Amendment) Ordinance 2021 was eventually
passed and gazetted in October 2021, to prohibit the
import, promotion, manufacture, sale or the possession
of ASPs including electronic cigarettes, HTPs and herbal
cigarettes for public health protection.
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The character element of “Wise Mike”, Smoke-free
Ambassador, was incorporated in various publicity
and promotion programmes to introduce the tobacco
hazards and health information about quitting smoking
in an interactive way. Message of “Smoking Harms.
Don’t Smoke at All!” was promoted to discourage
smoking and contain the proliferation of tobacco use.

COSH all along attaches importance to smoke-free
education to deter the children and teenagers from
smoking through a series of recurrent education
programmes in different stages of learning. Apart
from organizing over 100 health talks for “Smoke-free
New Generation” in kindergartens, primary schools
and secondary schools, COSH also launched School
Interactive Education Theatre to dispel misconceptions
on ASPs while enhancing effective and enjoyable
learning among primary school students. Besides, COSH
arranged visits to The University of Hong Kong for
around 200 teenagers who enrolled in the “Smoke-free
Elite Teens Programme”, to acquire medical knowledge
to help smoking patients. They initiated more than 130
innovative activities in schools and community, with an
increase of around 40% compared with the average of
previous years' recorded, reaching over 40,000 people
from all walks of life.

During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, COSH
promoted smoking cessation by doing exercises.
We launched “Smoke-free Sportswear Day” with the
theme of “"Get Set - Go Smoke-free” to call for the
public to wear sportswear and do regular exercises.
The Programme was supported by more than 4,500
citizens and over 160 companies, organizations, non-
governmental organizations, hospitals and schools to
motivate smokers to stay away from tobacco hazards
as soon as possible. Given that running was proved
to relieve unpleasant withdrawal symptoms and
considering the epidemic development, “Smoke-free
Run” was returned again in virtual mode with over 800
smokers and members of the public joined to support
healthy lifestyle.
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FE#HE Chairman's Report

To further enhance supportive environment for smoking
cessation in the community, COSH launched the 12t
"Quit to Win"” Smoke-free Community Campaign.
Following the success of the Campaigns in previous
years, the Campaign was fully supported by the 18
District Councils again. Over 300 staff and volunteers
from 16 district working partners conducted around 60
district-based smoke-free promotion activities across
the territory, together with more than 70 recruitment
sessions organized by COSH, over 1,450 smokers were
recruited to join the Contest hitting a record high.
Smoking cessation counseling service by telephone
interview and referral service to smoking cessation
service providers were offered to the participants, and
also quitters from the previous Contests were invited
to engage in sharing experience as Smoking Cessation
Peer Supporters to walk with participants during the
cessation process.

To boost health promotion in the community, COSH
continued to launch the Smoke-free Women Project
and Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project for
targeting female and elderly smokers. The smoking
prevalence in women has been on the rise in recent
years. Therefore, COSH collaborated closely with
16 women associations and district health centres in
highlighting smoking hazards and reminding women
to say no to all forms of smoking via their membership
network and other promotion channels. Smoke-free
promotional videos were also promoted to support
women to stop smoking. The Project totally reached
over 750,000 citizens. Furthermore, the pandemic was
unable to hinder the progress of COSH’s smoking
cessation promotion among elderlies through health
talks and distribution of promotional materials. About
4,400 elderlies were encouraged to kick the habit
in order to reduce the risk of infection and severe
conditions from COVID-19.
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Dissemination of Smoke-free
Messages via Social Media Platforms

000
118 Reaching GHEDED

>2,500,000-

MR citizens

Considering that members of the public could stay
tuned easily for the updates on COSH'’s work and latest
information related to tobacco control, COSH launched
a brand-new design website after restructuring,
adopting responsive design, digitalizing materials
application and adding sharing functions. The content
of web pages regarding the latest tobacco control
strategies as well as marketing tactics of tobacco
industry were enhanced, to facilitate the public to
keep abreast of the global trend in tobacco control.
In addition, new online Fagerstrom Test of Nicotine
Dependence was included to enable the public to
receive immediate result and smoking cessation advice
for their formulation of quit plan. To bridge the language
barrier, COSH introduced the harms of smoking and
methods of cessation in eight ethnic languages on the
website to encourage ethnic minorities to quit smoking.

COSH also extended the reach of smoke-free
messages by utilizing online platforms and a new
section of tobacco control topics was placed at the
prominent location of the website homepage. Different
tobacco control topics were showcased in an easily
understandable manner through the production of
promotional videos in outlining the challenges ahead
and policy advocacy in Hong Kong. Videos generated
about 570,000 views on video sharing platform and
social media platforms. Facebook pages “Smoke-
free Family”, “Smoking Hazards 2.0” and "Wise Mike"”
Instagram account attracted more than 13,000 followers,
with over 2,500,000 counts of reach. COSH launched
a new Announcement in the Public Interest (API) titled
"Love Yourself and Others. Let's Quit Now!”. “Wise
Mike”, Smoke-free Ambassador, appealed different
age groups of smokers to quit smoking for oneself and
others during stay-at-home. The API was broadcasted
on TV stations, radio channels and online platforms, and
recorded over 1,200,000 views.
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FEHRE Chairman's Report

Following the passage of the Bill, Hong Kong can
capitalize on its advantages to turn a new page of
tobacco control development. COSH considered now
the right time to formulate the forward-looking policies
in tobacco control so as to achieve “Tobacco Endgame”
to eliminate all smoking behaviours in Hong Kong.
Indeed, it is not possible to meet objective at one stroke.
The Government should step up efforts in adopting
multi-pronged strategies to focus on preventing
non-smokers from starting to smoke and providing
unwavering support among heavy smokers and other
smokers for smoking cessation, such as raising tobacco
tax substantially, expanding the statutory no smoking
areas, raising minimum legal age of sales for tobacco
products to 21 years old, reducing attractiveness
and addictiveness of tobacco products. Also, with
the increase in the provision of resources to enhance
smoking cessation service, education and promotion,
enforcement and combating illicit cigarette trade to
be put in place, only in this way can we accelerate the
downward trend in smoking population, with a view to
activating the mechanism of total ban on smoking for a
smoke-free Hong Kong.

The legislation of total ban on ASPs will come into
effect on 30 April 2022. 2022 marks the 40* anniversary
of tobacco control in Hong Kong and also the 35t
anniversary of COSH. | am delighted to witness the
fruitful results rendered by the Council and tobacco
control partners for many years to be implemented.
Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt gratitude to COSH Council
members and the Secretariat staff for their concerted
efforts in putting forward tobacco control development
in Hong Kong. However, it is important for us to note
that tobacco control development is like a boat sailing
against the current, and it must forge ahead in order
not to be driven back. COSH will continue to fulfill our
mission and rally the efforts of all sectors in the years
to come, to create favourable conditions for achieving
"Tobacco Endgame” in Hong Kong, benefitting the
community.
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Notwithstanding Hong Kong as one of the lowest smoking prevalence in the world,
tobacco control has been facing unprecedented challenges posed by the rapid
emergence of alternative smoking products (ASPs) across the globe in recent years. In
order to enhance the public awareness on various forms of tobacco hazards and public
interaction, COSH has been actively promoting smoking cessation and preventing
smoking initiation among young people, with the involvement of “Wise Mike"”, Smoke-
free Ambassador, in different education and publicity programmes. “Wise Mike”
has received wide acclaim for an adorable character design and array of funny facial
expressions since his launch. The community was also impressed with his simple and
explicit catchphrase “Smoking Harms. Don’t Smoke at Alll”
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The Creative Idea of “Wise Mike"

COSH has always recognized the importance of the
education and publicity programmes, and policy
advocacy work. We were concerned on numerous fake
news, misinformation and baseless claims related to the
ASPs circulating in society, which could easily confuse
the public and end up causing disruption in bringing
forward the tobacco control policies. Thus, we must take
decisive action to counter the threat of rumour through
clarifications. COSH created the virtual character of
"Wise Mike" to bust myths around smoking, encourage
the public to make the wise choice - quit and disclose
tobacco industry tactics by using his iconic horn. He also
bears a mission that making progress on a smoke-free
Hong Kong, with an aim to eliminate all smoking hazards
for the sake of public health.

"Wise Mike" is a Cantonese phrase that includes the
meanings of saying no to smoking products as well
as tobacco companies’ deception and duplicity. The
creative team decided on his name carefully in order to
help him integrate into community. The shape feature
of rice, one of the staple foods in Hong Kong families,
was applied in character design to demonstrate a
homophone with the meaning of “No” in Cantonese and
create intimacy. “Wise Mike"” is smart and righteous with
feature of tick-shaped brow. His iconic horn serves to
debunk cunning ploys by tobacco companies. To warn
the public of the tobacco companies’ devious tactics
that would lure them to become long-term smokers due
to nicotine addiction and thereby harm their health, he is
committed to promoting “Smoking harms. Don’t smoke
at alll”. Besides, he was influenced by his father as role
model who quitted smoking successfully, to promote the
benefits of smoke-free lifestyle to people anywhere.
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Health Education as Top Priority

The foremost mission of “Wise Mike” is to deepen
a comprehensive understanding of the risks of ASPs
among the general public, for gaining support to pass
“Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019" (the
Bill) by the Government and Legislative Council. The
Bill was set to prohibit the import, manufacture, sale,
distribution and advertisement of ASPs which would
help curb the ASP epidemic in Hong Kong. COSH
launched the publicity programme titled “Smoking
Harms. Don’t Smoke at Alll” in October 2021 to boost
awareness against tobacco use in community. The
advertisements were displayed on the modes of public
road transports across the territory for one month,
reaching millions of people from all walks of life.
Meanwhile, COSH produced promotional souvenir items
for free distributions at education and publicity events
and activities. They were stationaries and other souvenir
items included cutlery sets, tote bags and water bottles.

New Channel to Extend Reach

With the growing popularity of social media platforms,
citizens are more likely to express and exchange
their views through online channels, thereby, COSH
launched an “Wise Mike" Instagram account. Conveying
information about smoking hazards in humorous ways
with kaleidoscopic images were expected to draw public
attention to this serious topic as well as to strengthen
interactions with the public. Also, "Wise Mike" has been
reaching out to the community by sharing his daily life
stories as an entry point so that people can fully realize
smoke-free culture is closely tied to the daily life in order
to promote public engagement in fostering smoke-free
atmosphere in society.
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Throughout the year, over 100 social media posts
covered a wide range of topics, including smoking
cessation, tobacco hazards, international tobacco
control policies and scientific research achievements.
More than 2,000 follower growth and some 900,000
reach were recorded. The largest demographic of
followers was 18 to 34 years old, where revealed that
positive messages were successfully disseminated
among young people. COSH also invited the public
to interact with the content and share their opinions
in various formats, for example, stories sharing, open-
ended questions and polls, to assist COSH in planning
policy advocacy after understanding people’s different
viewpoints on current tobacco control policies.

Start in Family and School-based
Preventive Education

To combat ASPs infiltrating into schools, COSH
arranged "Wise Mike" to participate in the recurrent
education programme “School Interactive Education
Theatre” for the first time. Being a convener of smoke-
free rangers, he discerned the cunning plans used by
the tobacco companies and found out smoking hazards
in the drama to guide audience to stay away from all
forms of smoking products. After the performance,
"Wise Mike" led teachers and students to chant slogan
“Smoking Harms. Don’t Smoke at All!"” to encourage
students to not smoke from an early age. During the
school year 2021 to 2022, over 95 performances were
delivered and more than 28,000 students and teachers
were reached.
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Given that around 10% of smokers started smoking
cigarette because they were influenced by parents/
other family members shown in Hong Kong survey,
"Wise Mike"” distributed pamphlets with charter
attached to invite students and their family members
to sign it up and design smoking cessation posters
together to stay smoke-free for good. We hoped
smoking family members to set a good example by
getting rid of nicotine dependence as early as possible
so that the kid could grow healthily in smoke-free
environment.

Family and Friends Support as Impetus
to Quit

COSH understands people would find it hard to quit
smoking. The great sources of support from family and
friends throughout the challenging times will actually
contribute to the success of quit attempt, together with
the proper smoking cessation methods. Hence, “Wise
Mike” addressed the importance of good company
riding on World No Tobacco Day to walk with smokers
in quit smoking and encourage the public to participate
in the “Smoke-free Sportswear Day” organized by
COSH. Non-smokers were motivated to assist smokers
in overcoming withdrawal symptoms on their quit
journey amid COVID-19 pandemic by starting exercise
together. During the Programme period, "Wise Mike”
promotional truck and street promotion activities
were arranged to visit different districts. Lemons and
health logs collaterals with some simple and effective
cessations tips were distributed to citizens free of
charge which encouraged smokers to drink lemon
water as a substitute for cigarette while lemon could
be interpreted as refusal for non-smokers to reject any
invitation to smoke. A series of activities under the
Programme attracted up to over 7,500 people and over
160 companies to join.
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ASP Alert to Reach Female

A rebounding smoking rates to 3.2% among female in
2019 is a matter of concern. Some electronic cigarettes
named as “Beauty E-cigarettes” by tobacco companies
in recent years that claimed to be nicotine-free and
contain dietary supplement delivery to the skin while
tobacco products were also available in a wide variety
of flavours on the market. In this connection, the
misleading information tricked female into buying it,
resulting in the upward pressure on female smoking
population. Hence, COSH arranged “Wise Mike"” to
appear in the "Smoke-free Beauties in Town” publicity
event on 23 to 24 October 2021, collaborated with
various women associations on explanatory work
regarding the potential health risks of using smoking
products and the promotion of no safe and healthy
smoking product in the world. On the event days, “Wise
Mike"” received a warm welcome and was invited to take
pictures with a large number of people. Some people
reckoned “"Wise Mike” possesses the decent image
which could facilitate the public engagement in tobacco
control, especially young people.

Running to Boost Willpower for
Smoking Cessation

Many studies proved that running can reduce the urge to
smoke by releasing endorphins. Regular running could
also build up the willpower to prevent relapse and thus
increase chances of quitting. Further to the momentum
created in "Smoke-free Sportswear Day” to encourage
doing exercises during quit attempts, COSH organized
the “Smoke-free Run” in virtual mode. Hong Kong
citizens were encouraged to promote smoking cessation
and enjoy the health benefits of running. “Smoke-free
Buddy” category was facilitated non-smokers joining.
Smokers who felt supported by their friends and
family members would achieve a higher probability of
successful quit.
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Furthermore, Stanley GOT and Virginia LO, long
distance runners filmed two promotional videos with
"Wise Mike"to share a significant role of exercises in
smoke-free life. As a former heavy smoker, Stanley GOT
advised smokers to fight cravings with exercise and start
running as trial in order to improve cardio-pulmonary
function.

Responsibility to Further Promote
Smoke-free Culture

Despite the total ban on all alternative smoking products
passed by an overwhelming majority in the Legislative
Council in October 2021, this won't stop “Wise Mike”
publicity work. In view of ongoing pandemic, "Wise
Mike" launched the latest API titled “Love Yourself and
Others. Let's Quit Now!” to persuade smokers to quit
smoking for the health of oneself and loved ones so
as to reduce the risk of infection from COVID-19. API
was broadcasted on television, radio and social media
platforms and gained over 1,200,000 views, while API
posters were also displayed in the public estates and
estates offices under Hong Kong Housing Authority and

Hong Kong Housing Society.

To combat the tobacco industry’s aggressive and
comprehensive promotional marketing, COSH will
continue to enhance penetration of the public education
through the role of “Wise Mike" to focus on preventing
tobacco use among non-smokers, particularly in children
and teenagers, and boosting quit attempts so as to
further reduce smoking rates and eventually keep Hong
Kong towards the goal of "Tobacco Endgame”.
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Advocacy on a Total Ban on

All Alternative Smoking Products

“Get Set - Go Smoke-free” Publicity
Programme

Kick-off Event of Smoke-free Publicity
Programme for World No Tobacco Day
The 12t “Quit to Win"” Smoke-free
Community Campaign

"First Evidence on Escalating Risks of
Respiratory Symptoms in Adolescent
Heated Tobacco Product Users”

Press Conference

“"Mega Recruitment Days for Smoking
Cessation” Event

"Urges the Legislative Council Members
to Support a Total Ban on All Alternative
Smoking Products” Petition

Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax
Charter on Tobacco Endgame
Smoke-free Run 2022

New API

"Love Yourself and Others. Let's Quit
Now!”

The 12% “Quit to Win" Smoke-free
Community Campaign Prize Presentation
Ceremony
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#HEBBE K #EE Community Involvement and Promotion

. Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
— 4 {8 =d |zt & _
2021/4 -2022/3  [#E/EERGED I518/2021-2022 Project 2021-2022

2021/4 - 2022/3 | % B (F 51 812021-2022 Smoke-free Women Project 2021-2022

2021/10/23-24  [fE « 2WHHIHESHED E\S/re“nc;ke'free Beauties in Town" Publicity

Hong Kong International Dental Expo
and Symposium

2021/12/10 = 12 EEABEBRITIRHEEEM T2

BERBLFED

Education and Youth Programmes

B FEHEEE Youth Education Programmes

Health Talks for “Smoke-free New
Generation”

2021/4 — 2022/3 [ E TR R R AR

2021/8 — 2022/3 [#E/ETeens kBB ET 2] 12021-2022 Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme

2021-2022
B EHHEKEESH School Interactive Education Theatre
202119 = 202203 [ ey pr g | “Smoke-free Rangers”
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BB A K EHE Liaison with Academia and Community

2021/4 — 2022/3

2021/4/19, 9/15
& 11/9
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Conferences

Meetings with Executive Council
Members and Legislative Council
Members

HKU School of Nursing - Nursing
Programmes

HKU Youth Quitline Press Briefing for
Smoking Cessation Research Findings

Pok Oi Hospital Board Meeting

Rotary Club of Hong Kong Sunrise -
Tobacco Control Seminar

Press Conference and Lok Sin Tong
Smoking Cessation Program in
Workplace 2021-2022 Kick-off Ceremony
Meeting with the Federation of

Hong Kong Industries

Smoke-free Visit to District Health
Centre Expresses

The Jockey Club School of Public
Health and Primary Care of The

Chinese University of Hong Kong -

Health Promotion Experience Sharing
Workshop

&% Conferences

2021/9/3 -4

2021/12/6 — 10

FREEAREELERSHE

BB A 5 )IET 212021

The 13t Asia Pacific Conference on
Tobacco or Health

Fellowship Programme on Tobacco
Control 2021
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Advocacy on a Total Ban on
All Alternative Smoking Products

COSH has been firmly advocating the total ban on
alternative smoking products (ASPs) in recent years for
protecting public health. The Chief Executive proposed
the legislation of total ban on ASPs in "The Chief
Executive's 2018 Policy Address”. However, the Smoking
(Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019 (the Bill) had
not been enacted since the first gazette published in
February 2019. COSH spared no effort to enhance public
understanding of harms of ASP use and awareness of
legislation progress through press conference, publicity
and education, scientific research, collaborative
advocacy actions, etc., which ultimately resulted in the
passage of the Bill.

Media Promotions

In order to expedite the legislation progress of the Bill,
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman attended interviews by
wide-ranging media, such as Chinese and English local
newspapers, TV stations, radios, online media from
April to October 2021 to clarify the misunderstandings
of the Bill. He also wrote articles to educate the citizens
about the negative impact of ASP use and encourage
them to share their positive views on total ban on
ASPs. Besides, COSH published over hundred posts to
provide information about exaggerated or false claims
by tobacco companies on social media platforms,
aroused public concern with a reach of more than 800,000
members of the public. In October 2021, COSH launched
a massive promotional campaign on the bodies of
public transportation vehicles, to call on the public and
Legislative Council (LegCo) members to support the Bill.
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"First Evidence on Escalating Risks of Respiratory
Symptoms in Adolescent Heated Tobacco Product
Users” Press Conference

Some opponents of the total ban claimed that ASPs
could help smokers quit or offer them a less harmful
alternative. However, numerous studies proved that
ASPs contain amounts of harmful substances similar
to those of conventional cigarettes or not found in
conventional cigarette smoke which revealed they are
not less harmful. COSH held a press conference on
3 August 2021, together with the academia from The
University of Hong Kong (HKU) to announce the result
of first evidence, which escalating risks of respiratory
symptoms in adolescent heated tobacco product (HTP)
users were found, to urge the LegCo to pass the Bill
promptly for the public health. Speakers included Dr
Daniel HO, Associate Professor, The School of Public
Health, The University of Hong Kong, Dr Kelvin WANG,
Associate Professor, The School of Nursing, The
University of Hong Kong, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman
and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director.

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman said, “The health risks
associated with the use of HTPs have been identified
by global research. Regulating HTPs will lead to more
loopholes being exploited to hinder progress towards
the tobacco endgame goal. To safeguard public health
and avoid rekindling the tobacco epidemic, COSH
strongly urges the LegCo to push ahead with the
implementation of a total ban on all ASPs including HTPs
and electronic cigarettes in the current session.”
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HKU investigated the association between HTP use and
persistent respiratory symptoms in adolescents. Among
adolescents who had never used cigarettes, 88% higher
risk of persistent respiratory symptoms for at least three
months (such as cough, congestion or phlegm, which
are the symptoms of chronic bronchitis) was found in
current HTP users versus never HTP users. Also, the risk
of persistent respiratory symptoms was 46% higher in
exclusive ever HTP users than exclusive ever cigarette
users. The findings showed that HTPs are also harmful and
could not reduce the health risks associated with smoking.
In contrast, it could be more harmful than conventional
cigarettes. The research results had been peer-reviewed
and published in an international medical journal.

Speakers also pointed out at the press conference that
two-thirds of citizens supported a total ban on ASPs
including HTPs and electronic cigarettes, including 40%
of current smokers. In addition, sales regulations can
only be applied to the heat sticks or capsules of HTPs,
but not the devices under the current tobacco control
framework. COSH stressed that a regulatory approach
on HTPs is impractical and difficult for monitoring, in
reference to Japan and Korea that hybrid products of
HTPs and electronic cigarettes are available. Tobacco
companies can invent multifarious smoking products
sneaking into the local market in the name of HTPs.
Meanwhile, the Government will have to pay a higher
cost for regulation.

All forms of smoking are hazardous to health. COSH
strongly advocated the LegCo to take a pragmatic
approach in passing the Bill immediately to enact the
total ban on ASPs. COSH also urged the Government
to strengthen tobacco control measures on all fronts to
reduce the smoking prevalence to 5% or below as soon
as possible for a tobacco endgame in Hong Kong.
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Concerted Efforts to Take Forward the Legislative
Process

During the legislative process, COSH sent written
submissions to the Bill Committee of LegCo on frequent
occasions, in order to reiterate the standpoint and
grounds of total ban on ASPs, substantiate with scientific
findings and global health authorities’ recommendations,
facilitate their understanding toward the harms related
to ASP use and international regulatory situation, which
helped debunk the misleading claims from tobacco
industry and its advertisement and urge for the prompt
passage of the Bill.

To curb tobacco epidemic in form of ASPs, together
with 70 organizations across various sectors, including
medical associations, tobacco control groups, academia,
patient groups and social service organizations, COSH
sent an open letter to the Chief Executive on 30 August
2021 to appeal for government’s firm stance to the
total ban on all ASPs and not accepting the proposed
amendment of the Bill of banning only electronic
cigarettes while regulating HTPs. Strong aspiration from
the society called for the rejection of the proposed
amendment and the prompt enactment of the Bill to
avoid HTPs being disruption in the law and allowing the
emergence of new forms of smoking products in local
market.

On the other hand, COSH also met with Executive
Council members, different parties and independent
LegCo members, and community leaders in lobbying
their support, discuss tobacco control topics and
bring public views regarding the aspiration of the Bill.
Representatives from medical associations, tobacco
control groups, community service organizations,
education and parent groups, etc. were invited to join
the various forms of exchanges and work meetings to
illustrate their rationales and foster the strong social
consensus to the ban of ASPs.
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"Urges the LegCo Members to Support a Total Ban
on All ASPs” Petition

Second Reading debate of the Bill continued in the
LegCo. Henry TONG, COSH Chairman and Dr Johnnie
CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman joined a petition with Prof
LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine
& Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School
of Public Health, HKU on 21 October 2021, to submit a
total of around 120,000 signatures from all walks of life
including organizations, corporations and individuals to
the LegCo. LegCo members of different parties received
the petition letters. COSH urged the LegCo to pass the
Bill expediently in 2020-2021 and oppose the proposed
amendments of LegCo members on the exemptions
of ASPs for transhipment cargos as well as import for
product development purpose.

COSH expressed concern over any exemption granting
to ASPs for transhipment cargos which will exploit
loopholes for illicit trade. Hence, it was necessary to
curb any inflow of all forms of ASPs in Hong Kong.
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman remarked, "COSH urges
the LegCo to oppose the proposed amendments. Any
exemption will allow offenders to exploit the loopholes
and unidentified sources of ASPs to enter the Hong
Kong market, which pose serious health threat to the
general public.”

Through the concerted efforts and support from various
sectors, the Bill was eventually passed on 21 October
2021, after three-year discussion and examination, to
prohibit the import, promotion, manufacture, sale or
possession of ASPs for commercial purposes, including
electronic cigarettes, HTPs and herbal cigarettes. COSH
welcomed the legislation of the total ban on ASPs
will come into effect since 30 April 2022 for greater
protection to the public health. COSH, together with
all sectors of community, would continue to remind the
public not to purchase ASPs from any channels, publicize
the hazards of tobacco use and promote smoking
cessation in the publicity and education programmes.
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"Get Set - Go Smoke-free”
Publicity Programme

World Health Organization (WHQO) designates 31 May
as World No Tobacco Day every year with the aim to
raise public awareness on smoking hazards around the
world. To echo with the theme “Commit to Quit” set by
WHO in 2021, COSH launched “Get Set - Go Smoke-
free” Publicity Programme and appealed public support
for “Smoke-free Sportswear Day” on 31 May 2021 by
wearing sportswear with regular exercise to stay healthy
and combat the COVID-19 pandemic. In particular,
smokers were motivated to take exercise as an aid for
smoking cessation.

Kick-off Event

COSH, in collaboration with Commercial Radio (CR),
organized a kick-off event on 31 May 2021. Officiating
guests included Dr Constance CHAN, Director of
Health, Prof Gilberto LEUNG, President of Hong Kong
Academy of Medicine, Dr Libby LEE, Director (Strategy
and Planning), Hospital Authority, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman,
and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director. Prof Sophia
CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health expressed her
support to the”Smoke-free Sportswear Day” via a pre-
recorded video speech at the kick-off event and the
video was further uploaded to her social media platform
for sharing. "Wise Mike"”, Smoke-free Ambassador, also

made his first public appearance at the event.
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Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewell Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong and a junior rope skipping team “Jump to Infinity”
inspired the smoking audience to do simple exercise
in various settings through demonstrations, such as at
home or in office. Singers Vincy CHAN and Andy LEUNG
together with the champion and first runner-up of the
11t "Quit to Win" Contest, Roy YU and WONG Tsz-tung,
spread the smoke-free messages and shared quit tips in
the game session.

Smoke-free Sportswear Day

To draw public attention to the World No Tobacco Day,
over 160 companies, non-governmental organizations,
hospitals, schools and organizations joined the smoke-
free publicity programme as supporting organizations
to encourage their employees and stakeholders to
echo the event by wearing sportswear and doing
exercise. Some organizations promoted the Programme
via website, online platforms and intranet, and set
up promotion booths to distribute fresh lemons for
fighting cravings. During May to June 2021, the top five
supporting organizations with the highest number of
participants joining “Smoke-free Sportswear Day” were
awarded the “"The Most Active Participation Award”.
"The Most Energetic Supporting Organization” and
"The Most Creative Supporting Organization” were
newly introduced in recognizing the unfailing support
of two supporting organizations in promoting the
Programme in energetic and creative ways. Over 4,500
people joined and motivated their smoking family

members and friends to refrain from smoking.
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Radio Appeals

COSH also produced and broadcasted six radio appeals
in collaboration with CR to promote using exercise to
reduce the urge to smoke, share cessation methods
and benefits for healthy life. The appeals were recorded
by Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food and Health,
Dr Constance CHAN, Director of Health, Henry TONG,
COSH Chairman as well as Artist Alex FONG, DJs
Donald TONG and Jim YAN.

Flash Mob Roadshows and Promotional Truck
Promotion

Smoke-free flash mob roadshows across the territory
with higher pedestrian traffic were organized in June
2021 to strengthen social cohesion in promoting
smoking cessation. Over 3,000 members of the public
received free fresh lemons and health logs of which
provided smokers with tips to cope with withdrawal
symptoms during cessation and empowered the public
to give smokers encouragement in kicking the habit.
COSH also arranged a promotional truck to disseminate
health information. Smoke-free videos were featured at
the truck promotion to spread the message of “Smoking
Harms. Don’t Smoke at Alll" as well as to introduce
"Wise Mike”, Smoke-free Ambassador to the public.

Smoke-free WhatsApp & Signal Stickers

A set of smoke-free WhatsApp and Signal stickers
featuring the Smoke-free Ambassador, Wise Mike was
created for the public to disseminate the importance of
healthy lifestyle and share among families and friends
through daily mobile or online chit-chat.
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Activity Website: www.smokefree.hk/exercise
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The 12t “Quit to Win” Smoke-free
Community Campaign

To provide smokers an alternative platform in the
community, in addition to cessation clinics, COSH has
been organizing the “Quit to Win"” Contest since 2009
to motivate and assist smokers to quit smoking. The
Contest recruits over 1,000 smokers to kick the habit
every year.

Since 2012, COSH has launched the “Quit to Win"
Smoke-free Community Campaign to enhance the
effectiveness of the Campaign by developing ties with
local communities to create positive social environment
for smoking cessation and increase public awareness
on tobacco control. With the support from District
Councils, district working partners, trade associations
and organizations from different sectors over the years,
members of the public better understood benefits
of quitting through a series of district-based smoke-
free promotion activities, media promotion, smoking
cessation counseling and scientific research.

The 12™ "Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign gained the unfailing support from 18 District
Councils and 16 district working partners together with
more than 50 organizations, including government
departments, smoking cessation service providers,
district health centres, trade associations and companies
from catering, construction, transportation and housing
management industry. All parties joined hands to
disseminate smoke-free messages in different sectors of
society.

Smoking Cessation Counseling Trainings

COSH collaborated with the School of Nursing and
School of Public Health of The University of Hong
Kong (HKU) to conduct Smoking Cessation Counseling
Trainings in hybrid mode on 10 and 17 June 2021, which
attracted about 90 volunteers, staff members from
district working partners, supporting organizations and
district health centres as well as university students to
attend.
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Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor
of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor
in Public Health, School of Public Health, The University
of Hong Kong, Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor,
The School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong,
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director, Lawrence
CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager, Dr Kevin LUK,
Research Assistant Professor, The School of Nursing,
The University of Hong Kong and CHIN Fung, Smoking
Cessation Research Team, The School of Nursing, The
University of Hong Kong. The second runner-up of the
11t "Quit to Win" Contest, LEE Ming-tat was also invited
to share his successful quit story. Details of the “Quit
to Win” Smoke-free Community Campaign, hazards of
smoking, secondhand and third-hand smoke, tobacco
control in Hong Kong, smoking cessation counseling
skills, motivational interviewing, positive psychology and
case studies were introduced in trainings.

Besides, 25 successful quitters and winners of the
previous "Quit to Win” Contests were invited to be
Smoking Cessation Peer Supporters to share their
quit tips and experience with participants via instant
messaging during the cessation process. To assist
participants in quit journey with enhanced smoking
cessation counseling skills, an online briefing and
training workshop was conducted on 10 June 2021 to
equip them with knowledge of positive psychology,
withdrawal symptoms and methods to tackle smoking

cravings.
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District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion
Activities
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EATREBEEEEZER - recruitment sessions across 18 districts. Some 30,000
members of public received smoke-free messages.
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"Quit to Win"” District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

HHiDate # EDistrict #h ZtVenue
25 2RES

AL Kwai Tsing Kwai Chung Plaza
2 R R

2021/6/13 Tsuen Wan Citywalk
BT BRI O

2021/6/19 Wan Chai Exit of Causeway Bay MTR Station
=AU AL

2021/6/19 Wong Tai Sin Temple Mall
W H P B H A

AV Sha Tin Exit of Sha Tin MTR Station

2021/6/20 TTEA TURAA S B IR 8
Yuen Long Castle Peak Road and Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long

2021/6/26 B BEARENREES
Kwun Tong Hoi Yuen Road and Hing Yip Street, Kwun Tong
mE

2021/6/26 Sai Kung TKO Spot
RE ERES

AR Eastern Oi Tung Shopping Centre
KI R EEH

2021/6/27 Tai Po Heung Sze Wui Street, Tai Po
JUBEBI e LRRYR S O

2021/6/30 Kowloon City Exit of Kowloon Tong MTR Station
JH SR SWEENE

20217773 Yau Tsim Mong Haiphong Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
JCEA +WOO%=#

AV Yuen Long +WOO

2021/7/4 JHSSAE B AT AR VL O
Yau Tsim Mong Exit of Mong Kok East MTR Station
TURA BRFES

ALV Yuen Long Long Ping Commercial Centre
IRIKES BB AL O

20217776 Sham Shui Po Exit of Lai Chi Kok MTR Station
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HHiDate

2021/7/10
2021/7/10
2021/7/11
2021/7/11
2021/7/15
2021/7/17
2021/7/17
2021/7/18
2021/7/18
2021/7/23
2021/7/24
2021/7/24—25
2021/7/25
2021/7/30
2021/7/31
2021/7/31
2021/8/1
2021/8/1
2021/8/5
2021/8/7

2021/8/7

#h EDistrict
2]

Southern

]

Tuen Mun

JURES

Kowloon City

A S

Yau Tsim Mong

B

Kwun Tong

@

Eastern

Y

Sha Tin

%5

Kwai Tsing

b=

North

A&

Central & Western

=]

Sai Kung

K@

Eastern

B

Kwun Tong

%5

Kwai Tsing

R

Tai Po

&AL

Wong Tai Sin

JHSREE

Yau Tsim Mong

TCRA

Yuen Long

RE®

Eastern
R

Kowloon City

]

Tuen Mun

2 Venue

ERfEES

Nam Ning Street, Aberdeen
RRES

Leung King Plaza

SRR ATRT2E 3B

Nga Tsin Long Road, Kowloon City
EBB Mt

Parkes Street, Jordan
MEEmEFRL

Nan Fung Commercial Centre
BEBRAL

Main Street East, Shau Kei Wan
BER5

Hin Keng Shopping Centre
R¥ERES

Cheung Fat Plaza

YERS

Choi Yuen Plaza

FERXEERE

Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan
TKO Gateway

BI6ES

Kornhill Plaza

HERS

Yau Lai Shopping Centre
ZEHERERP O

Kwai Tsing District Health Centre
AR RIE L O

Exit of Tai Po Market MTR Station
AR EILRH A

Exit of Lok Fu MTR Station
AP

Argyle Centre

VST EA M T P

Exit of Yuen Long MTR Station
FEES EOR UL H A

Exit of Quarry Bay MTR Station
M X HE%

Homantin Plaza

EPIAEE = B MR R BE

Heung Sze Wui Road and Pui To Road, Tuen Mun



HHiDate

2021/8/8

2021/8/14

2021/8/14

2021/8/15

2021/8/15

2021/8/16

2021/8/19

2021/8/19

2021/8/20

2021/8/21

2021/8/21

2021/8/22

2021/8/22

2021/8/25

2021/8/28 —29

2021/9/4

2021/9/5

2021/9/6

2021/9/11—=12

2021/9/18

2021/9/19

# EDistrict
i

Eastern
JLBEY
Kowloon City
ib[&

North

K
Sham Shui Po

R

Tai Po

BE

Kwun Tong
25

Kwai Tsing
e

Kwai Tsing
SEKE

Sham Shui Po
s

Sha Tin
RIS
Sham Shui Po
BES
Islands
=AU
Wong Tai Sin
i

Wan Chai
mEe

Sai Kung
TURA

Yuen Long
BES
Islands
SEKE

Sham Shui Po
1T

Wan Chai
=AU
Wong Tai Sin
i

Tsuen Wan

SEB) Events

B Venue

ERES

Oi Tung Shopping Centre

+ &4 F

Pat Tai Street, To Kwa Wan

B S8 H P

Exit of Fanling MTR Station
BEEFUH A

Exit of Mei Foo MTR Station

RI 2 RS B A B

On Chee Road and On Cheung Road,
Tai Po

BIFRE 5 0

International Trade Tower
BB E BT O

China Merchants Logistics Centre
ZRES

Kwai Chung Plaza

R EDHURES O

DHL Service Point, Cheung Sha Wan
B D B vh H A

Exit of Sha Tin MTR Station
L

Nam Cheong Place

RORERE

Mei Tung Street, Tung Chung
o REE RERE

King Fuk Street and Shung Ling Street, San Po Kong
i 7B |

Jardine's Bazaar, Causeway Bay
AL L

Metro City Plaza

T Town

RRES

Yat Tung Shopping Centre
IRIKED Hh 8 B2 P L

Sham Shui Po District Health Centre
R E 5

Times Square

VEHS

Choi Wan Commercial Complex

A T mP

TETEEH
On Wing Street, Tsuen Wan
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HHiDate i EDistrict
]
2021/9/25 Southern
N
2021/9/26 Yau Tsim Mong
e
2021/9/30 Central & Western
N |
2021/10/2 Tai Po
it&
2021/10/3 North
B =i
2021/10/16=17 2 wan
2021/10/21 R
Kwun Tong
2021/10/23—24 R
Kwun Tong
HEE
2021/10/29 Central & Western
P9
2021/10/31 Tuen Mun

HESHFEBERESEED

RRFHENE  ZRESRETRMEN TS
FAMBBL2EERTE  KRRESE300%
KE16EmEAIERHFMBE RET - £
BGOSR IESHEARE - REMRBKNE
Z BEENERXRTREBEFREAE  BE
RE  BEAEAMERS BLE®EH M
BYANE B - S%ERE - B RIMNR
SE%  ZESNNEEEMIETEELE
B JTE - ATEIR SR BB ARUE o

#h ZtVenue

B EEE

Nam Ning Street, Aberdeen

BT AL

Argyle Centre

ERNEES

Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan
KHAES

Tai Wo Plaza

A8 oKk B

Exit of Sheung Shui MTR Station
ZETR M

Citywalk
NEEREEZRSRBEFH L

CIC Service Centre, Kowloon Bay
R

Yue Man Square

FIRERANEF

Queen's Road Central, Central
BRI E= R

Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen Mun

Community Partnership and District-based Smoke-
free Promotion Activities

To solicit the support for smoking cessation in the
community, COSH invited various sectors to participate in
promotion activities, which ultimately gained the support
of over 300 staff and volunteers from 16 district working
partners to conduct nearly 60 smoke-free promotion
activities. With leveraging the districts network, over 120,000
citizens received the up-to-date tobacco control information
and ways of being smoke-free via health talks, smoke-free
exhibition, sticker design for instant messaging apps, online
promotion activities, microfilm production, bus parade,
music performance, roadshows and outreach promotion.

sl Begae ,
~wmezgxe, 1
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#hE & EB £ District Working Partners

R

Central & Western

BES

Islands
JUBEL
Kowloon City
%E

Kwai Tsing
BE

Kwun Tong

gl
North

e
Sai Kung

Y H
Sha Tin

R
Sham Shui Po

3]

Southern

B

Tuen Mun

7

Wan Chai
=AU

Wong Tai Sin
JHRAE

Yau Tsim Mong
TCRA

Yuen Long

FETARGLE

Hong Kong Central & Western District Women's Association
BESEBARAA

Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association Limited

NEEREE

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

BiETE

Health in Action

LIt EE ST GIREE

Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services

R BT EES e ESTFEM

The Hongkong Federation of Youth Groups Jockey Club Cheung Wah Youth SPOT
HEHEEHSEEA EESMERERERDP L

Haven of Hope Christian Service

Haven of Hope Bradbury King Lam Community Health Development Centre

BEEFTLFRBEFBRLEDFINERLE THEK
Hong Kong Children and Youth Services
Ma On Shan Youth Outreaching Social Work Team

Rt EESRKIHLE R E

Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
BEERFELE

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association
MEREZEZHEARLA

Southern District Healthy and Safe Association Limited
HEEEBRZRAGURGEAFTLFRBEH L

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of Seventh-day Adventists
BT E

Methodist Centre

FRERGEANIRESERBEH O

HKSKH Wong Tai Sin District Elderly Community Centre
HEBHEH A T =L BERS

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
EEEFHEHKEETFEM

The Hongkong Federation of Youth Groups Hung Shui Kiu Youth SPOT
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“Mega Recruitment Days for Smoking Cessation” Event

In order to motivate smokers to actively seek assistance
from smoking cessation services for maximizing chance
of quitting, COSH, together with seven smoking
cessation service providers including Hospital Authority,
Pok Oi Hospital, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
Integrated Centre on Smoking Cessation, United
Christian Nethersole Community Health Service, Youth
Quitline, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The Lok Sin
Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon and The School of
Nursing, HKU, organized the “Mega Recruitment Days
for Smoking Cessation” event on 16 to 17 October 2021
to provide one-stop smoking counseling assistance to
smokers in need and encourage them to join the “Quit
to Win" Contest.

Booths for onsite registration and preliminary cessation
consultation, smoke-free exhibition, photo wall zone
and digital interactive game were set up to disseminate
smoke-free messages to the general public. Over 3,400
participants joined and took pictures in photo wall zone.
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman supported the event,
shared the experience in field of tobacco control with
the smoking cessation service provider representatives,
and called for support for the creation of smoke-free

environment.
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"Quit to Win” Contest

The 12t “Quit to Win" Contest recruited over 1,450
smokers to kick the habit through onsite and online
registration. Eligible participants received brief smoking
cessation advice from HKU’s smoking cessation
counselors at the recruitment sessions, telephone
follow-up at one month, two months, three months and
six months as well as regular instant messages from quit
assistance including positive psychology practice, to
overcome challenges when quitting tobacco. Smoking
Cessation Peer Supporters sending quit information
through instant messaging software was regarded as
smoking cessation intervention to help participants
reaffirm the wills to quit.

Also, some participants were referred to their preferred
smoking cessation service providers to increase their
success rate. Participants who quitted successfully
were invited to undertake a biochemical validation at
3-month follow-up. Validated quitters were eligible to
join the lucky draw or invited to the Smoking Cessation
Ambassador interview to win fabulous prizes.

COSH continued to collaborate with Correctional
Services Department and extended the “Quit to Win”
Contest to Lo Wu Correctional Institution, Pik Uk Prison,
Stanley Prison and Tong Fuk Correctional Institution. A
total of 45 smoking inmates were motivated to join the
Contest and received tailor-made smoking cessation
counseling and follow-up.

The School of Nursing and School of Public Health
of HKU conducted a research study to evaluate the
effectiveness of the smoking cessation intervention as
well as the Campaign to further understand the needs of
quitters. According to the preliminary results, the self-
reported quit rate was 19.3% and 20.5% at 3-month and
6-month follow-up respectively.
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Media and Online Promotions

To strengthen the promotion, COSH collaborated with
FHproduction to produce two promotional videos in
form of reality featuring the health effects of smoking,
in order to urge smokers to kick the habit for good
as soon as possible. Three social media influencers
demonstrated their quitting journeys in videos and
walked with other participants of the Contest to
overcome cravings together. Their followers were also
invited to leave cheering messages and input some
quitting tricks on their social media platform. The videos
recorded over 300,000 views on various online and social
media platforms and had been well received by the
public.

Moreover, every winners of the Contest share their quit
tips in different events and media interviews to inspire
more smokers to regain smoke-free lifestyle. A prize
presentation event of the 12 “Quit to Win" Contest
was conducted to award the winners on 17 March 2022.
Honourable guests included Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate
Professor, The School of Nursing, The University of Hong
Kong, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman and Vienna LA,
COSH Executive Director. The event highlight video and
sharing of the winners were broadcasted on TVB Jade
during the programme “Scoop”, its online video channel

and other social media platforms, which generated over
360,000 views.
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Winners of the 12%* “Quit to Win"” Contest

The Champion, CHOI Kwok-wai is an artist who had
smoked for over 20 years. He was tempted by colleagues
to light up his first cigarette at 22 years old. Smoking
is common during the break of filming, and hence he
got addicted with consumption of a pack of cigarettes
daily since then. He understood the fact that smokers
are at high risk of coronavirus infection and being fined
for taking off the mask and smoke. He started to think
that it was unwise to continue to smoke which imposed
himself to health risks and burden of living. Therefore,
he determined to abstain from smoking during the
COVID-19 pandemic.

At first, Mr Choi mistakenly used heated tobacco
products (HTPs) to divert attention. However, he found
that HTPs also posed health problems like sore throat,
difficult breathing, cough, etc. He stopped using HTPs
immediately and adopted proper methods to quit. He
also used the Tangle, a sensory fingertip tool, provided
by the Contest to ease tension and got over the urge
of smoking. Finally, Mr Choi successfully overcame
insomnia and other withdrawal symptoms after three
weeks. Having quitted smoking, he regained fresh
breath, better taste and smell. He was pleased that his
smoking colleagues showed support to him. He was
ecstatic to share his quit experience with friends and

motivate others to quit.
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www.quittowin.hk

First runner-up, HUNG Wing-kin became an occasional
smoker in gathering with friends. He perceived
that quitting was not necessary since his cigarette
consumption was not heavy. Introduced by friends
and worried about post-graduation employment, he
started to use electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) two
years ago and turned into a frequent user. He described
e-cigarettes as “Sugar-coated Poison” with novel
design, diverse flavors, handy and convenient device.
It made him quickly addicted and he had to consume
e-cigarettes with nicotine as much as two to three packs
of conventional cigarettes. E-cigarette intake made
him suffered more frequent asthma and coughing,
which embarrassed him during the COVID-19 pandemic
and worried about the health condition. After quitting
smoking, he became healthier and felt more energetic
with smooth breath. He had no sore throat and coughing
because of irritation of e-cigarettes.

Second runner-up, WAI San-yuen had smoked for 15
years. As a trading and logistics practitioner, he used
to smoke with colleagues at rest for refreshment during
the overnight shift duty. He had been a dual user
of e-cigarette and conventional cigarettes because
e-cigarette is convenient and cheaper to use. However,
he always had headaches in the half year time of
e-cigarette use and therefore returned to an exclusive
cigarette smoker. He misunderstood that only smoked
in kitchen at home would not cause secondhand and
third-hand smoke hazards to family members. His
wife complained about his smoking behaviour and
did not allow him to have intimate contact with their
son. To build a smoke-free environment for his son,
he eventually determined to quit. Through the referral
from the Contest, he received appropriate methods and
family support, thereby quitted successfully. Without
smoking, Mr Wai has no more hesitation in hugging his
son and no more quarrels with his wife. He was delighted
that his family relationship became more harmonious,
and developed running habit after adopting a smoke-
free life. He also shared his experience and successfully
motivated colleagues to give up smoking together.

Campaign Website: www.quittowin.hk
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Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

World Health Organization (WHOQO) indicates that
raising tobacco tax is the single most effective tobacco
control measure. WHO also recommends countries and
territories to increase tobacco tax to 75% or above of
the retail price of tobacco products. Subsequently, a
manual was launched by the WHO on 12 April 2021 to
underline tobacco tax increment is key to improve public
health and increase government revenues, especially in
the COVID-19 pandemic. This measure not only involves
relatively low cost but also significantly reduces tobacco
use and the economic burden associated with smoking.
Furthermore, the study from Asian Development Bank
concluded that raising tobacco tax is a pro-poor measure
that could bring more health and financial benefits to
poorer smokers.

Across the world, about 30 countries introduced an
automatic mechanism on raising tobacco tax. In contrast,
the tobacco tax of the major cigarette brand in Hong
Kong remained at HK$38 per cigarette pack since 2014,
which accounts for only around 63% of the retail price
and far below the WHQO's recommendation. It is worth
noting there was no significant adjustment of tobacco tax
rate in Hong Kong over the past decade. Meanwhile, local
Consumer Price Index has been cumulatively increased by
28.4%, which eroded the effectiveness of tobacco tax in
motivating smokers to quit.

According to COSH's Tobacco Control Policy-related
Survey 2021, the majority of respondents (72.9%)
supported raising tobacco tax regularly. 66.7% of current
smokers suggested that the cigarette retail price should
be set at a median price of HK$100 and a mean price of
HK$115.5 per pack to effectively motivate them to quit
or reduce the daily cigarette consumption by at least
half (retail price in 2021 is HK$60.). (For details of survey
results, please refer to page 92.)
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COSH sent an open letter in co-signatory with 94
organizations to the Financial Secretary in December 2021,
to urge the Government to raise tobacco tax substantially
in FY2022-2023 as well as set up a mechanism of an annual
increment, to further reduce smoking prevalence. COSH
also advocated the Government to formulate the total
ban on smoking with a defined timeline and strengthen
the multi-pronged tobacco control measures, including
education and publicity, legislation, smoking cessation
services and enforcement to protect public health. Henry
TONG, COSH Chairman accepted media interviews
from radios and online media to explain Hong Kong had
huge capacity for tobacco tax increment in preventing
youngsters from lighting up cigarettes and boosting
smoking cessation.

Besides, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman, attended the
2022-2023 Budget consultation session for the healthcare,
medical and Chinese medicine sector on 28 December
2021. He illustrated the rationales of raising tobacco tax
and recommended allocating the revenue from tobacco
tax to beneficial social measures in the field of smoking
cessation, health promotion, primary care development
and poverty relief for the sake of the community, with
the Financial Secretary and participating medical
professionals.

COSH expressed strong disappointment that the
tobacco tax was frozen again in FY2022-2023 for eight
consecutive years. But relevant media coverage aroused
public awareness on this issue.
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Charter on Tobacco Endgame

Tobacco Endgame refers to the process of ending the
tobacco epidemic by strengthening tobacco control to
reduce smoking prevalence to a very low level (usually
5% or less) by a target date, and then initiating a total
ban on smoking. In 2019, the smoking prevalence in
Hong Kong was 10.2%, which possesses the condition to
achieve Tobacco Endgame with the existing strengths
of tobacco control development. According to Tobacco
Control Policy-related Survey 2020 conducted by COSH,
two-thirds of respondents supported a total ban on
tobacco sale or on tobacco use in Hong Kong. People
were full of hope for the future of zero smoking hazards
environment.

From January to March 2022, COSH, together with over
190 elite representatives from various sectors of the
community, including tobacco control, academia, medical,
etc., introduced the Charter on Tobacco Endgame to
jointly advocate the Government to formulate a blueprint
for Tobacco Endgame and strengthen comprehensive
tobacco control measures so as to achieve a smoke-free
Hong Kong.

The recommendations on tobacco control measures in
the Charter included:

Tobacco tax increase

Expansion of statutory no smoking areas

Ban on tobacco product display at point-of-sale
Plain packaging

Raising legal age of tobacco purchase

ok wh =

Reducing attractiveness and addictiveness of

tobacco products

License of tobacco sale

8. Legal onus of venue manager for smoking offenses

9. Tightening enforcement

10. More resources for smoke-free education and
smoking cessation

11. Preventing tobacco industry’s interference
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Smoke-free Run 2022

Studies found that running could help smokers quit
smoking and reduce smoking. “Smoke-free Run” in 2019
concluded with positive response. To follow the success,
COSH organized the “Smoke-free Run” in 2022 again
and came to virtual race. The Event aimed to motivate
smokers to abstain from smoking through doing exercises
and encourage the public to enjoy the benefits of running
led by “"Wise Mike", the Smoke-free Ambassador, so as to
improve cardiopulmonary function for healthy lifestyle.
Around 60 organizations and smoking cessation service
providers supported the Event by encouraging their
stakeholders to join the races and promoting smoke-free
culture.

Promotional Videos

To promote running as a quit trial among smokers,
COSH invited long distance runners Stanley GOT and
Virginia LO to participate in the promotional videos
and video interviews. Through their running experience
sharing in videos, members of the public can understand
the benefits of doing exercises. Stanley GOT had been
a die-hard smoker for 35 years and decided to quit
for health at 50 years old through running. Finally, he
quitted successfully and has become a regular runner,
and finished various international long distance races.
He shared his quit-smoking journey in the videos
and media interviews to express racing can keep him
motivated in life, so as to build perseverance to support
smoking cessation. Virginia LO also disclosed to the
public that running was the activity to relieve stress
which could help her tackle difficulties during her road to
becoming a champion. She also appealed to the public
to alleviate pressure in proper way and pointed out that
persistence was the key to success for both kicking the
habit and running. The videos were uploaded to video
sharing platform and social media platforms.
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Online Training Workshops

COSH organized four sessions of online training workshops
on 27 and 30 March 2022 for individuals and families.
Crystal VUT, a long distance runner and WONG Ho-chung,
a trail runner, were invited to provide professional advices
on running posture and other techniques, and explain how
to enhance quit rates through physical activity as well as
to recommend parents to take exercise with child at home
so as to strengthen a parent-child relationship. Some 800

participants joined online to get prepared for the “Smoke-

free Run”.
gy i) .

2 - —
oke:free) Virtual|Run; f,fi:.

Smoke-free Virtual Run

The Event was organized in virtual mode for the first
time to allow more flexibility for participants to choose
their own route and time to complete the race. The
virtual running race was divided into different categories
according to distances (10KM and 3KM) for Individual,
Corporate Team, School Team, Smoke-free Buddy Team
and Smoke-free Family Team, of which Smoke-free
Buddy Team, comprising at least one of the smoking
team members or current quitter, encouraged family and
friends to run with smokers or quitters and support them
to kick the habit. The Smoke-free Family Team aimed
to enhance parent-child participation so as to inspire
smokers to quit for the sake of our next generation’s
health from secondhand smoke. Over 800 runners joined
and they were required to record their activities by mobile
application and upload to event website, as well as to
complete different challenges during the race to win
various prizes.
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New AP| “Love Yourself and Others.
Let's Quit Now!”

COSH produces Announcements in the Public Interest
(APIs) regularly to address smoking hazards as an issue
of concern. The COVID-19 pandemic situation remained
rampant in Hong Kong. Smoking can deteriorate
respiratory and lung function and increase the risk of
complications and death in COVID-19 patients. Hence,
COSH launched the new API titled “Love Yourself and
Others. Let's Quit Now!"” to motivate smokers to quit for
the health of themselves and family as well as to reduce
the risks of severe COVID-19 symptoms and smoking-
related diseases.

The APl depicts the harms of smoking to the health
of pets, children, couples and smokers, and advises
smokers to stop smoking for oneself and others during
stay-at-home. "Wise Mike"”, Smoke-free Ambassador,
reminded the public in the APl that conventional
cigarettes, waterpipe tobacco, heated tobacco,
electronic cigarettes and herbal cigarettes are all
hazardous. Smokers were also encouraged to uphold
their determination and take up healthy habits, so as to
enhance the chance to quit successfully.
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Community Involvement and Promotion
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
Project 2021-2022

According to the cohort study on smoking and mortality
of elderly in Hong Kong published by The University of
Hong Kong, the risk of smoking-attributed death will
be reduced after quitting compared with smokers while
the risks of all-causes (deaths from any causes), lung
cancer and cardiovascular disease mortality in elderly
quitters were significantly reduced by 28%, 53% and
27% respectively, indicating the importance of smoking
cessation to the health of elderlies.

COSH organized the Elderly Smoking Cessation
Promotion Project, in collaboration with elderly
organizations from April 2021 to March 2022. About 30
sessions of health talks were conducted while smoke-
free messages were promoted through a lively and
interesting approach to some 900 elderlies. The health
talks were delivered in the formats of face-to-face,
online live streaming or pre-recorded versions, which
conveyed the common misconceptions about smoking
and cessation, benefits and methods of quitting smoking.
Latest information that smoking would increase the risk
of COVID-19 infection and severity was also included in
the health talk to advise the elderlies and their family
members to refrain from smoking for maintaining mental
and physical health during the pandemic.

To enhance elderlies’ awareness on smoking hazards
and promote smoking cessation, COSH also mobilized
district organizations, such as elderly centers and elderly
service organizations, to distribute tailor-made smoke-
free materials and leaflets among some 3,500 elderlies.
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Smoke-free Women Project 2021-2022

Although the female smoking prevalence in Hong Kong
was 3.2% in 2019 that has been far lower than that of
male smokers, it maintained almost the same level in
the past decades. A particular concern was the nearly
20% rise in the number of female smokers compared
with 2017. In view of this situation, COSH initiated the
Smoke-free Women Project to empower the public to
encourage female smokers to quit as well as to prevent
them from picking up the habit. In 2021-2022, the
Project received support from 16 women organizations
and district health centres to disseminate smoke-free
messages via their networks.

“Smoke-free Beauties in Town"” Publicity Event

COSH organized a publicity event “Smoke-free Beauties
in Town"” on 23 to 24 October 2021, encompassed
exhibition panels display, digital interactive game,
health check, etc., to educate members of the public
about impact of female smoking and clarifications of
smoking myths as well as to provide smoking cessation
assistance. The two-day event was highly supported
by volunteers from various women associations such
as Fragrant Women Association, Hiu Lai Women's
Association, Hong Kong Women Development
Association Limited, Hong Kong Outlying Islands
Women's Association Limited and Po Tat Women's
Association, and concluded with about 3,000 citizens
received smoke-free messages. Prof Sophia CHAN,
Secretary for Food and Health and Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman also showed their support and boosted
morale of female smokers to quit by attending the event
respectively. "Wise Mike"”, the Smoke-free Ambassador
of COSH appeared in the event as well to remind
the public that all smoking products are harmful and
encourage everyone to adopt a smoke-free lifestyle.
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Community Promotion and Education Activities

To sustain the momentum in promoting the smoke-free
women concept, COSH collaborated with twelve women
associations and district health centres to conduct
around 20 sessions of smoke-free women promotion
and education activities across the territory from
November 2021 to March 2022. Health talks and smoke-
free exhibitions were held while promotional videos and
marketing collaterals were displayed and distributed,
reaching some 7,200 people from all walks of life.

Smoke-free Women Promotional Video

Some of the public may mistakenly start smoking to
cope with stress. Hence, COSH produced a promotional
video and allocated resources for promotion, to
specifically motivate female smokers to develop a
positive and optimistic attitude and spread the message
that mutual care and support from family and friends
play a key role in encouraging female to quit smoking.
The promotional video recorded around 740,000 views
on the online video streaming platform from June 2021
to March 2022.

Programme Website: www.smokefree.hk/women
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Hong Kong International Dental Expo
and Symposium

The Hong Kong Dental Association hosted the "Hong
Kong International Dental Expo and Symposium”
on 10 to 12 December 2021. Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, was invited to join the opening ceremony.
An information booth was set up to introduce the
tobacco control work in Hong Kong and COSH's
education and publicity programmes, which enhanced
the collaboration with dental professionals to promote
smoking cessation for maintaining oral health. Visitors
were also encouraged to pledge for supporting the
"Smoke-free Sportswear Day” with an aim to create a
supportive social atmosphere for smoking cessation
through doing exercises.
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Education and Youth Programmes
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Health Talks for
“Smoke-free New Generation”

Delivering smoke-free knowledge to the next generation
at an early age is an essential part of tobacco control
in helping children and youngsters recognize the
importance of smoke-free healthy lifestyle, prevent them
from trying the first cigarette, and encourage family and
friends to quit smoking. Since 1991, COSH has been
organizing health talks every year in kindergartens,
primary schools, secondary schools and tertiary
institutions across the territory to convey information
about the harmful effects of smoking.

In view of the class arrangements amid pandemic
situation, COSH continued to provide onsite and online
versions of health talks during the school year 2021 to
2022. Over 100 health talks were held reaching over
13,000 students and teachers. Students could further
explore the subjects in respect of smoking hazards
through online live streaming or pre-recorded version of
health talks. A set of education tools was also developed
for students to extend learning beyond the classroom.

In addition to the negative impact of smoking, secondhand
smoke, third-hand smoke and use of alternative smoking
products, the health talks covered the latest information
on tobacco control in Hong Kong and marketing tactics of
the tobacco company. Promotional videos and interactive
question-and-answer session were conducted by COSH
educators in health talks to provide a pleasant and
relaxing environment for students to acquire smoke-free
knowledge.
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“Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme”
2021-2022

Since 2012, COSH has been organizing “Smoke-free
Teens Programme” to increase awareness towards
tobacco control issues among teenagers and nurture
them to become future leaders to promote smoke-
free messages on campus and in the community. The
Programme achieved notable results with more than 140
secondary schools, youth centres and uniform groups
enrolled and over 2,800 teenagers were trained as young
leaders since it launched.

COSH revamped the Programme in 2021-2022 as
"Smoke-free Elite Teens Programme” and was co-
organized by the Education Bureau with new elements
of life planning, mentor sharing and university visit. It
revolved around knowledge and skills training as well
as project planning and execution with credit system. A
total of 200 teenagers aged 14 to 18 from 27 secondary
schools and uniform group joined the Programme.
According to COSH's evaluation survey to measure the
effectiveness, the majority of participants agreed that
the knowledge on smoking hazards, smoking cessation
counseling skill, local and global tobacco control trends,
and so forth were enhanced.

Smoke-free Academy

Two sessions of the Smoke-free Academy with a
combination of offline and online learning were
conducted in August 2021. Participants were equipped
with the current training situation of smoke-free
education and tobacco control information through
talks and workshops including Li Shu Fan Medical
Foundation Nursing Clinical Skills Laboratory and
Simulation Training Centre of the University of Hong
Kong visit. Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor,
The School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong,
Dr Derek CHEUNG, Assistant Professor and former
principal Teddy TANG, a mentor of the Programme,
were also invited to advise participants to plan personal
development and motivate them to participate in the
work of tobacco control in the future.
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Smoke-free Online Classes

To enrich the knowledge of smoking hazards among
participants, the Programme provided online classes,
covering diseases caused by smoking, tobacco company
tactics, and local and international tobacco control
policies. Participants could select elective classes
of their own preferences to learn about health risks
posed by alternative smoking products and mobile
videography techniques in order to prepare them for
disseminating smoke-free messages to the public.

Smoke-free Training Camps

Two inter-school physical training camps were held
during the Christmas holiday. A wide range of activities,
group games and adventure-based coaching activities
were arranged to enhance participants a variety of
leadership skills as a matter of priority, encompassing
creative and critical thinking, communication and
conflict management so as to assist them in planning
and executing smoke-free programmes of future needs
with improved problem solving skills.




70

SEE) Events

TR IR [EETeens#5 5 | 722021410 8
EZ2022F1AHEEEAZ  MRARLES
PE130ER L RETHREES  HEERFER
BETHANBEAMER - S21BMEEAE
RERATRTEEREE XL  E2EHE
FEAIPR, - SERFTREELES - [BE
TeenstBR |MELRE @ BBREESHFEMEH
B AREM RSB ERIVES - BfEERE
HMELERE B TRARNRFRALTHS
BEENET  MEELENEEER -

BRERHAE SHEINREZE

RfE [ EETeensiFR BT » BT R
HBEEL - ERETEIR 2 MEG R IMA
[EEREE] HHERESERNLY  I0F
g RE  BEELF -

+ﬂ$%ﬁ@£mﬁm%hﬁ%§ﬂ§\@ﬁ
EREE  EREREBEAELE Z2BENER
PR - BEMMITEERS - B ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
BLZEEL BTN AFBO R EEE - 3
BAGH BRI B RS - TRITINER
TEBERKR  WRAE - HFEEANREE
MMEZEEERNERDZ -  ERSHBEER
SEFINEHFEETEHE -

kul

Smoke-free Programmes in Schools and the Community

From October 2021 to January 2022, the trained
"Smoke-free Elite Teens” applied their knowledge
in organizing over 130 diversified online and offline
activities to disseminate smoke-free messages in the
schools and community, reaching over 40,000 members
of the public. They utilized their creativity and made
good use of different platforms to promote smoke-
free culture via a wide variety of promotion activities,
including booth games, various design competitions,
classes and social media. Participants also conducted
street promotion and interviews, collaborative activities
with community organizations and production of
theme song and music video to boost the awareness of
tobacco-related health hazards in the community.

Smoke-free Elite Teens Alumni Programme,
Summer Internship and Study Tour

In order to sustain the mission of the “"Smoke-free
Elite Teens” in advocating smoke-free culture, trained
participants were invited to join the Smoke-free Elite
Teens Alumni Programme. Alumnus would assist
COSH in organizing activities such as sharing session,

exhibition and booth game.

Participants with outstanding performance would
have the opportunity to participate in the summer
internship programme. Students would get involved in
organization’s daily operations and learn to organize
smoke-free projects for career and life planning. A
Singapore-themed study tour in Hong Kong during
summer holiday would be arranged to the outstanding
teams to grasp the tobacco control policies and
achievements in Singapore so as to broaden their
horizons through knowledge-based and fun-filled
activities, such as sharing by tobacco control expert in
Singapore, virtual walking tour and Singapore-themed
volunteering experience.
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Showcase cum Sharing Session

A Showcase cum Sharing Session of the Programme was
held to commend the outstanding “Smoke-free Elite
Teens” for their achievements. Angela CHOW, Senior
Curriculum Development Officer (MCNE), Education
Bureau, Henry TONG, COSH Chairman, Richard TSANG,
COSH Education & Publicity Committee Chairman and
Vienna LAIl, COSH Executive Director presented the
prizes to the winners. Prof Phoenix MO, a mentor of the
Programme, was also invited to share practical tips on
stress management and remind teenagers to not pick up
smoking.

The champion team from St Catharine’s School for Girls
shared their fruitful experience in organizing smoke-
free programmes at the event. They launched a variety
of school and community activities, reaching over 2,200
students, teachers and citizens. They included an anti-
smoking hand-held sign design competition in their
school and a smoke-free WhatsApp sticker design
competition among primary schools in Kwun Tong
District respectively. The outstanding pieces were
made into hand-held signs and WhatsApp sticker pack
for distribution and circulation in fostering smoke-free
culture. Understanding the importance of educating the
next generation on smoke-free knowledge at an early
age, they produced and launched an educational video
with theme of alternative smoking products (ASPs) via
online platforms as extended learning for junior students

of primary schools.
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Team from Queen's College Old Boys' Association
Secondary School won the first runner-up. Apart from
filming an experiment to visualize the smoking hazards,
which was broadcasted in school activities and social
media, the team designed online homework for students
to learn about hazards of tobacco use at home during
the pandemic. They also invited students and parents
on and off campus to support a smoke-free lifestyle
during parents’ day and school information day. The
second runner-up, New Territories Heung Yee Kuk Yuen
Long District Secondary School (Team 1) conducted
street interviews and promotion in Yuen Long and Tin
Shui Wai to understand the views of the public about
smoking hazards and publicize the adverse effect of
ASPs. A corresponding short video was produced in
an interesting way and uploaded to their designated
social media platform to spread smoke-free messages to
students, teachers and the public.

List of Winners:
Champion:
First runner-up:

St Catharine's School for Girls
Queen's College Old Boys' Association
Secondary School

Second runner-up: New Territories Heung Yee Kuk Yuen
Long District Secondary School (Team 1)

Outstanding Smoke-free Teams:

e Hong Kong Army Cadets Association

e Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School

e New Territories Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District
Secondary School (Team 2)

e Sheng Kung Hui Leung Kwai Yee Secondary School

e Shung Tak Catholic English College (Team 2)

Programme Website: www.smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
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School Interactive Education Theatre
“Smoke-free Rangers”

Since 1995, the “School Interactive Education Theatre
Programme” has been one of COSH's major education
and publicity programmes to prevent tobacco use
among children and youth. With the collaboration of
schools and local professional troupe, COSH enriches
student with smoke-free knowledge and encourages
them to live a smoke-free healthy lifestyle with their
families. Since its launch, the Programme contributed
over 2,000 performances in primary schools across the
territory, reaching over 600,000 students and teachers.

Through interactive performances with music, stage effects,
and interesting presentation, the Programme enabled
students to learn about the health risks linked to alternative
smoking product use and other tobacco consumption.
Actors interacted with students in an interesting plot to
stimulate their thinking, convey a message of “no smoking”
and debunk the fallacies about smoking. Students also
learned how to resist smoking temptation and the ways to
encourage family members to quit smoking.

The Programme in 2021-2022 was co-organized
by Education Bureau and collaborated with iStage
Theatre to launch a brand-new interactive drama titled
"Smoke-free Rangers”. “Wise Mike”, the Smoke-free
Ambassador, was set to appear in the drama for the first
time. Its content covered harmful effects of alternative
smoking product use as well as the promotion tactics
of tobacco company targeting children and youth. In
addition, special credit was given to Prof LAM Tai-hing,
the professional consultant of the drama.
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The story plot was set in the “Healthy Building”, where
three primary school students, Kin, Hong and D lived.
While different illnesses stroke to threaten the health of
residents, "Wise Mike"”, the convener of the “Smoke-
free Rangers”, invited them to join the team to trace
the root causes and combat the crisis. Audience were
invited to join the team through interactive sessions
to resolve the threats of secondhand smoke and third-
hand smoke, in order to convince family and friends to
overcome tobacco temptation and reveal the marketing
strategy of heated tobacco products and electronic
cigarettes to lure people smoking, with the aid of tools
and information from “Wise Mike".

The premiere was held at Sheng Kung Hui St James’
Primary School on 24 September 2021 with around 280
primary school students, teachers and guests attended
to kick off the territory-wide school tour. Officiating
guests included Prof Sophia CHAN, Secretary for Food
and Health, Dr FUNG Ying, Head of Tobacco and
Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health, Dr Andy
TAM, Chief Curriculum Development Officer (MCNE) of
Education Bureau, Langton CHEUNG, Principal of Sheng
Kung Hui St James’ Primary School, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman,
Richard TSANG, COSH Education & Publicity Committee
Chairman, Dr Daniel HO, Council Member and Vienna
LAI, COSH Executive Director.
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Due to the pandemic situation, COSH continued to
deliver drama performance in various modes. During the
resumption of face-to-face classes for schools, students
could enjoy the drama either via the pre-recording
session, regular touring at schools or live broadcasting
through campus TV. Schools could also arrange live
streaming performance according to their needs which
actors interacted with students through streaming
software. In total, over 28,000 students and teachers
watched the drama performance through different
modes during the year.

A corresponding interactive learning kit, including the

"Smoke-free Rangers” gamebook, souvenirs, smoke-
free short videos and mini games, was introduced.
Teachers could utilize the learning kit to deliver smoke-
free messages in general studies, moral education or
life education lessons, while students were encouraged
to revisit the smoke-free messages with parents after
watching the drama. Students were also invited to
participate in the “Smoke-free Rangers Poster Design
Competition” by utilizing the acquired knowledge and
creativity to build a smoke-free Hong Kong. Over 690
entries were received in this year.

Programme Website: www.educationtheatre.hk
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Meetings with Executive Council Members
and Legislative Council Members

COSH has been continuously providing the latest global
information of tobacco control to the Government and
the general public, and from time to time, meeting
with community leaders and policy makers to facilitate
exchange and advocate effective tobacco control policy.
In 2021-2022, COSH arranged nine meetings with 15
Executive Council members, Legislative Council members
and political parties to introduce and recommend the
adoption of the innovative tobacco control measures in
Hong Kong while successfully striving for their support to
the passage of the Smoking (Public Health) (Amendment)
Bill 2019 after in-depth discussions.

HKU School of Nursing — Nursing
Programmes

To enhance student awareness of tobacco control at
the school of nursing of The University of Hong Kong.
Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager was invited
as guest speaker of Bachelor and Master programmes
of School of Nursing of The University of Hong Kong. He
shared information under the theme "Tobacco Control
and Smoking Prevention Programmes in Hong Kong”
through online live streaming on 19 April 2021. Tobacco
control development and cessation services in Hong Kong
were introduced to about 40 master students. Besides, on
15 September and 9 November 2021, Mr Chu explained
the vision of smoke-free Hong Kong, the role of COSH and
its efforts in education, publicity and advocacy work over
the years, to about 150 undergraduate students.
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HKU Youth Quitline Press Briefing for
Smoking Cessation Research Findings

The University of Hong Kong Youth Quitline held
a press conference on 29 April 2021 to release the
updated findings that the proportion of Hong Kong
young smokers of 25 years old or under who had
used alternative smoking products (ASPs), including
electronic cigarettes and heated tobacco products,
had surged to a record high of 85.9% in 2019-2020. The
most cited reasons of ASP use were curiosity (51.3%),
peer influence (37.3%) and intention to quit or reduce
smoking (21.6%). COSH representative was invited to the
press conference.

At the press conference, Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director reiterated that ASPs are harmful to health
and can not help smoking cessation. She pointed
out that the electronic devices may pose risks of
personal information leakage and loophole for tobacco
promotion. She also joined with other speakers to
appeal for higher attention to the impact of ASPs on
youth and urge the Legislative Council to immediately
pass the Bill proposed by the Government to ban all
ASPs. Other speakers included Dr William LI, Director
of HKU Youth Quitline and Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair
Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall
Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong.

EmsEs | o
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Pok Oi Hospital Board Meeting

Henry TONG, COSH Chairman was invited by Pok Oi
Hospital to deliver a presentation in the Board Meeting
on 30 July 2021. Stance and grounds for the total ban
on all alternatives smoking products were illustrated.
Board members, consultants and community leaders
were encouraged to express support to the passage of
the Bill on different occasions and jointly promote the
development of tobacco control in the future.

Rotary Club of Hong Kong Sunrise —
Tobacco Control Seminar

Rotary Club of Hong Kong Sunrise conducted a tobacco
control seminar on 11 August 2021 to enhance members
knowledge on smoking hazards. Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman was invited to introduce the health risks
posed by alternative smoking products (ASPs) and
clarify the misleading information over the objections
to total ban on ASPs. The challenges and strategies
in the development of tobacco control in Hong Kong
were introduced to enable participants to grasp COSH's
advocacy work, with a view to soliciting support for
policies.

Press Conference and Lok Sin Tong
Smoking Cessation Program in Workplace

2021-2022 Kick-off Ceremony

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon (LST) has
launched “Smoking Cessation Program in Workplace”
since 2013 to assist companies in encouraging
employees to quit smoking. LST organized Press
Conference and LST Smoking Cessation Program in
Workplace 2021-2022 Kick-off Ceremony on 27 August
2021. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewell Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong and Dr Kelvin WANG, Associate Professor in
the School of Nursing, The University of Hong Kong
announced the research results of the programme
during the occasion. Henry TONG, COSH Chairman was
invited to join the event and listened to a sharing by
companies from different sectors and successful quitters
on their experiences in promoting the programme.
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Meeting with the Federation of Hong
Kong Industries

COSH maintains close liaison with stakeholders of
different segments of the society to increase awareness
on smoking hazards. COSH met with the Federation of
Hong Kong Industries (FHKI) on 27 September 2021 to
enhance mutual understanding as well as knowledge
on the current situation of tobacco control in Hong
Kong. COSH's publicity and promotion programmes
were introduced, including the Hong Kong Smoke-free
Leading Company Awards and promotion programmes
for the specific industries with high smoking prevalence,
to invite FHKI's participation in promoting smoke-
free culture by encouraging smoking cessation among
member companies and employees. The importance
and benefits of the total ban on alternative smoking
products to the society and industry were also
promoted. Participants of the meeting included Anthony
LAM and Bernie TING, FHKI Deputy Chairman, Gordon
LO, FHKI Director-General, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman, and
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director.

Smoke-free Visit to
District Health Centre Expresses

The Government sets up District Health Centres
(DHC) and DHC Expresses across Hong Kong since
September 2019 to strengthen district-based primary
healthcare services, including the provision of health
promotion and education, health risk factors assessment
and chronic disease management, to enhance public
awareness of disease prevention and self-health
management capability.
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COSH organized a visit to the newly established
Kowloon City DHC Express and Yau Tsim Mong DHC
Express on 16 December 2021 to learn more about the
services and operation of the centres. During the visit,
Henry TONG, COSH Chairman introduced COSH's work
and vision of a smoke-free Hong Kong. He also explored
the ways with participants in promoting smoking
cessation and tobacco control policy advocacy through
DHC network with an aim to enhance the collaborations
on primary healthcare and public health. The delegation
included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, Dr Johnnie CHAN, COSH Vice-chairman,
Dr David LAM and Dr Kelvin WANG, Council Member,
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director and Secretariat
staff.

The Jockey Club School of Public
Health and Primary Care of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong —

Health Promotion Experience Sharing
Workshop

Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager was
invited by The Jockey Club School of Public Health and
Primary Care, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
to give a guest seminar titled “Strive for a Smoke-free
Hong Kong: The Role of COSH” with some 40 students
of the Bachelor of Science in Public Health Programme
and Community Health Practice Programme attended
on 18 January 2022. The seminar covered the current
tobacco control policies in Hong Kong and COSH’s work
in different aspects. The experience in advocating the
total ban on alternative smoking products was shared
as a case study, in order to illustrate the advocacy
actions during policy making process to strive for the
implementation of public health measures. Students
were also encouraged to engage in tobacco control
related work in the many years to come.
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Working with the Mass Media

BEEEEAREEe 2 SEESHEAEREE COSH maintains a close and longstanding relation with
EHeREE EEe—HHEFEERIEEZE  the mass media, enabling the messages of tobacco
B MEEKEREBETRSEN - RS - ES  control and COSH's promotion activities to penetrate
NEMERE 7R NEH o I KRERFE  into all levels of the society effectively. COSH Secretariat
NIN LR T ER T8 A EREE - regularly fields interviews and enquiries from different

newspapers, publications, television and radio stations,

as well as other media platforms. COSH issued the
following press releases to the media during the year:

H i Date FER Press Release
2021/5/31 MEZE [EERRA ] Stay tobacco-free and do exercise together in
ER Y 8 & [Rl1T LAE Bh Bh Al A support of “Smoke-free Sportswear Day”
First evid lating risks of
SEFTEERE D FMREEBE relrsS ifa\/’:ofngemorlj;cjii ;rligo[lesscse(:]t heated
2021/8/3 % R R s pyroéug e
PR 2 B ) HEHE
R 2RI Supported the call for a total ban promptly
COSH urged the Legislative Council to enact
2021/9/10 RBLASERBBEZEME SEE  atotal ban on all alternative smoking products

promptly
School Interactive Education Theatre
BREFHEKEBIS EEEKE]  “Smoke-free Rangers”

2021/9/24 HEREEW S BERR Educate students to debunk the myths of
alternative smoking products
TSR SR OEE COSH urges the Legislative Council members
2021/10/21 o 5 o to support a total ban on all alternative
SIS E .
smoking products
2021/10/21 ZESENEFSRBEEME COSH welcomed the passage of the Smoking
5 4R I EE (Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019
BELAUEESEEHEELR Promote smoke-free attitude in women
2021/10/23 RELZLTREEEMEER Enhancing awareness on smoking hazards
A AR and say no to all forms of smoking
- oy Substantial tob tax hike to enh
dozpe  SEMERREERRUR neahthcare development and lessen financia
B ERETREE o . :
burden by motivating smoking cessation
2022/2/23 = B o R T R i COSH's response to the tobacco control

policies proposed by The Budget
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Loopholes of total ban of tobacco adveritisi

The 13t% Asia Pacific Conference on
Tobacco or Health

“The 13* Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco or
Health” was held in Bangkok, on 3 to 4 September
2021, with the theme of “Professional Alliance Moving
Together for Tobacco-free Society” and attended by
around 2,700 delegates from 40 countries physically
or virtually. COSH formed a delegation comprising
Henry TONG, Chairman, Vienna LAI, Executive Director
and Secretariat staff to participate in the Conference
virtually.

Four abstracts of COSH were selected for poster or oral
presentations. Through the presentations, COSH shared
experience in motivating hardcore smokers to use
smoking cessation services, mobilizing the community
to publicize quitting for strength, training youth
ambassadors to disseminate smoke-free messages, and
advocating Hong Kong to plug the loopholes of the ban
on tobacco advertising, to introduce the tobacco control
and smoke-free promotion in Hong Kong.
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The Conference also consisted of a series of plenary
sessions and symposiums covering alternative smoking
products (ASPs), tobacco taxation, and smoke-free
policies to promote the exchanges on tobacco control
and related information. Tobacco control experts had an
in-depth discussion about the problems of ASP epidemic,
COVID-19 pandemic and tobacco industry interference,
accelerating tobacco endgame through enhanced
tobacco control policies, and called for actions in the
Conference.

Fellowship Programme on
Tobacco Control 2021

World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Centre
for Smoking Cessation and Treatment of Tobacco
Dependence, Department of Health, organized the
"Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control 2021”
virtually from 6 to 10 December 2021. The 5-day
programme aimed to provide training for the tobacco
control personnel of governments and non-government
organizations in Western Pacific countries.

Under the structure according to “MPOWER” laid down
by the WHO, the Programme assisted participants to
master tobacco control skills through a comprehensive
overview of the latest tobacco control measures and
experience sharing through talks, presentations and
workshops. Participants’ knowledge of legislation,
enforcement and publicity were strengthened.

International and local experts, including Dr Ada
MOADSIRI, WHO expert, Prof Judith MACKAY, Senior
Policy Advisor, WHO, Therese SHUMAKER, Nicotine
Dependence Center, Mayo Clinic, the United States, Dr
Becky FREEMAN, The University of Sydney, Australia,
Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community
Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong and Dr Homer TSO, Winner of WHO Director-
General’s Award for Leadership in Global Tobacco
Control were invited to share their experience and latest
development in tobacco control. Henry TONG, COSH
Chairman, was also invited to deliver a presentation to
highlight the experience and challenges of motivating
the total ban on alternative smoking products.
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COSH makes broad use of the website and new media
to enhance its transparency and publicize smoke-free
messages to different segments of the community.

Website and E-Newsletter

COSH website (www.smokefree.hk) is developed to
inform the public about the activities of COSH as well
as the information related to smoking and health. COSH
website was revamped in April 2021 to enhance the
browsing experience of users. Apart from adopting the
responsive web design and webpage categorization,
a brand-new feature story session was also introduced
by means of multimedia narrations, covering the latest
topics of tobacco control, such as promotional tactics
of tobacco industry and reasons for a total ban on
alternative smoking products. The five feature stories
produced during the year received nearly 570,000 views
on COSH website and video sharing platform.

To facilitate different segments of the community
including persons with disability to access to tobacco
control information, COSH website adopted the
accessibility design and attained the Triple Gold
Award of the "Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme”
organized by the Hong Kong Internet Registration
Corporation Limited. Meanwhile, elementary smoke-
free information is also available in eight languages
other than Chinese and English, including Bahasa
Indonesia, Hindi, Nepali, Punjabi, Tagalog, Thai, Urdu
and Vietnamese.
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From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, COSH website
recorded over 510,000 page views. The top viewed
pages included smoking hazards, methods of cessation
and feature story.

Besides, e-newsletter is released regularly covering
the recent findings on smoking hazards and smoking
cessation across the globe, local and international
development on tobacco control and the latest activities
of COSH. The public is welcomed to subscribe the
e-newsletter through COSH website.

Social Media Platforms

As social media becomes a popular information source,
three social media platforms had been established
with respective focuses to engage the public in a
discussion on the smoking hazards through hot issues
in the society, and to disseminate smoke-free messages
among the public with the use of vivid and interesting
post content, visuals and videos.

Facebook Page “Smoke-free Family”

The page releases the latest news on tobacco control,
hazards of smoking, tips and benefits of smoking to
appeal the public to formulate smoke-free family for
health to protect family members and friends from
secondhand smoke hazards. Details of COSH's activities
also included.
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Smoke-free Ambassador Instagram Account “Wise Mike"

The account (@wisemike_hk) shares the act and move
of "Wise Mike"”, Smoke-free Ambassador in his smoke-
free life with the public, clarifies the myths of smoking
and addresses the smoking harms to promote the goal
for zero smoking hazards in the living environment. He
also reminds the public that all forms of tobacco use are
hazardous to health.

0 wisemike hk BRELIR ‘ O\

Facebook Page “Smoking Hazards 2.0"

The page introduces innovative and effective tobacco
control measures around the world, shares updated
scientific research on tobacco control and debunks
misleading propaganda as well as marketing strategies
of tobacco industry, to encourage the public to support
strengthening tobacco control measures and the goal of
tobacco endgame in Hong Kong.
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Enquiry on Smoking and Health

The public can acquire information about smoking and
health, smoke-free legislations in Hong Kong, methods
and benefits to quit smoking and details of COSH's
programmes via different means including telephone,
fax or email, etc. The public can also make enquiries,
suggestions and complaints regarding smoking or other
related issues. Any feedback, suggestions or complaints
received will be responded instantly or/and referred
to the government departments and organizations
concerned respectively.

Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, COSH
received around 100 enquiries from the public
requesting for information, making suggestions and
complaints. Major categories of cases included enquiries
on alternative smoking products and other forms of
smoking, complaints on smoking offenses, information
about COSH and smoke-free projects as well as opinions
to strengthen tobacco control measures.

Resource Centre

COSH Resource Centre had been set up to provide a
variety of information related to smoking and health.
Collections of the Resource Centre include local and
international periodicals, books, research papers,
conference proceedings, reference materials, statistics,
education materials and audio-visual materials about
tobacco hazards, passive smoking, smoking cessation
and tobacco control legislation. Members of the public
can also access to the research reports, smoke-free
promotion and education materials such as leaflets and
posters.

Visitors of the Resource Centre include students,
teachers, parents, researchers, medical and healthcare
practitioners, tobacco control organizations and public
health professionals. Visits from local and overseas
delegations will also be received.
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Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2021

To monitor the effectiveness of tobacco control policy
in Hong Kong and keep track of the public opinions
on the policy, COSH has conducted the Tobacco
Control Policy-related Survey regularly since 2012. It is a
representative cross-sectional survey and covers a wide
scope of topics related to smoking and health, including
pattern of smoking and cessation, secondhand smoke
(SHS) exposure, public opinions on tobacco control
measures, etc.

COSH commissioned the School of Nursing and School
of Public Health of The University of Hong Kong to
conduct the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2021
for questionnaire design and data analysis. Hong Kong
Public Opinion Research Institute Limited collected
information for the phone main survey between March
and July 2021 via landline and mobile phone interviews
with random sampling, while Social Policy Research
Limited conducted two waves of online surveys between
May and June 2021 and in September 2021. In both
surveys, smoking referred to the use of any smoking
products, including conventional cigarettes, electronic
cigarettes (e-cigarettes), heated tobacco products
(HTPs), etc. Respondents were Hong Kong residents who
aged 15 years or above and could speak Cantonese.
The final samples were weighted to the Hong Kong
population in 2021.

Phone Main Survey

5,112 respondents of the survey were comprised of
1,701 never smokers, 1,710 ex-smokers and 1,701 current
smokers. In addition to core questions, respondents
were randomly divided into different subsamples to
answer different non-core questions.
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Key results of the survey are shown below:
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The prevalence of current use was highest for
conventional cigarettes (9.4%), followed by cigars
(1.2%), e-cigarettes (1.0%), HTPs (0.8%), waterpipe
tobacco (0.7%), hand-rolled cigarettes (0.6%), pipe
tobacco (0.4%) and herbal cigarettes (0.1%).

On average, current cigarette smokers consumed
13.0 cigarettes per day. Over half (52.4%) smoked
the first cigarette within half an hour after waking
up, indicating heavier nicotine dependence.

Respondents used HTPs mainly because of curiosity
(41.7%) and cleaner (23.4%). Nearly two-thirds of
respondents (61.7%) and current smokers (62.9%)
perceived that HTPs could not help quit cigarettes.

44% of respondents said curiosity was the key
reason for the use of e-cigarette. More than half
(63.9%) of respondents and 68.7% of current
smokers perceived that e-cigarettes could not help
quit cigarettes.

Regarding harmfulness and addictiveness, on a
scale from O (not harmful/addictive at all) to 10 (very
harmful/addictive), on average, respondents rated
conventional cigarettes 8.4 and 7.5, e-cigarettes 7.9
and 7.5, HTPs 7.7 and 7.2, and waterpipe tobacco
7.3 and 6.8.
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Smoking Cessation

About one-fifth (18.5%) of current smokers tried to
quit in the past twelve months.

14.2% of current smokers had ever used smoking
cessation services.

In the past twelve months, the most commonly
used smoking cessation service was “face-to-face
counseling” (15.3%), followed by “phone enquiry”
(11.2%) and “"phone counseling” (8.5%).

15.1% of the current smokers used nicotine gum
in the past twelve months, while 14.7% and 8.7%
used nicotine patches and nicotine lozenges
respectively.

Exposure to Secondhand Smoke

11.8% and 24.0% of respondents were exposed
to SHS at home from inside the home and at
home from the outside in the past seven days
respectively.

Exposure to SHS at workplace was not rare. 22.2%
of employed respondents were exposed to SHS
from smoking within three meters at workplace in
the past seven days.

42.2% of respondents reported exposure to SHS
from smoking within three meters at locations other
than home and workplace. Streets (73.3%) were the
most common location, followed by parks and other

resting areas (11.2%), public transport stops (10.6%)
and areas around rubbish bins (9.2%).
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Perceptions of COVID-19 and Smoking

e Current smokers generally underestimated the risks
of smoking on COVID-19. Out of a 11-point scale
ranging from 0O (strongly disagree) to 10 (strongly
agree), current smokers did not agree that smoking
would increase the risk of COVID-19 infection (2.8
points on average) or the risk of progression to
severity (4.8 points on average) while ex-smokers
agreed that smoking would increase the risk of
COVID-19 infection (5.1 points on average) and
the risk of progression to severity (6.9 points on
average).

° 10.2% of current smokers and 43.6% of ex-smokers
reduced smoking during the fourth wave of
COVID-19 in December 2020.

Regulations on Cigarette Packaging

e 90.4% of current smokers noticed the pictorial
health warnings (PHWs) on cigarette packs in the
past 30 days, the awareness was significantly higher
than never smokers (50.3%) and ex-smokers (53.7%).

e  Among current smokers who noticed the PHWSs in
the past 30 days, 45.1% thought of the harms of
smoking, 14.7% considered quitting smoking and
7.2% held back from smoking.

e 63.0% of respondents supported regular rotation of
different sets of PHWs.

e Plain packaging standardizes and simplifies the
packaging of tobacco products. Trademarks,
graphics and logos are not allowed on cigarette
packs, while brand names can only be displayed in a
standard font, colour and location on the package.
Over half (54.4%) of respondents supported to
adopt plain packaging.
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Tobacco Advertising and Promotion

Most respondents (74.9%) noticed point-of-sale
tobacco product displays in the past 30 days, of
which 63.2% perceived the displays as a kind of
advertisement and 52.1% agreed to ban point-of-
sale tobacco product displays.

e

Tobacco Tax

Nearly three quarters (72.9%) of respondents
supported the Government to raise tobacco tax in
2022, and 34.4% supported the tax increase shall be
greater than inflation.

68.1% of respondents agreed to the annual tobacco
tax increase by the Government, and 30.9% thought
that the rate of increment should be equivalent to
or above the inflation rate.

66.2% of current smokers would quit smoking
or reduce smoking consumption at least by half
if the cigarette price increased. On average,
they reckoned that the price should be raised
to HK$115.5 per pack of cigarettes (median was
HK$100) to motivate smokers to quit or reduce
smoking.
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Expansion of Statutory No Smoking Areas

e Majority of respondents supported to further
expand no smoking areas to public transport stops
(94.3%), all queues in public places (93.7%), area
within ten meters of schools or tutorial centres
(90.2%), area within three meters of children in
public places (90.1%), private vehicles with children
(87.8%), pedestrian precincts (83.0%), etc.

e Most (79.7%) respondents agreed that the
Government should legislate to ban smoking while
walking on streets.

e 79.6% of respondents supported that the person-
in-charge of smoke-free premises should be
liable to a penalty upon smoking offences in the
premises.

e 81.3% of respondents supported to increase the
fixed penalty for smoking offences.

Opinions on Future Tobacco Control Policies

e Majority (81.4%) of all respondents and 69.9% of
current smokers agreed to increase the legal age of
tobacco sales from 18 to 21 years old.

e Well above half of the respondents supported
a total ban on the sales (52.8%) and on the
use (52.7%) of all smoking products in Hong
Kong, including conventional cigarettes, HTPs,
e-cigarettes, etc.

e 60.3% of respondents agreed to ban smoking if the
smoking prevalence of Hong Kong decreases to 5%
or below.

e 52.3% of respondents supported a ban on smoking
in people born in or after 2021.
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Pilot Online Survey

Each of the two online survey waves was completed by
900 respondents, comprising 300 never smokers, 300
ex-smokers and 300 current smokers. The final samples
were weighted to the Hong Kong population in 2021.
In general, the results were comparable to those of the
phone main survey.

Key results not covered by the phone main survey are
shown below:

Smoking Hotspot

° Most (The First Wave: 77.1%; The Second Wave:
68.6%) current smokers smoked at smoking
hotspots, such as near rubbish bins and back alleys
for 3.3 to 3.5 times per day on average.

e 42.6% of current smokers smoked while walking on
streets in the past seven days, with 3.1 times per

day on average. (The Second Wave)

Exposure to Third-hand Smoke (THS)

® In the past seven days, 35.2% of respondents were
exposed to THS at home and 37.3% in indoor
places outside home. (The Second Wave)
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COVID-19 and Intention to Quit Smoking

o In current smokers, 16.0% reported intention to quit
smoking due to COVID-19. (The First Wave)

o In ex-smokers, 6.9% quitted smoking due to
COVID-19. (The First Wave)

Opinions on Future Tobacco Control Policies

e Around 6 in 10 respondents supported a total ban
on HTPs (The First Wave: 66.4%; The Second Wave:
57.1%), e-cigarettes (The First Wave: 68.1%; The
Second Wave: 56.5%) and other alternative smoking
products (The First Wave: 64.5%; The Second Wave:
59.2%).

e 51.7% of respondents supported a ban on flavoured
tobacco products, including menthol. (The Second
Wave)

° Two-thirds (66.3%) of respondents agreed that
health warning text or messages to encourage

quitting should be printed on individual cigarettes.
(The Second Wave)

e Most (61.0%) respondents supported to include an
information card describing the benefits of quitting
and cessation methods in cigarette packs. (The
Second Wave)

e 71.8% of respondents supported a levy on the
tobacco industry to fund tobacco control, smoking
cessation services and smoking-related health
expenditure. (The Second Wave)

To advocate for appropriate measures and raise public
awareness duly, COSH released the preliminary findings
on specific topics on different occasions.
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Aims and Strategies

To uphold sustainable development, COSH devises
internal and external strategies to promote a sense
of responsibility regarding environmental protection.
To achieve this, COSH has adopted the following
environmentally friendly policies:

e Enhance efficiency of energy consumption;

° Reduce paper consumption;

e  Reduce waste and recycle; and

° Enhance awareness on environmental protection.

Environmental Protection Measures

Enhance Efficiency of Energy Consumption

The Secretariat conserves energy by ensuring that
staff switch off lights, air-conditioners, computers,
the monitors, photocopiers, printers and other
electrical appliances immediately after use. Office
room temperature is generally maintained at 25.5T as
recommended by the Government.

Energy efficiency is one of the considerations when
purchasing electrical appliances. IT equipment with
automatic energy saving functions has also been
used, such as computers, the monitors and printers.
In addition, the Secretariat uses compact fluorescent
lamps.

Reduce Paper Consumption

To disseminate updated smoke-free information to
the public, promotional materials, such as posters,
leaflets and brochures are produced. COSH also
maintains frequent communications with the community
and government departments. To reduce paper
consumption, the following measures are in place:

° Use of e-mail and intranet for internal and external
communication and transfer of document instead
of memorandums, letters and hardcopies, where
possible;
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e Utilization of electronic-fax system and electronic
document management system to reduce the
amount of printing;

e Reduction of the size and review on quantity of the
printed promotional materials and gradual use of
environmentally friendly paper;

° The tobacco control information, promotional
materials and publications have been uploaded to
COSH website for public access in order to reduce
the demand for hardcopies;

e Use electronic invitation and greeting cards in
replacement of hardcopies for events and on festive
occasions; and

e Use of “Print Preview” function to check the layout
and style of document before printing and use of
both sides of paper to avoid wastage.

Reduce Waste and Recycle

COSH supports waste reduction and recycling and
joins the “Computer and Communication Products
Recycling Programme” launched by the Environmental
Protection Department. The unserviceable computers
and computer accessories are delivered for recycling. In
addition, recyclable printer toner cartridges have been
used.

Unwanted papers such as documents with printing
errors or drafts of documents have been collected
for recycling. Recycling boxes have been placed at
convenient locations in the office to encourage staff to
recycle waste paper.

Instead of paper cups and disposable plastic cups,
reusable cups were provided for guests during meetings
and visits.

Enhance Awareness on Environmental Protection

Staff are informed on the aims and reminded to comply
with the green measures via staff meetings, email
reminders and notices.

Where applicable, service providers and working
partners are encouraged to follow the principles of
environmental protection, e.g., use of eco-friendly
materials and submission of document in electronic
format.

COSH will continue to make every endeavor to comply
with the green measures.
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Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

To The Council Members of Hong Kong Council on
Smoking And Health

(incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong
Council on Smoking and Health (“the Council”) set out
on pages 100 to 125, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Council as at
31 March 2022, and of its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Council
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants ("the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Council members are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The annual report is expected to be available to
us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Council Members
and Those Charged Governance for the
Financial Statements

The Council members are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the
Council members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council
members are responsible for assessing the Council’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Council members either intend to liquidate the Council
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Council's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 17(5) of the Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control

relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

circumstances,

Council’s internal control.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
Council members.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council
members’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast

MRREFEERTEEN AV ER
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significant doubt on the Council’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Council to cease to continue as a going concern.

— EPEBRROBRIHSN - EBM -
NE - BREEKE  UERMBHRES
BERBRZZMER o

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

BREMEE  HAEREERRE T ENE
ATEE - KRR EAEMERE 8RR
P AP Rl i R BRI B RO (Z (A B KRPE

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

/ﬁw@ |

TEEEFTMERK  F. S Li&Co.
BB E2tED Certified Public Accountants

FB 0 202297 H12H  Hong Kong, 12 July 2022
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FHWm R
Statement of Comprehensive Income

BZE2022F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

—E-—fF
(B%) (HK$) 2021
WA Income
BRI R A Subventions from the Government of the
2R Hong Kong Special Administrative
—RREEL Region General subvention 26,241,200 26,007,800
RITH BUA Bank interest income 86 131
HIEWA Sundry income 4,210 420
26,245,496 26,008,351
] Expenditure
BB REY Approved establishment 3 7,343,167 7,093,698
JHEET Project staff 4 1,937,456 2,227,771
EEREREH Publicity and promotion expenses 12,006,055 12,271,326
2RER Conference expenses 13,300 -
222 1Y) Reference books and periodicals 22 9,348
WAEHE ZWR Office rent, rates and management fee
BB 490,312 490,912
ERHEERER Warehouse rent and expenses 310,952 16,838
HIERREER Repairs and maintenance 6,223 13,945
BRIENRER Cleaning wages and fees 83,920 68,877
ME - BN RE2ITE  Depreciation on property, plant
and equipment 75,214 33,201
FHAREECHE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,823,169 2,924,578
RE2 Insurance 81,976 81,988
ER= Electricity 66,663 44,167
BFENBAER Telephone and communication expenses 44,020 44,659
BIHREER Recruitment expenses 37,940 26,460
BIimkERER Staff training and development
expenses - 790
R BEXRZEER Legal, professional and audit fees 41,800 30,800
NE Y Office equipment 6,671 38,240
L=y Postage 18,017 35,363
ENfRIl &2 3 B Printing and stationery 85,777 92,223
HEREZNELH Interest expense on lease liabilities 32,988 87,705
AT Sundry expenses 87,292 51,085
25,592,934 25,683,974
rEERH Surplus for the Year 5 652,562 324,377
FEEZHEKA Total Comprehensive Income
for the Year 652,562 324,377
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BT R AR R 3=
Statement of Financial Position

20223 A31H
At 31 March 2022

it —T-—F
(B%) (HKS) Note 2021
FRBEE Non-Current Assets

ME - BRERRE Property, plant and equipment 7 575,922 184,636

FHEEE Right-of-use assets 8 827,070 2,747,981
e e e ee e eea e eeeaeeenen e LAl . 2,932,617

REBEE Current Assets
Ze hBRFKIA Deposits and prepayments 9 849,307 997,147
BITRREETF Bank and cash balances 472,177 672,822
1,321,484 1,669,969
W REAaE Less: Current Liabilities

& Accrued charges 1,058,896 1,178,529

HEaGE-—wHHs Lease liabilities — current portion 10 531,993 2,798,353

FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 338,953 287,996

JERREHE 7 REEL  Adjusted surplus for the year refundable

HEAR to the Department of Health 1 262,530 287,742

JEEREHEy 2F8A4  Accumulated surpluses refundable to

the Department of Health 12 - 203,640
2,192,372 4,756,260
REBEE Net Current Liabilities (870,888) (3,086,291)
BEERABER Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 532,104 (153,674)
FRBEE Non-Current Liabilities
HEAE-RAHS Lease liabilities — non-current portion 10 (295,746) -
BEE/(BR) Net Assets/(Liabilities) 236,358 (153,674)
£ N representing:
2EER Accumulated Surplus/(Deficits)

(E548) 236,358 (153,674)
ZEER2022F7R12BBBRAAEZEMMNE  The financial statements on pages 100 to 125 were
100B Z %1258 M 1§k © approved and authorized for issue by the Council on 12

July 2022.

feqller S

FIETE SEEMHAK 4+ PR AERHE £ SBS, BBSAF 41 RES L+
ZEEXRE LZEEEIEFE RO

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, MH, JP Dr Johnnie CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, BBS, JP Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Chairman Vice-chairman Executive Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

BZE2022F3A31 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

B 5
(%) (HK$) Note
ERERE (BE) Accumulated Surplus/(Deficits)
 LEEERZER | Deficit brought forward (153,674)  (190,309)
NEZRER Surplus for the year/
REFZEZEBA Total comprehensive
income for the year 652,562 324,377
JEROE AT 7 &%  Adjusted surplus refundable to the
Bt Department of Health 11 (262,530) (287,742)
ABEGzRE Surplus attributable to the Council 390,032 36635
BATEEZES Surplus/(Deficit) carried forward
(E18) 236,358 (153,674)
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HERER
Cash Flow Statement

BZE 202263 A31 HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

By EE —E—F
(B%) (HK$) Note 2021
BBEEVESRE Cash flows from operating activities
REE R Surplus for the year 652,562 324,377
T Adjustments for:
FEWA Interest income (86) (131)
FEXH Interest expense 32,988 87,705
E R ==Y Depreciation on property,
JEITE plant and equipment 75,214 33,201
FREEEZITE Depreciation on right-of-use assets 2,823,169 2,924,578
LIEESEF R 2 LB R Operating surplus before working
capital changes 3,583,847 3,369,730
e MNTERZHIEZE ), Decrease/(Increase) in deposits
(1n) and prepayments 147,840 (41,443)
JEREBRZ (L), (Decrease)/Increase in accrued charges (119,633) 11,029
FRE 2B Increase in provision for annual
leave entitlements 50,957 62,928
EBEEDFMEL 2 FRE  Net cash generated from operating activities RO | 3402244 |
RETH RERE Cash flows from investing activities
AW « WENERME  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (466,500) (136,587)
EHFE Interest received 86 131
 BARDMEMZFRE  Net cash used in investing activities (466,414)  (136,456)
METH RERE Cash flows from financing activities
BRREIEFEE Surplus refunded to the Department
of Health (491,382) (3,004,236)
BENEERS 2EARED Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,872,872) (2,920,755)
EMEERS ZFBEE S Interest element of lease rentals paid (32,988) (87,705)
 BEEDHEMZFRS Netcashusedin financing activities  (3,397,242)  (6,012,696)
RBe&KIBEEEZFMY Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (200,645) (2,746,908)
FYIRE MR EFELET Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 672,822 3,419,730
FRI[S MRS EELET Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 472,177 672,822
ReMIREEELETFHM  Analysis of the balances of cash
and cash equivalents
RITRREERF Bank and cash balances 472,177 672,822
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BFTE R R MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

BE2022F3A31 BIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2022

B
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General

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
(“the Council”) is an organization incorporated
under the Hong Kong Council on Smoking and
Health Ordinance on 1 October 1987.

The office address of the Council is at Unit 4402-
03, 44" Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Principal Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
revised HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting year of the Council.
The application of new and revised HKFRSs
has no material effect on the results and
financial position of the Council for the
current and prior accounting years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies «ontinvea)

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The Council has not early adopted new and
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for
the current accounting year. Explanation of
this is included in Note 16.

The preparation of the financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimates is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Revenue recognition

(i) Government subventions are recognized
as income over periods necessary to
match them with the related costs they
are intended to compensate, on a
systematic basis when there is reasonable
assurance that the Council will comply
with the conditions attaching of them
and the subventions will be received.
Government subventions received before
the revenue recognition criteria satisfied
are recognized as a liability.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Bank interest income is recognized as
it accrues using the effective interest
method.

Foreign currencies translation

The Council’s functional currency and
presentation currency are Hong Kong dollars.
Transactions arising in foreign currencies are
converted at exchange rates approximating
to those ruling at transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the end of the reporting
period are translated at rates of exchange
approximating to those ruling at that date. All
exchange differences are dealt with in surplus
or deficit.

Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, where
there is any indication that an asset, including
items of property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets is impaired, the recoverable
amount of the asset should be estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. If the recoverable amount is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognized to reduce the asset to
its recoverable amount. Such impairment
losses are recognized in surplus or deficit.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss should not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined has
no impairment loss been recognized in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to surplus or deficit in the year in
which the reversals are recognized.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies «ontinvea)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

(f)

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less any subsidies received or
receivable, accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost of property, plant and equipment
less subsidies received or receivable and
accumulated impairment losses over their
estimated useful lives using a straight-line
basis at the following rates:

Leasehold Over unexpired period of
improvements lease

Furniture and fixtures 25 percent per annum

Office equipment 25 percent per annum

Lease

The Council assesses at contract inception
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Council applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except
for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Council recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(f)

Lease (continued)

Lease liabilities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Council and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Council exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognized as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Council uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g. a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies «ontinvea)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Lease (continued)

The Council applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term
leases of buildings (that is those leases that
have a lease term of twelve months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets.

When the Council enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the Council decides
whether to capitalize the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognized as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Deposits

Deposits are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Accrued Charges

Accrued charges are initially recognized at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortized
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost.
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2. TEETBE 2

(i)

(4)

(k)
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinueq)

(i)

()

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and deposits with banks within three
months to maturity from date of deposit.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognized when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,
related party includes a person and an entity as
defined below:

(i) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Council if
that person:

(a) has control or joint control of the

Council;

has significant influence over the
Council; or

(c) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Council.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (ontinuec

(k) Related parties (continued)

(i) B RYER—BEEYS - 8l (i) An entity is related to the Council if any of
FRERHRERERESRH the following conditions applies:
JE
(a) uAEHgﬁIZKAj‘E‘EiZKAE (@) The entity is a post-employment
fEEREEN R benefit plan for the benefit of
N ZRREREE - $ employees of either the Council
SEEZTE - BH éﬂj} or an entity related to the Council.
WEFEAGHHE If the Council is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Council.
(b) ZEBEWIG)FTIEALTE (b) The entity is controlled or jointly
il SR o controlled by a person identified in
(i).
(c) B @)FTIEALTEHER (c) A person identified in (i)(a) has
58 E/%ijjiﬁﬁ e significant influence over the entity or
ZJEBEEBEKE - is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity.
(d) ZEBRNEMBEEET (d) The entity, or any member of a group
EMIpC B A Rl A A 1R of which it is a part, provides key
FTEEE ASRE - management personnel services to
the Council.
3. HEBRER 3. Approved Establishment
(B%) (HK$)
e MoERL Salaries and allowances 7,100,767 6,823,545
SRR MK Mandatory provident fund
contributions 196,382 188,939
FREWE Provision for annual leave
entitlements 46,018 81,214
7,343,167 7,093,698
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4. HEHET 4. Project Staff
(BE) (HKS)
e Salaries 1,849,165 2,145,801
IR MR Mandatory provident fund
contributions 83,352 100,256
FREE (BEOE) Provision for annual leave
entitlements made/(written back) 4,939 (18,286)
1,937,456 2,227,771
5. KFEEEER 5. Surplus for the Year
REFRBHRENRTINER : Surplus for the year is stated after charging the
following items:
(B¥) (HK$)
8 T Ak A Staff costs* 9,341,103 9,383,881
T RIEFREEEMRS  Rentals of land and buildings held
S under short-term lease 204,000 -
* BREY N EEEFERFRETSHERLEE @ including contribution of HK$279,734 (2021: HK$289,195)
279,7347T (20214 : B¥289,1957T) to defined contribution provident fund scheme
6. ZEEHNENHE 6. Council Members’ Remuneration
rEMEZEENENAFEANARE None of the Council members received any
B ) AS & 12 44 AR 745 i WX BN 2 (2021 4F - remuneration in respect of their services to the

&) -

Council during the year (2021: Nil).
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7. VI3 - HENKE 7. Property, Plant and Equipment
BENE R BOE
BRIE k&E B3] A
Leasehold Furniture Office
(B%) (HKS) improvements  and fixtures equipment Total
2N Cost
7202053A318 At 31 March 2020 36,305 123,731 624,768 784,804
NE Additions - 59,100 77,487 136,587
72021%3A318 At 31 March 2021 36,305 182,831 702,255 921,391
NE Additions 150,340 106,200 209,960 466,500
,,,,, RN2FIAIA M3 March2022 18665 289031 912215 1,387,891
2EME Accumulated Depreciation
720203 A318 At 31 March 2020 36,305 114,163 553,086 703,554
EZE202143A318 Charge for the year ended
IFEEHE 31 March 2021 - 8,487 24,714 33,201
R2021E3A318 At 31 March 2021 36,305 122,650 577,800 736,755
HZE2022%3A311 Charge for the year ended
FEERHR 31 March 2022 9,487 20,077 45,650 75,214
 R02FIF[IR ASIMarch2022 UL e 62340 . 811,969
IR E FHE Net book value
M202253A318 At 31 March 2022 140,853 146,304 288,765 575,922
R2021E3A318 At 31 March 2021 - 60,181 124,455 184,636
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8. FHEELEE

8. Right-of-use Assets

(B®) (HK$)
B 2R Cost
72020520213 A31H At 31 March 2020 and 2021 8,561,818
= Additions 902,258
0 & = i Written off upon expiry of lease (8,561,818)
o R2022%3AH At31March2022 902,258 |
Z2RITE Accumulated Depreciation
7202053 A31H At 31 March 2020 2,889,259
BE2021F3A31 B IEFERHR Charge for the year ended 31
March 2021 2,924,578
M2021%3A31H At 31 March 2021 5,813,837
BE2022F3HA31HIEFERR Charge for the year ended 31
March 2022 2,823,169
0 & m i Written off upon expiry of lease (8,561,818)
L R2022%3ANA At3IMarch2022 75188
R E FHE Net Book Value
20223 A31H At 31 March 2022 827,070
202163 A31H At 31 March 2021 2,747,981
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BHEeR —FRKEZES BBE
540,8987T (20214 : ¥ 617,5667T) -
& < R IE 7 #5 266,959 7T (2021 4F = K
379581 L) B8R —FAEHLEAER -

9. Deposits and Prepayments

The amount of deposits expected to be recovered
after one year is HK$540,898 (2021: HK$617,566).
The prepayments in sum of HK$266,959 (2021:
HK$379,581) are expected to be recognized as
expenses within one year.
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10.HEAE 10. Lease Liabilities
(B%) (HK$)
FOER Balance at beginning of the year 2,798,353 5,719,108
ENEENRHRE Present value of the lease payments 902,258 -
T B H Interest expense 32,988 87,705
EfRHEER R Lease payment made (2,905,860)  (3,008,460)
FRER Balance at end of the year 827,739 2,798,353
HESBEEMBMRAKRPITET Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of
financial position as follows:
(B%) (HK$)
5EHREL Current portion 531,993 2,798,353
REE S Non-current portion 295,746 -
827,739 2,798,353
REBRBESAONRZEHEAGEZ The maturity profile of the lease liabilities, as at
FEERAT ¢ the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual payments, was as follows:
(B%) (HK$)
RMEE Carrying amount 827,739 2,798,353
BHBR S METE Total contractual cash flow
—EERKEMT S —FA - Within one year or on demand 309,600 2,828,460
— iR —FELRME — More than one year but less than
two years 541,800 -

851,400 2,828,460
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1. ERBEE B 2 KLAERER

m#ﬁi%iT%wEAE%%ﬁ%%
REFREEMNERAR  LBY
% %%& REBHRNEREENRAF
EHNERMIARMEREEREZN
BEXit o At - Bt ERROEEEZ
B - TERFREE BEDRE -
ME  BELRBLEREEENTE
FHERABZHE - MAKRYE - #as
&%ﬁﬁ’]m%&?ﬂfﬁm °

11.Adjusted Surplus Refundable to the

Department of Health

As the Department of Health does not recognize
the provision for annual leave entitlements as
expenses until actual payment is made, and
regards addition to property, plant and equipment
and lease payment as expenses during the year
without recognition of depreciation and interest
expense on lease liabilities, accordingly, for the
purpose of calculating the surplus refundable to
the Department of Health, the provision/provision
written back for annual leave entitlements,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease
liabilities have been excluded, and the addition to
property, plant and equipment and lease payment
have been deducted.

(B%) (HK$)
REFE B Surplus for the year 652,562 324,377
o ME - BN 2 Add: Depreciation on property,
e plant and equipment 75,214 33,201
CREEECITE Depreciation on right-of-use
assets 2,823,169 2,924,578
FRREME Provision for annual leave
entitlements 50,957 62,928
HEaGBZMEXH Interest expenses on lease
liabilities 32,988 87,705
B R - R ERE Less: Additions to property,
HIRE plant and equipment (466,500) (136,587)
HERI Lease payment (2,905,860) (3,008,460)
JER B R AEZENLA Adjusted surplus refundable to the
Btk Department of Health 262,530 287,742
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12. BRBEE B2 EEER 12. Accumulated Surpluses Refundable
to the Department of Health

BHE1998F3A31HRERBHBENAFE The accumulated surpluses up to 31 March 1998
AEELEFEE o was refunded to the Department of Health during
the year.
13. EuI &R E R 13. Other Cash Flow Information
(a) MIEEBFELENEER (a) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities
HEBEHEE10) Lease liabilities (Note 10) —E-—F
(&%) (HK$) 2021
A SR Balance atbeginning of the year 2798353 . 5719108
RMERERENEE Changes from financing cash flows:
BENEERS ZEATD Capital element of lease rentals paid (2,872,872) (2,920,755)
ENHERE2FEHS Interest element of lease rentals paid (32,988) (87,705)
_BARSREBMEHRE  Total changes from financing cash flows  (2,905,860) _ (3,008,460)
Hfth &8 - Other changes:
e New lease 902,258 -
FIB X Interest expenses 32,988 87,705
AwEEmE  Totlotherchanges 935246 87705
FRES Balance at end of the year 827,739 2,798,353
(b) HEBRESREHALE (b) Total cash flow for leases
FFARERERCHER S ML B Amounts included in the cash flow statement
B - for leases comprise the following:
—E-—F
(B%) (HK$) 2021
RERBA Within operating activities 204,000 -
MEEAAN Within financing activities 2,905,860 3,008,460
3,109,860 3,008,460
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14 cMEERERERS 14.Financial Assets and Liabilities
(a) ERMEEREBER (a) Categories of financial assets and
liabilities
—E-—F
(B%) (HKS) 2021
SREE Financial Assets
RENEE — 1R $5AC KA  Current assets — at amortized cost:
B Deposits 582,348 617,566
BITERE&EF Bank and cash balances 472,177 672,822
1,054,525 1,290,388
cEAas Financial Liabilities
MEBE LB AE - Current liabilities — at amortized cost:
e & A Accrued charges 1,058,896 1,178,529
MEBE-EHH Lease liabilities — current portion 531,993 2,798,353
FREME Provision for annual leave
entitlements 338,953 287,996
EROFEEZAFE Adjusted surplus for the year
KRR refundable to the Department
of Health 262,530 287,742
EROEEEZ 2T Accumulated surpluses refundable
B to the Department of Health = 203,640
IERBEE IR Non-current liabilities — at amortized
PXAE - cost:
HEaE RS Lease liabilities — non-current
portion 295,746 -
2,488,118 4,756,260

— 122



14 cREEREMEBE#)

(b) MEEMREENBFERIEE

(c)

EEREET  A2XTSFEE
RSN [\ f ~ ) == [ B A0 78 am e
EffRR - EfdEBRARIT -

(i) EEmER
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TER  BEREHTAEEAES
ERFALEZIRT  FUEER
B REAX o
(i) FEEZELELE
ee THETRBMNES
REBESHEN - UERAER
MBS MR
BREHANRHEST K -

R2022F K 2021638318 -
reeRBECRBRENER
HE—FURN - ZE5ELHmE
BZREEESEREGHNZR
BHIRIAERE °

REEE

R2022%F K 2021 F3A31 B A &
MEERCHBECEBREESE
BEVTESEAEZE SGEEENIKR
BABRRESREARGHNETER
ENIR R

¥R & Reports

14. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continved)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies

In the normal course of the operation, the
Council does not expose to significant foreign
currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity
and price risks. Other risks are described
below:

(i) Credit risk

The Council’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to cash at bank and is
insignificant because the counterparty is a
bank with high credit rating.
(ii) Liquidity risk
The Council's policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
contractual maturities of all the Council's
financial liabilities, whose carrying
amounts are equal to total contracted
undiscounted cash flows, are due within
one year.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities are carried
at amounts not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021. The
fair value is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at current market
interest rate.
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15. BEBEALTRS

15.Related Party Transactions

EFERNASEEHEEATTETHHE During the year the Council undertook the
BEEBERZUT : following transactions with related parties in the

normal course of its operation:

(B%) (HK$)
FEEIE A B AR Remuneration for key management
personnel
FHIETEF Short-term employee benefits 1,923,600 1,870,500
BERL 2 12 A Post-employment benefits 18,000 18,000

1,941,600 1,888,500
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16. B A EEREMZIEF]

16.Possible Impact of Amendments,

e
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BEXe

New Standards and Interpretations
Issued But Not Yet Effect

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments
and new standards which are not yet effective for
the current accounting year and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the
Council.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework '

Amendments to HKAS 76, Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2078-2020
(Amendments)’

Amendments to HKAS 7, Classitication of liabilities
as current or non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies ’

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Effective for annual period's beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The management of the Council does not
anticipate that the application of these revised
HKFRSs and HKASs will have a material effect on
the amounts recognized in the Council's financial
statements.
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Executive Committee

1.

To advise COSH on the strategic planning of
COSH programmes and initiatives.

To consider and endorse the budget of
COSH projects and activities.

To oversee the functioning of COSH
Secretariat, in particular staffing and financial
matters.

To oversee the information security
management of COSH.

Legislation Committee

1.

To monitor the implementation of various
tobacco control measures stipulated in the
Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance and the
Fixed Penalty (Smoking Offences) Ordinance.

To review and recommend to COSH
appropriate action on legislative matters.

To consider ways and means to promote public
awareness of the legislative requirements and
encourage their compliance.

Education and Publicity Committee

1.

To consider ways and means that can best
educate the general public on the harm
of smoking and passive smoking, and
to promote a smoke-free lifestyle in the
community.

To plan and organize territory-wide publicity
campaigns to de-normalize smoking and
promote smoking cessation.

To plan and implement education projects
to prevent children and youth from taking up
the habit of smoking.
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To oversee the production of publicity
materials such as TV commercials, posters,
leaflets, souvenirs and annual reports.

To evaluate the education and publicity
campaigns and to initiate improvements
where appropriate.

Community Liaison Committee

1.

To communicate with district and community
groups on COSH's tobacco control works and
initiatives.

To serve as a focal point for community
liaison on matters related to COSH and
tobacco control.

To partner with various community groups in
the planning and implementation of tobacco
control programmes and activities.

Information and Research Committee

1.

To collect and collate all information related
to smoking and health and to disseminate
such information through appropriate means
and networks.

To identify appropriate themes of research
and survey projects to be carried out.

To provide advice for the design of research
and surveys and the subsequent presentation
of results.

To commission out research projects; and
to invite submission of research proposals
on targeted research topics; to examine
research proposals and recommend projects
for funding to COSH.

To publicize the research/survey results and
recommend follow-up actions having regard
to such results.

To initiate and organize scientific conference,
seminars or workshops on smoking and
health research.
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“aEk FyaLH HERIE JERR AR
AR (%) (N=1,001) (N=422) (N=422) (N=157)
el
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54 179 (17.9) 68 (16.1) 81(19.2) 30 (19.1)
Tl (5%)
18-29 211 (21.0) 9 (21.1) 84 (19.9) 38 (24.2)
30-39 243 (24.3) 4 (22.3) 117 (27.7) 32 (20.4)
40-49 225 (22.5) 90 (21.3) 103 (24.4) 32 (20.4)
50-59 144 (14.4) 1(16.8) 53 (12.6) 20 (12.7)
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MEER
By 32(3.2) 13 (3.1) 16 (3.8) 3(1.9)
B / = 783 (78.2) 329 (78.0) 338 (80.1) 116 (73.9)
1 42 (4.2) 20 (4.7) 16 (3.8) 6 (3.8)
RETR 25 (2.5) 12 (2.8) 10 (2.4) 3(1.9)
IBIK 75 (7.5) 33(7.8) 19 (4.5) 23 (14.6)
TR BIE 44 (4.4) 15 (3.6) 23 (5.5) 6 (3.8)
BEIER
HEAHEERE 433 (43.3) 179 (42.4) 176 (41.7) 78 (49.7)
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Hih 40 (4.0) 15 (3.6) 18 (4.3) 7 (4.5)
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60,000 L _E 103 (10.3) 56 (13.3) 38(9.0) 9(5.7)
TRISER 88 (8.8) 36 (8.5) 39 (9.2) 13 (8.3)
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1. Introduction

Smoking prevalence in Hong Kong was 10.2% in 2019', which
is one of the lowest in the world. There were still 637,900 daily
smokers and the decrease in smoking prevalence has been
slowed down in the past decade. Most of the current smokers
are heavy smokers with low intention to quit and have high
dependence on tobacco. Smoking will kill half of them
eventually and causes about 7,000 deaths each year in Hong
Kong’. Smoking also accounts for a large amount of medical
costs, long-term healthcare costs and productivity loss of
about HK$5.6 billion a year (0.3% of Hong Kong GDP) in 2011°.
Smoking is a highly addictive behaviour, and it is hard for
smokers with strong nicotine dependence to quit without
assistance. However, in Hong Kong, only about 10.0% of the
current smokers who were aware of the smoking cessation
services had ever used the existing smoking cessation (SC)
services'.

“Quit to Win” (QTW) Contest, annually organized by Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health (COSH) in collaboration
with School of Nursing and School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong (HKU) provides an opportunity to
reach and encourage a large number of smokers to make quit
attempt and promote abstinence. Elsewhere, the Quit and
Win model posits that smokers participating in the contest
will have higher confidence and intention to quit with prizes
or incentives and perceived more social support®. Studies
have found that, with awards in such quitting programmes, a
large number of smokers achieved a significantly higher quit
rate for the Quit and Win group than for the control group’.
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The 10" “Quit to Win” Contest cum Smoke-free Community
Campaign was organized by COSH to promote smoking
cessation to the public and motivate community smokers
to quit. It included a sequential, multiple assignment,
randomized trial (SMART) which evaluated the effect of a
combined intervention of personalized instant messaging
(PIM) adapted with optional combined interventions (OCl) on
community smokers who participated in the Contest.

Evidence has shown that mobile phone-based interventions
(mHealth) were effective in promoting abstinence by
delivering remote, low cost, scalable, and tailored cessation
support®. Current mHealth studies mostly deliver automated
and fix-scheduled text messages for cessation support®.
Mobile instant messaging (e.g., WhatsApp), as emerging
alternatives of text messaging services, are potential to
incorporate more personalized behavioural and psychosocial
support during the quitting process.

However, the adherence of mHealth intervention is
suboptimal’. Previous smoking cessation trials showed that
only 16.7% and 24% participants effectively engaged with
the chat support® and mobile phone app use”’, respectively.
Participants non-responding to the minimal mHealth
behavioural support may require and could be benefited
from additional pharmacological or behavioural support'.
Compared with delivering one-size-fits-all treatment
regardless of participants’ responses, adaptively allocating
interventions that are tailored to recipients’ responses can
improve intervention outcome while minimizing unnecessary
treatment burden .



Though the 8" QTW Contest® yielded promising results (8.1%
in intervention group vs. 5.1% in control group for validated
quit rate at 6-month), only 16.7% of participants effectively
engaged in the chat-based intervention. For the rest 83.3% of
participants, who might have busy schedule or not prefer for
the online instant messaging interaction, alternative cessation
support should be offered via diversified channels. Recent
meta-analysis® showed mobile phone-based interventions
are effective for smoking cessation, but the variability of
efficacy suggesting that more personalized mobile phone-
based support is needed. However, conventional clinical
trials using the “one-size-fits-all” approach have limitation on
providing heterogeneous response for individuals >,

Adaptive intervention, which allows changing treatment
according to participants’ smoking status during treatment
period, provides an approach to personalize treatment for
various types of community smokers. Compared to the fixed
intervention, it provides an approach to increase intervention
adherence and personalization”, and increase the
efficiency of the interventions''. Adaptive intervention uses
prespecified decision rules, baseline individual characteristics,
and ongoing outcomes during treatment (e.g. individual’s
response and adherence) to make dynamic intervention
decisions . Adaptive design is widely used in pharmaceutical
research but few studies on smoking cessation .

We propose to use adaptive design for the 10" QTW Contest
specifically a two-phase adaptive design, i.e. a sequential,
multiple assignment, randomized trial (SMART) design.
Optional cocktail cessation supports will be provided based
on smokers’ smoking status and preference. The supports,
including multimedia messages, active referral plus financial
incentive, phone counseling, social support and medications,
are empirically evidence-supported and most have been used
in our previous QTW interventions.

2. Methods

2.1 Recruitment

From 15 June to 29 September 2019, 82 recruitment booths in
shopping malls and public areas were set up in all 18 districts
in Hong Kong and 2 recruitment sessions were conducted
in Stanley Prison and Lo Wu Correctional Institution. Trained
smoke-free counselors proactively approached smokers
in the community, screened for their eligibility, recruited
eligible smokers into the QTW Contest and randomized
controlled trial (RCT), and delivered assigned interventions
to participants. Leaflets and application forms for the QTW
Contest were distributed to around 10,445 members of public
throughout the recruitment period.

Eligibility criteria for RCT participation included:

1. Hong Kong residents aged 18 years or above;

2. Daily smokers who smoked at least one cigarette per day
in the past three months;

3. Able to communicate in Cantonese and read Chinese;

4. Exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) of four parts per million
(ppm) or above;

5. Intended to quit/ reduce smoking;

6. Able to use an instant messaging mobile app for
communication;

7. Currently did not participate in other smoking cessation
programmes

Written informed consent were obtained from all eligible
participants who enrolled in the QTW Contest prior to
delivery of the assigned treatment to the participants.

The allocation sequence was generated using an online tool
(https://www.sealedenvelope.com/simple-randomiser/v1/lists)
with a block size randomized among 2 and 4 and
an allocation ratio of 1:1. The questionnaire with the
identification of group allocation was concealed with
sequentially numbered, opaque, sealed envelopes (SNOSE).
All envelopes were labelled with serial numbers and smoking
cessation counselors were blinded from the allocation
sequence. Group allocation was determined by opening the
SNOSE on site once the consent form was signed. Masking
of the intervention is not possible due to the nature of the
interventions. But the participants were not informed about
the intervention in the other group. Outcome assessors were
blinded to the group allocation.

QTW participants were given the option to participate in
two parallel programmes: the QTW Lucky Draw Programme
or Smoking Cessation Ambassadors Programme. A total
of five biochemically validated quitters at 3-month in the
Lucky Draw Programme won a lottery prize of HK$10,000
supermarket coupon each. Among the participants joining
the Smoking Cessation Ambassador Programme, validated
quitters at 3-month were interviewed and chosen by a
selection committee to win travel vouchers of HK$25,000
to Australia (champion), HK$15,000 to Singapore (1** runner-
up) and HK$10,000 to Thailand 2" runner- up). Nominators
of winners from both programmes were awarded HK$2,000
supermarket coupon each.

2.2 Interventions and Follow-up

Intervention group: At baseline, all participants received
the face-to-face brief interventions, including the AWARD
brief advice, active referral, and a 12-page self-help booklet.
AWARD-guided advice lasted 3-5 minutes and comprised
the following components: Asking about the participants’
smoking history, Warning about the harm of continuing
smoking, Advising them to quit as soon as possible, Referring
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them to SC services, and Doing-it-again, i.e. to repeat
the intervention. The 12-page self-help booklet entitled
“Be smart. Quit now!” was developed by COSH, covering
generic information about the benefits of the quitting; a
self-assessment tool of smoking behaviours and nicotine
dependence; tips on alleviating urges to smoke; information
about smoking cessation aids, withdrawal symptoms and
existing smoking cessation services; and frequently-asked
questions.

After randomization, participants were provided with
mHealth-based support of different strategies via an instant
messaging app in three months. At the initial phase (i.e., the
first month after enrolment), intervention group received
personalized instant messaging support (PIM). Subsequent
treatments were modified based on the smoking status at
1-month follow-up and the second group allocation. Table 1
shows summary of the multi-level interventions in the study
groups.

Table 1. Multi-level intervention strategies and
description

Intervention Group Control Group

Baseline

AWARD brief advice, active referral, 12-page self-help booklet

Phase 1 (1* month)

PIM RIM
Phase 2 (2" & 3" month)
Self-report Self-report Self-report Self-report
Smoking Quitting Smoking Quitting
v
Group A Group B Group C Group D Group E Group F
OCl + PIM PIM PIM PIM + RIM RIM RIM
Note:

PIM: Personalized instant messaging; RIM: Regular instant messaging; OCl:
Optional combined intervention.

The Phase 1 intervention was conducted during the first month after
enrolment, Phase 2 intervention was conducted during the second and
third month after enrolment.
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Participants in the intervention group also received active
referral to smoking cessation services. Similar to the previous
QTW Contests, smoking cessation counselors used a 3-fold
referral card to introduce the existing smoking cessation
services in Hong Kong at baseline, which included (1)
Integrated Smoking Cessation Hotline of Department of
Health, (2) Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre
on Smoking Cessation, (3) Hospital Authority Smoking
Counseling and Cessation Centres, (4) Pok Oi Hospital
Smoking Cessation Service, (5) Youth Quitline and Women
Quitline of HKU. Participants were encouraged to select
a service and complete an active referral form. With the
consent of the participants, their contacts were then sent to
the respective smoking cessation service for further actions.

Personalized instant messaging (PIM): There were two
parts of the personalized behavioural support embedded
in PIM intervention. First, a total of 24 fix-scheduled regular
messages with contents including the harms of smoking,
benefits and methods of quitting, dealing with craving,
and information of smoking cessation services were sent
to initiate the conversation. These regular messages are
personalized to sex, age, daily cigarette consumption, exhaled
carbon monoxide reading, intention to quit, and motivations
of the participant. Those who intended to quit within one
week or at the week of their pre-set quit date received five
messages per week, then cut down to three messages per
week for the next four weeks and then one message per
week for the last seven weeks. Second, smoking cessation
counselors performed real-time, interactive conversation with
responded participants to provide personalized behavioural
and psychological support. PIM intervention was effective to
increase quitting in our previous trial . Any cessation related
questions were answered as soon as possible within working
hours (weekdays from 9:00 am to 6:00 pm).

Optional combined interventions (OCIi): Those participants
who self-reported smoking in PIM group at 1-month were
randomized to receive OCl. Smoking cessation counselors
explained and assisted them to opt sequent interventions at
1-month follow-up. Available intervention options included
(1) multimedia messages, (2) nicotine replacement therapy
sampling (NRT-S, 1-week dosage), (3) financial incentive and
active referral, (4) phone counseling, and (5) family/peer
support group chat. OCl participants who were lost to follow-
up or could not make the decision at 1-month were defaulted
to receive multimedia messages in addition to the PIM. Those
who declined OCI intervention, if any, maintained the initial
treatment.

Control group: Participants received regular instant
messaging (RIM) support with 16 regular messages with a
tapering schedule from twice weekly in the first month to
once a week in the following two months. These messages
covered the same content as the regular messages in the PIM
intervention. Additional four messages were delivered as
reminders for participating in telephone follow-ups. RIM was
unidirectional without real-time reply.



At 1-month follow-up, participants who self-reported
smoking were further randomized to receive continued
RIM or PIM for the following two months as phase two of
intervention.

Non-trial group and Correctional Services Department
group: Participants who joined the Smoking Cessation
Ambassador Programme, those who did not own a
smartphone with an instant messaging app installed,
or those who were unable to read or communicate in
Chinese were assigned to the non-trial group. The non-
trial participants received the same intervention(s) of the
control group. Participants recruited from Stanley Prison and
Lo Wu Correctional Institution of the Correctional Services
Department (CSD) were enrolled as the CSD Group and were
excluded from data analyses to ensure the homogeneous
results of community smokers.

All participants completed the baseline questionnaire and
were followed at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month from baseline. RCT
and non-trial participants were followed by telephone survey
and CSD participants were followed by self-administrated
questionnaire. To enhance the retention rate, an incentive
of HK$100 was given to participants who completed all four
telephone follow-up interviews. Those participants who could
not be reached after a maximum of seven telephone calls
and a voice message at the scheduled follow-up time points
were considered as lost to follow-up. Participants reporting
smoking abstinence (not even a puff) in the past seven days
at 3- and 6-month follow-ups were invited for biochemical
validation. Participants in both groups received a small cash
incentive of HK$500 each for passing the validation at 3- and
6-month follow-ups.

The primary outcome was biochemically validated abstinence,
defined by an exhaled carbon monoxide level of <4ppm and
saliva cotinine concentration of <10ug/L at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups. Secondary outcomes included self-reported 7-day
point prevalence abstinence (PPA), smoking reduction by at
least 50% of baseline cigarette consumption, quit attempts
(abstinence for =24 hours), and smoking cessation service use
since the baseline.

The baseline socio-demographic and smoking profile
of all participants at baseline (N=1,055) were presented
descriptively. The primary and secondary outcomes were
compared between the two study groups by chi-square
tests. Analyses were by intention-to-treat (ITT), such that
participants with missing data were assumed to have no
change in their smoking behaviour, and by complete case (CC),
in which participants with missing outcomes were excluded.
We also assessed participants’ use of smoking cessation
services, change in perception of quitting, quit attempt
and reasons, withdrawal symptoms experienced, perceived
social support for quitting, perceptions and use of smoking
cessation aids provided, and perception of follow-up calls.

3. Results

A total of 82 recruitment sessions were held in the 10" QTW
Contest with over 88,000 people passers-by. Over 11,000
people enquired about the QTW Contest and smoking
cessation, or participated in the smoke-free game booth. The
trained smoking cessation counselors have approached about
7,700 smokers and 17,000 non-smokers in the promotional
activities and recruitment sessions.

A total of 1,143 smokers were recruited and screened for
eligibility by the smoking cessation counselors. 88 smokers
(8.0%) did not fulfil the eligibility criteria (n=16) or declined to
give consent (n=72) and were excluded. Finally, 1,055 smokers
joined the 10™ QTW Contest. After excluding participants
who joined the Smoking Cessation Ambassador Programme,
non-trial Group (n=157) or CSD group (n=54), 844 (80%)
participated in the RCT and were randomized to either the
intervention group (n=422) or the control group (n=422).

Most participants reported recruitment booths as the primary
source for learning about the 10" QTW Contest (88.9%), which
exceeded the other sources by far, such as colleagues, friends
or family members (3.3%), websites (2.1%), and TV (1.5%).

3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics

Table 2 shows among 1,001 participants, most were male
(82.1%) and aged 30-49 years (46.8%). 51.0% were married
or cohabited and 30.7% were living with a child; nearly two-
thirds attained secondary education (60.2%). Nearly half
resided in rented public housing (43.3%) and had monthly
household income below HK$25,000 (40.1%); and most were
self-employed or employed (78.2%).

3.2 Smoking profile

The participants’ mean age of smoking initiation was 18.3
(SD=6.0) years, nearly half (49.4%) started smoking before
the age 18 (Figure 1). Nearly half of the participants smoked
ten cigarettes or below daily (49.7%) (Figure 2). Participants
smoked 14.1 (SD=9.5) cigarettes on average.

Figure 1
Age of starting weekly smokipg in all participants
(N=1,001)

Intervention Control B Non-trial Total

60% —
521
494
50% [~ 46.7 0 46.0
07 05
389

40% [—
30% [—
20% [—
10% [~ 69 0 70 78
- . . H

<17 18-25 226

'Missing data were not shown.
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Table 2. Participants’ baseline demographic characteristics (N=1,001)

n (%) Total Intervention Control Non-trial
(N=1,001) (N=422) (N=422) (N=157)
Gender
Male 822 (82.1) 354 (83.9) 341 (80.8) 127 (80.9)
Female 179 (17.9) 68 (16.1) 81(19.2) 30 (19.1)
Age group (years)
18-29 211 (21.0) 89 (21.1) 84 (19.9) 38(24.2)
30-39 243 (24.3) 94 (22.3) 17 (27.7) 32(20.4)
40-49 225 (22.5) 90 (21.3) 103 (24.4) 32(20.4)
50-59 144 (14.4) 71 (16.8) 53 (12.6) 20 (12.7)
=60 141 (14.1) 60 (14.2) 48 (11.4) 33 (21.0)
Missing (3.7) 18 (4.3) 17 (4.0) 2(1.3)
Marital status
Single 381 (38.1) 162 (38.4) 163 (38.6) 56 (35.7)
Married/ Cohabited 511 (51.0) 222 (52.6) 209 (49.5) 80 (51.0)
Divorced/Widowed 64 (6.4) 22 (5.2) 29 (6.9) 13 (8.3)
Missing 45 (4.5) 16 (3.8) 21 (5.0) 8 (5.1)
Living with a child
No 576 (57.5) 255 (60.4) 240 (56.9) 81 (51.6)
Yes 307 (30.7) 125 (29.6) 132 (31.3) 50 (31.8)
Missing 118 (11.8) 42 (10.0) 50 (11.8) 26 (16.6)
Education level
Primary education or below 71(7.) 24 (5.7) 22(5.2) 25(15.9)
Secondary education 603 (60.2) 265 (62.8) 249 (59.0) 89 (56.7)
Post-secondary or above 264 (26.4) 109 (25.8) 122 (28.9) 33(21.0)
Missing 63 (6.3) 24 (5.7) 29 (6.9) 10 (6.4)
Employment status
Student 32(3.2) 3(3.1) 16 (3.8) 3(1.9)
Self-employed/employed 783 (78.2) 329 (78 0) 338 (80.1) 116 (73.9)
Unemployed 42 (4.2) 0(4.7) 16 (3.8) 6(3.8)
Housewife 25 (2.5) 2(2.8) 10 (2.4) 3(1.9)
Retired 75 (7.5) 3(7.8) 19 (4.5) 23 (14.6)
Missing 44 (4.4) 15 (3.6) 23 (5.5) 6(3.8)
Housing Condition
Public rental housing 433 (43.3) 179 (42.4) 176 (41.7) 78 (49.7)
Public housing (purchased) 129 (12.9) 60 (14.2) 55(13.0) 14 (8.9)
Private housing 338(33.8) 146 (34.6) 143 (33.9) 49 (31.2)
Others 40 (4.0) 15 (3.6) 18 (4.3) 7 (4.5)
Missing 61 (6.1) 22 (5.2) 30(7.) 9(5.7)
Monthly household income (HKS)
Less than 25,000 401 (40.1) 173 (41.0) 155 (36.7) 73 (46.5)
25,000-60,000 409 (40.9) 157 (37.2) 190 (45.0) 62 (39.5)
Above 60,000 103 (10.3) 56 (13.3) 38(9.0) 9(5.7)
Missing 88 (8.8) 36 (8.5) 39(9.2) 13 (8.3)
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Figure 2

Figure 4

Daily cigarette consumption at baseline

Past quit attempt at baseline in all participants

. . e 1 1
in all participants (N=1,001) (N=1,001)
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! Missing data were not shown.

Over one-third of the participants (37.9%) smoked their first
cigarette of the day within five minutes after waking up. More
than half had moderate to heavy nicotine dependence (50.5%)
(Figure 3). Around one-third had no previous quit attempt
(29.7%) (Figure 4). More than one-third was not ready to quit
within 30 days at baseline (41.9%), indicating a low intention
to quit according to the Transtheoretical Model (Figure 5). The
two groups showed similar smoking behaviours and history.

Figure 3

Nicotine dependence at baseline in all participants
(N=1,001) *?

I Intervention = Control B Non-trial 0 Total

60% [

507 510
479 496

50% [— 469 450 449

40% [~
30% [~
20% [~

10% 66 52 ;4 56

0%
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! Nicotine dependence was measured by HSI items: (1) time to first cigarette
and (2) number of cigarettes smoked per day.

’Missing data were not shown.

' Missing data were not shown.

Figure 5
Intention to quit at baseline in all participants
(N=1,001)'
I Intervention I Control B Non-trial I Total
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20%
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Within 7 days
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' Missing data were not shown.

3.3 Study outcomes

Retention rate

The overall retention rates were 78.2%, 71.0%, 69.0% and
79.4% at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups, respectively. The
retention rates were similar between the intervention and
control groups at 1-month (78.7% vs. 75.6%; P=0.29), 2-month
(69.0% vs. 71.6%; P=0.41), 3-month (70.1% vs. 67.1%; P=0.34)
and 6-month (80.3% vs. 78.7%; P=0.55) follow-ups (Figure 6).
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Figure 6 Figure 8
Retention rate of 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
(N=1,001) 6-month follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis
Intervention I Control B Non-trial Total Intervention = Control B Non-trial Total
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30% [~ 10% [
20% [~
10% [—
0% 0%
1-month 2-month 3-month 6-month 3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC
(N=1,001) (N=691) (N=1,001) (N=795)

Primary outcome: Self-reported 7-day point
prevalence abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the overall self-reported 7-day PPA was
19.1% at 3-month and 22.4% at 6-month follow-ups. The
intervention group and control group showed similar
abstinence rate at 3-month and 6-month follow-ups.
Complete case analyses also corroborated the ITT results. The
CC analysis yielded similar results (Figure 7).

Figure 7

Smoking reduction rate at the 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the proportion of participants who cut their
daily cigarette consumption by half or more after joining
the 10" QTW Contest was 20.5% at 3-month and 22.9%
at 6-month among those who failed to quit (Figure 9). No
significant difference in smoking reduction rate was recorded
between the intervention group and control group at all
follow-ups (all P>0.05).

Figure 9

Self-reported abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis

Rate of smoking reduction by at least half in smokers
at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, by ITT and CC analysis
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Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
6-month follow-ups

The overall biochemically validated quit rate was 9.1%
at 3-month and 10.0% at 6-month by ITT analysis. The
intervention group and control group showed similar
biochemically validated abstinence rate at both follow-ups by
ITT and CC analysis (Figure 8).
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By ITT analysis, the overall smoking reduction or quit rate
were 39.6% and 45.3% at 3- and 6-month follow-ups,
respectively (Figure 10). The smoking reduction or quit rates
were similar in the intervention and control groups at 3-month
(38.6% vs. 38.9%; P=0.944) and at 6-month (44.1% vs. 45.3%;
P=0.729) follow-ups. CC analysis yielded similar results.



Figure 10

Rates of smoking reduction by at least half or quit at
3-and 6-month follow-ups, by ITT analysis and CC analysis

Intervention Control M Non-trial Total
70% —
60% [—
50% [— 441 453
40% 386 389
30% [~
20% [~
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3-month ITT 3-month CC 6-month ITT 6-month CC
(N=1,001) (N=691) (N=1,001) (N=795)

Use of smoking cessation services at 1-, 2-, 3- and
6-month follow-ups

There were 798 referral requests to smoking cessation
services made by 634 participants (63.3%) of the 10" QTW
Contest. The cumulative number of referral requests were 276
(65.4%) in the intervention group, compared to 255 (60.4%) in
the control group (Table 3).

Table 3. Status of referral to smoking cessation
service in all participants (N=1,001).

Total Intervention Control  Non-trial
(N=1,001) (N=422) (N=422) (N=157)
Had made
areferral 634 (63.3) 276 (65.4) 255 (60.4) 103 (65.6)
request

Table 4 shows 22.0% of all participants had used smoking
cessation services at least once during the 6-month period
after baseline. The cumulative prevalence of smoking
cessation service use was similar in the intervention group
and the control group at all follow-ups (all P>0.05). The
increases were more than two folds during 6-month and
shown similar situation between the intervention and control

group.

Table 4. Use of smoking cessation service (N=1,001)

Total Intervention  Control  Non-trial

(N=1,001) (N=422) (N=422) (N=157)

1-month 107 (10.7%) 43 (10.2%) 48 (11.4%) 16 (10.2%)
2-month 155 (15.5%) 66 (15.6%) 65 (15.4%) 24 (15.3%)
3-month 193 (19.3%) 85 (20.1%) 77 (18.2%) 31 (19.7%)
6-month 220 (22.0%) 97 (23.0%) 90 (21.3%) 33 (21.0%)

Among all service users in the intervention group, 97 reported
the type of treatment used. The most frequently received
treatment from the SC services was nicotine replacement
therapy (NRT) (63.9%), followed by acupuncture (45.4%) and
face-to-face counseling (24.7%) (Figure 11).

Figure 11

Types of smoking cessation services belng used
among service users (N=97)'.

Nicotine replacement therapy

(e.g. gum/patch/inhaler) 63.9%

Acupuncture 45.4%

Face-to-face counseling 24.7%

Prescription medication

Telephone counseling

'Participants could choose more than one option.

In the intervention group, the majority of participants who
did not use SC service responded that “rely on oneself” (73.7%)
and “too busy” (73.3%) are the reasons for not using.

Self-efficacy of quitting

In a scale of 0 (minimum) to 10 (maximum), the mean (SD)
score of perceived importance to quit smoking, perceived
difficulty to quit smoking, and perceived confidence to quit
smoking in all participants at baseline was 7.14 (2.59), 6.72
(2.69) and 5.55 (2.55), respectively.
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Perceived importance to quit smoking

Among participants whose data were available at all time-
points, the mean scores of perceived importance to quit
smoking slightly increased in control group from baseline to
3-month (7.02 vs. 7.41, P=0.332) and then dropped in 6-month
(741 vs. 7.06, P=0.135). In contrast, the mean scores in
intervention group decreased from baseline to 3-month (7.09
vs. 6.99, P=0.126) and significantly from 3-month to 6-month
(6.99 vs. 6.58, P<0.001). Hence, the mean score in intervention
group significantly declined from baseline to 6-month follow
up (P<0.001) (Figure 12).

Figure 12

Perceived importance to quit smoking (N=516)’'

Total Intervention Control =@ Non-trial
7.8
757 163
76
141
74
72 L7114 125
7:09 : 7.06
70 0 \. 694
6.8 - 69 6.83
6.6 |— 658
6.4
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
- group comparisons
Intervention Control
Baseline to 0.126 0.332 0.677
Smonthto | <0,001 0.135 <0.001
Baselineto | <0.001 0.873 <0.001

' From 0 (not important at all) to 10 (very important); missing data excluded.

Perceived difficulty to quit smoking

In participants whose data were available at all time-points,
the mean score of perceived difficulty in both RCT groups
increased from baseline to 6-month, although the change
in the control group was insignificant (P=0.454). The mean
scores from baseline to 6-month follow-up in intervention
group significantly increased (6.59 vs. 6.90; P=0.031). No
significant difference was found in the mean score of
perceived difficulty to quit smoking between the intervention
and control groups (P>0.05 for all) (Figure 13).
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Figure 13

Perceived difficulty to quit smoking (N=516)"

Total Intervention Control —®— Non-trial
7.8
76 752
7.4
7.2
7.00
70 Do s 3
6.8 (6127 687 690
cs 2 668 675
| 6.59
6.4
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
- group comparisons
Intervention |  Control
Baseline to 0.472 0.466 0.976
dmonthto | 4829 0.270 0.308
Baseline to 0.031 0.454 0.323

' From 0 (not important at all) to 10 (very important); missing data excluded.

Perceived confidence to quit smoking

Figure 14 shows significant decrease in the mean scores
of perceived confidence to quit smoking from baseline to
6-month (5.48 vs. 3.95; P<0.001) or from 3-month and 6-month
(5.34 vs. 3.95; P<0.001) for intervention group. Control
group also experienced a declining pattern from baseline
to 6-month but not significant. Perceived confidence in
control group increased from baseline to 3-month (5.48 vs.
5.65; P=0.249) and then decreased from 3-month to 6-month
(5.65 vs. 5.31; P=0.413). There were significant decreases for
intervention group in follow-ups from baseline to 6-month
and 3-month to 6-month (P<0.001 for both).



Figure 14
Perceived confidence to quit smoking (N=516)'
Total Intervention ==®== Control ==®= Non-trial
55 ’§ g 558 2?
50 8 5.34
475
4.5
4.0 3.95
35
Baseline 3-month 6-month
P value for within-group
comparisons P value for between-
- group comparisons
Intervention Control
Baseline to
3-month 0.967 0.249 0.444
Smonthto | <0,001 0413 <0.001
Baseline to
6-month <0.001 0.340 <0.001

Among participants who made at least one quit attempt
during the study period, the leading reasons for making the
quit attempts were “concern for own health” (69.0%), followed
by “concern about family’s health” (42.7%) and “cigarettes are
expensive” (22.9%) (Figure 16).

Figure 16

Reasons for quit attempts in participants who had at
least one quit attempt during the study period (N=684) "*

Concern for own health 69.0%

Concern about family’s health 42.7%

Cigarettes are expensive

Encouragement from family/
healthcare provider

Commitment to the QTW Contest

10.2%
6.5%

Concern for appearance and image 5.1%

Inconvenient to smoke due to

) 4.6%
less smoking area

Be a role model of children 3.5%
Prove the ability to quit smoking 2.9%
Pregnancy 0.6%

Marriage 0.5%

' From 0 (not confident at all) to 10 (very confident); missing data excluded.

Quit attempt at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

By ITT analysis, with inclusion of quitters, the proportion
of participants with at least one quit attempt was 63.4% at
3-month and 68.3% at 6-month follow-up. The respective
rates were 54.8% and 59.2% when quitters were excluded.
The proportion of participants with a quit attempt at 3- and
6-month were significantly higher in the intervention group
than in the control group with inclusion of quitters (P<0.01),
and the results were consistent when excluded quitters
(P<0.01). (Figure 15).

Figure 15

Quit attempt rates at 3- and 6-month follow-ups

Intervention I Control B Non-trial Total
80% [~
701
70% 64 0650 634 90 671 g 663 60
: 578 = 580 573 592
60% 524 530 548
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0% L L L
3-month 3-month 6-month 6-month
(included quitters; (excluded quitters; (included quitters; (excluded quitters;
N=1,001) N=810) N=1,001) N=777)

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one option.

For participants who made at least a quit attempt, the
most common methods to quit smoking were “rely on their
willpower” (52.9%), “drinking water/ eating snacks” (20.2%)
and “using nicotine replacement therapy” (18.5%) (Figure 17).

Figure 17

Methods of quitting in participants who had at least one
quit attempt during the study period (N=684)"*

Rely on their willpower 52.9%

Drinking water/ eating snacks 20.2%

Using Nicotine Replacement Therapy 18.5%
Stopping buying cigarettes

Receiving counseling through SC dlinics
Receiving medical treatment due to illness
Receiving advices from others

Using drugs for quitting smoking

Joining other SC programmes

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one option.
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Withdrawal symptoms were assessed at 1-, 2- and 3-month
follow-ups. Among the participants who had at least one
quit attempt, the most common withdrawal symptoms were
“craving for tobacco” (57.7%), followed by “anxiety” (36.2%)
and “difficult to concentrate” (29.4%) (Figure 18).

Figure 18

Withdrawal symptoms experienced by participants
who had at least one quit attempt by 3-month follow-up
(N=684) "*

Craving for tobacco 57.7%

Anxiety 36.2%

Difficult to concentrate 29.4%
Increased appetite 28.0%
Gaining weight 22.7%
Cannot sleep well 20.9%
Irritated/lose temper/angry 19.4%
Depressed 14.3%

Insomnia 11.4%

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one option.

Perceived social support for quitting

Among the participants who responded to 3- and/or 6-month
follow-ups, the most common sources of perceived support
were from “smoking cessation counselors, volunteers and
other people (63.1%), “spouse/partner” (21.9%), followed by
“parents” (16.6%) and “children” (12.9%), and “friends” (12.2%)
(Figure 19). However, about one-fourth (23.4%) of participants
perceived no social support.

Figure 19

Perceived social support for quitting in all participants
who responded to foIIow-ur1>s2 in the study period
(N=850) "

Others (e.g. smoking cessation counselors,
volunteers and other people)

Spouse/ partner

63.1%
21.9%
Parents 16.6%
Children 12.9%
Friends 12.2%
Siblings

Other relatives
Colleagues

Healthcare professionals

None 23.4%

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
? Participants could choose more than one option.
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Use and satisfaction of smoking cessation aids
provided

Printed materials

Among the participants who responded to the 6-month
follow-up, most (82.8%) reported having read the printed SC
materials (Figure 20). More participants in the intervention
group read the printed SC materials (92.3% vs. 75.0%; P<0.01)
and think that they could be motivated by SC materials to quit
(89.4% vs. 60.7%; P<0.01)

Figure 20

Experience of reading printed SC materials at 6-month
follow-up™?

Intervention = Control B Non-trial Total
100% 923 894

82.8

80% 750 774 733
60%
40%

20%

0%
’ Read the printed materials The materials could motivate him/her to quit
(N=795) (N=747)

! Participants who were lost to follow-up were excluded.
* Missing data were not shown.

Among the participants who had never read the printed SC
materials, “put the booklet aside” was the most frequently
reported reason (35.8%), which was followed by “not
interested” (22.6%) and “too busy” (21.9%) (Figure 21).

Figure 21

Reasons for not reading the printed materials of
participants (N=137) "?

Put the booklets aside 35.8%

Not interested 22.6%

Too busy 21.9%
Lost the booklet 20.4%

Perceived the booklet as not useful 10.2%

! Participants could choose more than one option.

? Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6-month or with missing data
were excluded.



Analyses of the intervention effect on smoking
cessation outcomes

Experience of using chat support (PIM) in intervention
group only

In intervention group, 28.6% of participants who responded
to the 6-month follow-up used chat support. The most
common reasons of not using the chat support are “too
busy” (25.0%), “not want to mention smoking” (22.2%), “not
know how to send messages” (6.1%) and “perceived it as not
useful” (2.7%) (Figure 22).

Figure 22

Reasons for not using chat suPport of participants
(N=245)"

Too busy 25.0%

Not want to mention smoking 22.2%

Not know how to send messages
Perceived it as not useful

Others 60.6%

! Participants could choose more than one option.

? Participants who were lost to follow-up at 6-month or with missing data
were excluded.

Self-reported engagement in the chat support (PIM) with
quitting outcomes

By ITT analysis, the participants actively engaged in the
chat support (those who reported have replied at least two
messages, confirmed by conversation log) had significantly
higher validated abstinence and self-reported 7-day PPA
at 3- and 6-month follow-ups (all P<0.001). The smoking
reduction by at least half of baseline at 3-month was higher
in participants actively engaged in the chat support than
those who were not engaged (30.9% vs 17.5%, P=0.003) but
no significant difference at 6-month (24.7% vs 23.4%, P=0.78)
(Figure 23).

Figure 23

Self-reported engagement in the chat support (PIM)
with quitting outcomes in the PIM group
(ITT analysis, N=422)

B Engaged chat support (N=97) Not engaged (N=325)

40%

340 330 209
30% ;
7 B7 27 934
20% 166 17.5
132
10% 49 62
0%

3-month 6-month 3-month 6-month 3-month 6-month
biochemically biochemically PPA PPA smoking reduction smoking reduction
validated validated byatleast50% by atleast 50%
abstinence abstinence of baseline of baseline

PPA: Self-reported 7-day point-prevalence abstinence
Reduction by at least 50%: exclude quitters.

Any use of OCl with quitting outcomes in the OCl group

Among all 273 participants of the OCl group, 61.2% had ever
used any of the OCl component. The participants who ever
used OCI had slightly higher validated abstinence than those
who had not used at 6-month (6.0% vs. 2.8%, P=0.25)(Figure
24). Self-reported abstinence and smoking reduction were
also not significantly higher for those who have engaged the
OCl (P ranged 0.095-0.97).

Figure 24

Any use of OCl with quitting outcomes
in the OCI group (N=273)

B Have used (N=167) Never used (N=106)

30%
263
210 208 26
20%
144
120 13
10% 8.5
54 6.0
28
09
0%
3-month 6-month 3-month 6-month 3-month 6-month
biochemically biochemically PPA PPA smoking reduction  smoking reduction
validated validated byatleast50% by atleast 50%

abstinence abstinence of baseline of baseline

PPA: Self-reported 7-day point-prevalence abstinence
Reduction by at least 50%: exclude quitters.
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4. Discussion

From June to September 2019, the 10" “Quit to Win” Contest
successfully spread the smoking cessation messages in the
community by holding 82 recruitment sessions in shopping
malls and streets with the helps from 72 university students,
NGO helpers and volunteers in 18 districts throughout
Hong Kong. About 7,700 smokers were approached by the
Smoke-free counselors and 1,143 smokers participated in the
Contest. By intent-to-treat analysis, the overall self-reported
abstinence rate was 19.1% at 3-month and 22.4% at 6-month
for all participants. The abstinence rate of the 10" “Quit to
Win” Contest was the highest compared with the previous
results.

A novel study design, SMART, was nested with the 10" QTW
Contest to examine the effectiveness of a personalized,
real-time, interactive chat-based intervention adapted
with additional cessation supports for non-quitters (PIM
group) compared with the generic smoking cessation
messages adapted with chat support for non-quitters
(RIM group). The significance of the study is that it is
the first SMART conducted to identify specific adaptive
intervention strategies that better address the continue
smokers to a successive cessation provided in a scalable
community setting. Given its pragmatic study design, this
study embedded and tested two mHealth intervention
approaches delivered via a prevalent, convenient, and low-
cost instant messaging app installed in smartphone. In the
8™ QTW Contest, participants who continued to smoke after
receiving the interactive chat-based cessation support noted
the need for more personalized and adaptive interventions.
The premise that intervention needs to adapt systematically
to the changing needs and experiences of the individuals
provides a framework that closely resembles clinical practice
and is consistent with the management of chronic disorders
such as smoking .

In this study, participants receiving the PIM-based adaptive
intervention showed higher validated abstinence at
6-month. However, the findings did not support an overall
superior effect of PIM across all quitting outcomes. RIM
group reported a similar self-reported 7-day PPA, smoking
reduction, and reported more quit attempts across the 4
follow-ups. Nevertheless, both the PIM and RIM intervention
produced satisfactory abstinence rate as compared with
previous smoking cessation programme using similar
mHealth intervention. When accounting for the combined
intervention strategy, mHealth-based smoking cessation
intervention delivered via instant messaging was feasible
and effective either with or without the interactive chat-
based support. This finding suggests an overall benefit of
behavioural support delivered via mHealth interventions.

By using an adaptive smoking cessation intervention that
tailored to the individual responses in terms of the smoking
status, interactivity, and preferred treatment, this trial offered
a valuable opportunity to optimize the treatment with its
flexibility. Personalized adaptive intervention approach was
expected to have an important role in improving smoking
cessation outcomes by better addressing the specific needs
of the continued smokers at an individual-level. However,
the results in this study implied that the designed adaptation
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strategies for a more personalized intervention have not
yet improved effectiveness compared with continued &
fired strategies. Similar findings were reported in a recent
systematic review and meta-regression of individual-level
smoking cessation intervention (e.g. telephone interview,
text messages, financial incentive, brief advice) tailored to
the socioeconomic position, which found no consistent
evidence of the superior effect of a more personalized
intervention (adjusted odd ratio 1.01, 95%Cl 0.81 to 1.27)"°.
However, a direct comparison with prior smoking cessation
studies was not feasible due to different study design,
participants’ characteristics, settings, and the intervention
components and intensity.

This trial further highlighted the challenges in achieving
improved smoking cessation through adapting the mHealth-
based behavioural intervention with a combination of
additional cessation support or in a higher intensity.
Findings from this study should be considered in light of
its several limitations. First, due to the nature of multiple
adaptive interventions, the study provides little insight into
the mechanisms and effect of each intervention component.
Second, the sequence of the intervention components also
raises the question whether the pattern of results would
be similar if more personalized supports were offered first.
However, in keeping with the principle of stepped care,
the ultimate goal of this SMART is to inform an adaptive
intervention where the more resource-intensive support
(e.g. OCl) would be provided only when the initial and less
costly intervention (e.g. instant messaging) is not sufficient.
Third, the trial participants were predominantly male (82.1%),
which was because of the much higher smoking prevalence
in male than in female in Hong Kong (18.1% vs. 3.2%)".
The effect of such personalized intervention in smoking
population (e.g. in most western countries) with higher ratio
in female smokers warranted further investigation. Finally,
as participants were recruited from the community settings,
the generalizability of the findings for smokers in clinical
settings and those who actively seek for smoking cessation
treatment remained unknown.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the 10" “Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign, encompassing smoking cessation counselors
training, the “Quit to Win” Contest, smoke-free community
promotion and a trial, successfully delivered smoke-free
messages to a large number of non-smokers and promoted
smoking cessation in smokers in the community. Interactive
mobile instant messaging was potent and promising in
combination of additional cessation support for smoking
abstinence. Moreover, carrying out a SMART was feasible in
informing an efficacious adaptive intervention in a cohort
of largely unmotivated smokers from community. Further
research on adaptive interventions for those with poor
treatment responses are needed to advance the sequenced
intervention strategy and with longer follow-up (e.g. 12
months) period.

6. Clinical trial Registration
Trial registry: ClinicalTrials.gov, number NCT03565796.
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ST o

23 BB

FAEENBETERBBEIAENREERST > UREAKRRE
BRIV E R o BB D Atz BB B EMREZ D o
FIESHENELZZOBE » SEREER - gk
BAIRIEZE ~ AR M IR EEREE - THHE FRMEE D
BoE2—E4E GRREE DA EREESADAE
WARRIEE D AMA) B2 RERER TABRIRIBEIEREE o
ELEPE R EIEEE —FIENER (n=2,273) ~ EZEREZE
& (n=2,260) HIEELL[F (n=1,839) % o [{— B AN
FEFEIERNMEEREE o

24 BEREt O

PSR AIZ 2021 FEFBAOBIMER ~ F8 RIRIER T
MERE (FEEAFBSEE HEtzEme AL~ 4
ERERERIRKEER) MY BEEESETEEED
Mo MiRRERR s REREREER (TRBEAREH
hEGR) ERBID o ARIBNEERUR SRR KRG %D
ERBITE o FTE#ET DT LL STATA (B2 15.1, TX: StataCorp
LP) 17 » #Rst EEEEMKFES P <0.05 ©
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3. %
31 BRI EAOSE

R"— IEREFHTEAORE ( UIRERREIS )

RERREE BEE RFREE ELE P&
(n=1,701) (n=1,710) (n=1,701) (n=5,112)
(%) (%) (%) (%)
all <0.001
S 40.1 84.8 82.2 47.1
pegi 59.9 15.2 17.8 52.9
FHe (57) <0.001
15-29 18.4 2.4 9.1 16.6
30-39 16.2 8.4 17.0 15.9
40-49 15.8 12.6 25.1 16.6
50-59 17.8 20.1 21.8 18.4
60 E¢LL E 30.6 55.8 26.3 31.6
ARE /B 1.2 0.8 0.9 1.0
HEEE <0.001
INEFLH 12,9 17.9 12.2 13.0
=a=] 45.6 54.0 60.0 47.5
KE [ KBS E 40.7 27.2 27.1 38.6
ARE /B 0.8 1.0 0.7 0.8
TMEER <0.001
REAL 456 431 68.1 47.9
S 10.2 0.4 1.1 8.8
EIREREE 16.4 5.2 36 14.5
KEAL 36 37 6.1 38
57N 23.0 46.8 203 24.0
THE /B 1.3 0.8 0.9 1.1

BRI 2021 FEBAONMER] » F8RRER R MINEEE
RHREAE T RIERRESR

x® 1 BERIRFREE (73.2%) MIEMES (88.5%) LEER  iE (P<0.001) ° IREFFIRIEE AT EA THILEA] (68.1%) 8
IRIEE (64.2%) BAEASER 40 s _E AT (P<0.001) o REARIRIEE (45.6%) MIEMIEE (43.1%) ES (P<0.001) ©
HEKFEIKRE /KB EBEE BRI RIEE
(40.7%) BREMIEZE (27.2%) MIRFKFREE (27.1%) BE
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3.2 EE_FENBR

#J75R% (57.6%) ZshERTIBECLHA » BEXRF ~ T1E
SPTSEM SRR " FIE - B —R 11.8% NRHE
TEECHRNEEEEI ZFIE > H 6.9% ABUEEREZE
i BHELH - WKREET » EREEE ZFELE
Bl (17.1%) BEARIEE (11.4%) HEMEE (7.4%) B5
(P<0.001) ©

_

BETHERFEZEE _FIENER
(n=2,273)

| Y= D ERA=
20%

117.1%
15% —

10% — 11.4% 11.8%

74%
5%
0% "
wAREE  EREE  REREE EEES
(n=849) (n=850) (n=574) (n=2,273)

HERIZ 2021 FEBADNMNR » FERRIER T MIIERE
A BB E HRER R ZREFR (P < 0.001) °

-
ERSZHERE Lt BETERHEE _FIENER
(n=1,053)
| B O ERA=
50% .
47.6%
40% —
30% — 30.9%
20% — 2.2%
17.0%
0% =

WAREE  CRES
(n=320) (n=367)

RERIEE G
(n=366) (n=1,053)

HERI% 2021 FEBAONER] ~ FE8RRER T D AIMNEERE
7B E R IRIEM T Z 2BARE (P < 0.001) ©

B BnEiREtER A 222% WERSHEE LS
PR —FE > HF 141% BNE L B @S —FE -
RFREETT TIEGPT MR — FIERIELBI (47.6%) 84
NIRIEE (17.0%) M EFUEE (30.9%) & (P<0.001) ©

Bl= R 42.2% B HETE RN LRSI LM 75 G E
TFIE HR17.9% EUNEL BEEE —FIE o IRRFIRIE
E (47.7%) BRTRIZEE (41.8%) ITHIEE (37.2%) B
ERTE bt 5158 — FIE (P<0.001) ©

BE=
iBEE BERF TIESFRIMN 5 126 — FIERYIER
(n=2,273)
| REY:] [ ERA:]
50% — ~
47.7%
40% — T 41.8% . T42.2%

37.2%
30%

20% —

10% —

0, I
0% o
(n=2,273)

RIS E
(n=574)

RAREE EMES
(n=849) (n=850)

MERIZ 2021 FEBAONMNR » FHERRIER RO HIIREE -
R RERPRE HBIRIER R 2 FEAR (P < 0.001) ©
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R RIPRIFESEFAIAIMERE_FIEaHT (n=924)
WRmEE emEE IR IR EE ELE P&
(n=342) (n=320) (n=262) (n=924)
(%) (%) (%) (%)

Bt 75.5 69.9 59.3 733 <0.001
NEMEMAKE T 1.9 14.4 49 1.2 <0.001
AHZIBT ARER 1.7 7.8 49 10.6 <0.001
HIRIE 18 7.7 7.2 20.7 9.2 <0.001
ENES - BERE B~ BRTS 9.0 5.2 0.9 7.9 <0.001
RIS 6.0 5.1 47 5.8 <0.001
FiNERR 33 4.0 52 3.6 <0.001
AHZETAR 42 0.8 0.0 35 <0.001
HrARZE AL 3.0 1.0 1.7 2.8 <0.001
EFEREFEAOM 2.7 3.1 0.9 2.5 <0.001

BRI 2021 FEBAOMNMER] » FERRIER T MEINEEE
RAEERAE T IRERRER o

x®Z BRTHEBATCHEEE _FENZHER > ERF
R IR LSMNEREEI — FERNGRET > RAZENE
EHE (733%) - ERBAEBMEMAKEMTS (11.2%)
AHZBTABEER (10.6%) ~ HIREZE (9.2%) ~ ER
B% s BEAE HT BRTIS (7.9%) ~ BI85 (5.8%)
FAMERE (3.6%) ~ AHIBET AR (3.5%) ~ AKEE
AOSh (2.8%) MEERIEH AL (2.5%) °

HIEMS o AT RENAT M A EST > JEREE (8
ERAREEBEMIES) BB —FZENERRIBEK
EEBALZIE o A > TBENRENE  RFREEE
R — FIENLL A EE SN AREENERIES » NhL
RAFF=IE (20.7% L 7.7% EE 7.2%) (P<0.001) #15 9h& EE
(5.2% Lt 3.3% £t 4.0%) (P<0.001) ©

3.3 ATFEREE

BN #nmRENEARIERARIISE  KEDREER
BEEEAZARTETEREER (94.3%) ~ AR5 PR
BWERRM (93.7%) ~ HFEE ~ NE -~ RS KRB K
WELIMOKEER (90.2%) ~ BRENAHLISHT (EAK
=5 ZRBER (90.1%) ~ HA ZERIMKE (87.8%)
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TAEBE (83.0%) « FTIERE LENARM T (79.8%) ~
FEH EP1TRF (79.7%) ~HFAKIEPISN = KEE A (79.6%) ~
EWAFBAEEE (79.5%) % BB 5B =E I & 5
(66.8%) © T =" (64.0%) ZIFNFABEINARIGFTE

= .

BARERZ ERIAM S ERAREEN ERIEE T
YESBREMST - #ARKREENIFEEEXRE
BNERFHEZFRBEEERBAEARL MG « Hh
BB=9 "HNRFRESZFELARMSFIE &BIERMA
(82.9%) ~ AHIIBT EIZEHRER (81.5%) ~ #B RENFK
B (78.2%) > FIZhHMERE ~ /NEE ~ hE8 IR IRBR R i B 4L
M KEEMA (75.2%) BIBRIEE o IR 2 ILTEEE
FUEMEZE SN, (29.7%) FFFEEINARIGAR (30.0%) IR
ENSZRFEARIE



[&] [T

SRR AR AEZEREERILESI (n=2,260)

B e RoREE (n=849) B eavEE =50 [ BEREE (h=561)

100% — 95.9 94.5 94.3 95.1 92.1 93.7
80% —
60% —
40% —
20% —

0%

I 2% (n=2.260)

92.1 88.9 90.2

AHZIBETA NERMT LHAEE ~ NB ~ FhEB  RBRER R EE R

B FRA R ERR

100% — 92.4 89.2 90.1 89.1 87.7 87.8
80% —|
60% —|
40% —
20% —

0%

BREBENATEE (EAR N HERENFRKER
IKEBE A

100% —
80% —
60% —
40% —
20% —

0%

FREA LENARMTT ER LB TR o

100% —
80% —
60% —
40% —
20% —

0%

EBIENFA ARG BRERBEBEINE

MER¥% 2021 FEBAOMNIMER] » FE8RRER DD MINEEE
R RERPR B HBIRIER A R EREE (7P < 0.001) °

SMOKEBEIPY

86.7 ¥ 83.0

TABRE

HFRARIEPISNIRKEEE P

PREEINATRIGRR
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R 1E i'ﬂfwﬁln?_nﬂ&iﬁ ST EAMEEE « BsE ] Bl R 79.6% NS ESISREIETaSE A A HEEE
FRSHEE oW ERESIFUBIL 1,500 T c B HEER813% BEAMNEAIRETAS LEAEEM  IRFETERFERES
Eﬁxﬁﬁ%i%kaf MEEEGIRENEREIINEE X (57.8%) RRURARIEE (82.2%) MEMIEE (80.0%) /&
FEERRBRES (36.6%) PRIEAREE (87.1%) M1IE  (P<0.001) ©

AZEE (76.8%) 18 (P<0.001)

Sk

&R

3
TR S EGIRIEE EE S A S AR LE 5 THRTESFIAEAAEEEERNESRETS
(n=2,260) & AR EELR (n=2,260)
100% = g7 100% —
76.8 81.3
80% —| ' 80% —|
60% — 60% —
40% — 366 40% —
20% — . 20% —
0% i i i 0%
RAREE ' BREE  HERES “agy TﬁéT”&kE% E'FJUE% Iﬁﬁﬂﬁkﬁ% S
(n=849) (n=850) (n=561) (n=2,260) (n=849) (n=850) (n=561) (n=2,260)
AR 2021 FEBAONMR ~ S8 RIRIER T IR o ERZ 2021 FEBAONMR ~ FiRERRER R IR
RHREBATE IR ER R = 2EERE (P < 0.001) © AR E AR E R L = EAERE (P < 0.001) ©
34 EBKF
+
IFERALREREEEF (n=1,839)
B #FREE (n=849) B eRES (=429 [ BERES (n=561) I 488 (n=1,839)
100% — 932 ggy 90.9
80% —
60% —
40% —
20% —
0% —
RAFFR RS R B REE G “EEE%EE’JHEEE REANLEHMB A AIEERRE
100% B 6 DR EAEEER
80% —|
60°/: | 633 694 614 626 674 603
40% —
20% —|
0% —|
2 EFTAERIEIN B IR IEER L ZE 50038 LA TS 2201 FEHUBHEENAL
VBB BEERE TR B AR B G
ER 2021 FEBAONMER « F8ERRER DD FHINERRE ©
R AR E R IR ER R 2= 22ERRE (P < 0.001) ©
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Bt B8R 90.9% By 5HE 255 A MR B IR IE E an sk 1L 3 2
HIE > 73.9% PR EEFHENR AL ZFE R/ A
56.6% X IFREATEMR LD AIBENRREMERE
me BFTHEIRRILBERAEERELUMIERE
m (61.4%) ~ BREXKESHIUTHEHME2ARE
(60.3%) MZELE 2021 FHUBREENALTRBEMERE
m (52.3%) ° BEARKIRIES WEFKE R SFHEY
AR > BNHBEBIB=7— (37.6%) IREEBRIERKE
5% A TR EREEmRIE

4, i
41 “FEREES

BERNEZCRERNEMBEENMIDEINATM T
KNEERETRDEEE KRS (57.6%) NWEEHRIZEEEI—
FIE AN =ZERPEED _FENZHE - HN=D"
EIEGMEMEE —FENTRZSE > URADZHEH
it SR — FIENRER AR AT —FE =
BEZE/MDMNE - BIAFNIEEERASHEL  BEXtHA
TSR P4EME — F V& (2021 : 11.8% > 2020 : 12.7% > 2018
“#y 0142%) MTETESGTIEE —FE (2021 1 22.2% >
2020 : 22.2% > 2018 € — &5 . 25.4%) BYLLEABIF o 1T 4
FBEFR > AP (42.2%) mREXRT LIESTLUSIMNIM S
BED ZFE HPUH L EE - FERAEIRE o PR
EEEHRERES 2018 (F ) PR D HHE 15.3% M
26.0% NEAMREBE T BRI MEMERI S
RE=FE EEERRMEZTERE—TEXEITRE
& UREIFIRIES ©

AT S E)H ERE D RS ERE R I A B
A SRR o BIE > KB HACHE GR -~ Hiis
R 7 EE /B EEE (555 R
) " B GRS - RERRAT) 2 1y
REAZENLREA CRMN - B4 MEAZH M -
HE -~ BAR  EIFREDHHUTS) o BT REFRE
EERPREFEGE  HHBEREFTEARIERT
R NS H (RIREHRER) ' RE 7 RER (RRA
BRE) o " EETSERTHERENEREY > 2B
B -

TRABAREEEZEAHLSGH - BRENMS (ED
st ERIAD) DURFIEEINAHIGREIE (64.0%) BY
XFESE - MERFREET  BAREBEARMS

PREWmIERD s ARIBTEGRER - HARBHNKE
W~ ZhHEE NS B RS A E 2RI K&
BN~ &RBRENAHIGH (ERAMUKREIN = KBEAL
SXFEAEMS - BN - FEHAHFEREEN AR
M ERFRINLE > BIFREREALIERERE » LHE
BRERBENRZHAERIIFEIRIZFHIIGFT

42 BEERE

R EEARR B ARTE 2025 FIZAT 0 R 15 RIA AL
AYIRIEZRAE 2010 FRI7KFIEME 30% - HEmmiar & IEHIIEE
Y5 o BBBUFMKIRIEEAR > 12 2018 3555 (B[R 2025 :
BBIFERRIIEREE RITENSTEI) - LUR 2025 FRIFEE
IRIERZE 7.8% mEP—EBIR -

BEREAMEBREEE—D ;T UBERBER (BRE
KEEZE 5% LT MR IEEERIT - Al EERBHIE
BB D RIS - (1) HEREEMRRE > W
BBREFIELT FEULEREMMBEREIHAE LR
BRIEPREERESHHRIFIHAT OO ; (2) HEE
FAERREE > IAREEREERRKRIUEEGE > MALE
BEEEERTREFMHIUBHENAL ; 3) HEHH/
HERYRES > MBS WNREEMHIE ; LUKk (4) SHEREHE
BRI > WAEE R BEUEZEET - BRIBL
QFEMARGIE 7 BfE U LIESKE R Etha# ik
EIETHEE > NEEHA (FIEEFIRLESEET
2009 FRMUBHEMNAL) ~ REIREERNZTERRE R
HOREESNELE T8

ARFAEHRZEERRERBESERS T ARE
MR Y& E Cos& L B AR E (90.9%) ek BIEEIHE AR
BERDACER (73.9%) > TFE =D (60.3%) ZehEZH
EEBRERERE 5% AU THERZERE - TARK
AXFT  BFERREEAEEERRRBNEREL
RIEEERFEE > FERFIIRBITIEEEER
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5. HAERR

FBEERBE—ERR - F— FMEBEFIAEESBETI
&> HEREREREHESHE  EBENBNER T
Br] U EshEEFLERRNRIE - £ XhHRH
PARRIIREERSE AL - HEMFITE 2016 FHAIA DM
EEB 15 A EADBIEEHIZ 96.7% ° 5= » LUREE
ANETHEESEEAERE - HE R TERRE - HIEEKR
REZVRRIVEERVEEEF - AILREEZEMEN /
BXZIBRTE ©

6. LS

FBEEWRFLHBAMNERF « TIFHAAMEMM 53
R —FE - AR BRLIEREENXFEIFES o B
FERERBENEZERER » UREFFREERT —FEE
= SRR AT AR B L IR IRIEE AUE © BUF IR FRS]
VEBRBER  URBERTEAEEmIERRE - HEH
RIERLEXSH BT LEEKE B RMBEIREM  BUTFE
2EBLEER > AHETESHNEBFIEE CHERRE
BiRkstE] o

7. Hfth4S

71 REERAREELNBER

s BEARTENNEER > HEMBXS (9.4%)  H
&I (1.2%) ~ BFIE (1.0%) ~ IEESEESR (10
HJZ) (0.8%) ~ KIE (0.7%) ~ FHEE (0.6%) ~ =3
(0.4%) FIEAE (0.1%) °

s HERBEENERERREES  FHEIESXREES 130
SZHEIE o IBHH (52.4%) HES T ARSHKRE » £
FEPRE -/ N\EF IR 35 —S2IE o

7.2 RIEFES

o PUAY (42.5%) BRERIESE T RIBE L HBEERES
#h (MNIIRESS ~ 28) RERIEER °

o BRREETFIEHEREAERBIREER3TRX
(1B%EZE 127) o
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73

74

HIBENE X

SHEU N BEBRABENEEIZETD *HROD (5
2HEZE) T109 GEEES) » FI9:F0 A 849 (12
HEFE 1 20) o

THEU N BRRABIEI RIS 509 (52
2R L) E 105 GEHES LB » THIHB 75
5 (s 1 23) o

KA RERIEEmRKENE A

INERYE

o TEMEMEAENZHET > 4.0% FTEERK
+ZEARNREBINEE © 61.7% HFAEXHE
M 62.9% FYIRRFIRIEE DR INFVEL I BHEIE
REER -

o FEMBMENZHENU 1 BERAMBEN
BEREEND B0 (E2EE) E109 GF
BAEE)  TIEIOR 7T 0 (REE 123) -

o FEBEMBERZHEMN 11 BEBRAMBMERN
EIZESTD > B 0D (BEEFELMRE) £10
D OFERZ LR T nR7.20 (REE:
2.5) °

74.1

o WFE (41.7%) REREF (23.4%) B BEER
INEVEEFRINAENERREA o

BTE

o HENBEFENZGHES  27% FTEERK
TERARRBFIE -

s HNEBFENZHET  NW=D"KMEX
& (63.9%) MIRFREE (68.7%) 8RB
FEHMRBEREED -

s MEBTENZHEUN BMERABTEN
BEREND B0 E2EE) E100 GF
BEE) > HTRTNA79D (BEE 1 21) ©

s MEBFEMNZHEUIN BEXRAETFIEN
REIZERTD > B0 (REFE LR £10
D OFREES L) - FIHD /750 (IREE!
22) o

o UFEF (44.0%) BBEEAEFEESEHAEFE
NWEZREA o

74.2



7.5

7.6

7KIE
o HIENKENSHEU N HBERAKENEE

BESD B0 G28F) 2109 FF
BE) » TN A 730 (IBEE 1 25) ©

o FEKENZHEMN 1 BERAKIENRE
BESD #00 (E2FELE) E105
GFEEZ M) » T19:F0 % 6.8 0 (IREE !
26) °

74.3

EEES

H=7" (65.4%) BEREERTNBE=THKER
BARAEINTEEHNEEERMY) - BIRINEEE
EERTINERIRIEE (54.7%) MEMEE (52.2%) 18
H#g/b (P<0.001) o

63.2% MSHERETEEHNEEERMRIIREE
B o LEBITEIRIFIRIESE A (50.1%) B AR RIEE
(64.8%) MEMIEZE (65.5%) 1& (P<0.001) °

H—F 521%) ZHESZRFR LT EERRYIER
Em o thAIEIRIEIRIEEF (35.0%) B AIRIEE
(54.3%) MEMIEE (51.5%) 1& (P<0.001) ©

EEBRE

FHAREREESR N (90.4%) RiBE=+HA
BEEBEERBE INEZERETR ) BEBETRW
WEARIRIEE (50.3%) FEMIEE (53.7%) BILLHE D
(P<0.001) ©

ERE=THRNEEREERRETHNHREKRES
> 451% ERERENREE ~ 147% FEEANE
7.2% S{FIEERBIRIEITR ©

=9 (63.0%) NS HES R CHFREZEERE
o FEIRFFIRIEED » TIFE (42.4%) BIEANRIEE
(65.8%) MEMIEZE (63.8%) & (P<0.001) ©

1B (544%) BHESREMEESLTELE - T8

RFIRIEE T (30.0%) » ZIFEBREAIRIEZE (57.6%)
FEMEE (55.1%) 1% (P<0.001) ©

7.7

7.8

79

HE E s M ALE AR TS

WEH— (185%) FERBEFBET —EANEE
SURUE o

Wtn— (14.2%) RERIEE BIEEAMIERT o

EERBAERBRIRFREES &% AAER
BN E#HE (15.3%) » HRABEAN (11.2%)
BAEEE (8.5%) M/VEEE (3.1%) ©

ma— (25.4%) BEREESGERETAN—EREE
o REANERBERESOR (15.1%) M IER
(14.7%) > HRAMIENE (8.7%) ~ MIEZEY) (3.0%)
# % (2.6%) FHE (1.2%)

EER

D= (72.9%) REHE ZHRE 2022 FIEHNEER
34.3% VR IBIEMELLIBRS - ARFREET » T
FE (24.3%) B IRIEE (78.8%) FIEAMIEE (71.1%)
& (P<0.001) o

BiB=79T (68.1%) RFEZFEFILMEER
30.9% SRRBIGIBELLIEARS o TEIRFIREE S » i
Z (21.2%) BREARIRIEE (74.0%) M EMIEE (66.5%)
& (P<0.001) ©

WREEZEE LT B (54.5%) REREE S
VHIFBEEHER D —F o AEERVIRENEE
ZEENFIENFRUSD B A B 107.3 TTREBE
100.0 7 ©

MRBESTEB LA BF (53.8%) IRKFREEZH
HIEIE o TIHEBNAEMNISIES EENFIEEM NS
DRI ABRE 130.7 7oA 100.0 7T ©

MBRHBETEBLEFA > =9 (66.2%) BEREES
BLERBHEEHESR D —F ARG o oJESR
DIRESAIER 6 IE S EER FI9EMPUE D2
B1E 115.5 JT B 100.0 7T ©

#2019 BB RERIENE X

REREE ZREGERIES 2019 BRRBEHHROERE
Fon (REFEE) 2109 (R2EE) HEXRS
BEREERTARERRESIE N 2019 ERHBHH
R (F199 2.8 ) SUEMRARE EEERR (F

169 ——




— 170

199 48 93) ; K » BREERRREERED N
2019 AR SHHEAER (199 5.1 9) I mEiZ%
LB FHEERR (F199 6.9 49) o

#9—R% (10.2%) IREFIRIEE FIEIPIRY (43.6%) BAUE
F1E 2020 £ 12 BBV R BIREHAREIR D IRE o
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1. Introduction

Smoking is a major cause of premature death. One in every
two smokers dies early because of smoking. It is estimated
that active smoking causes more than 6,100 deaths each year
in Hong Kong, mainly from non-communicable diseases such
as cancers and cardiovascular diseases.'

Smoking also harms non-smokers as secondhand smoke
(SHS) contains over 7,000 chemicals, including at least 69
carcinogens.’ Exposure to SHS increases the risk of developing
severe diseases, such as respiratory diseases, cardiovascular
diseases, and cancers.’> SHS exposure also causes sudden
infant death syndrome, acute respiratory infections, ear
problems, and more frequent and severe asthma attacks in
children.’ In 2011, nearly 700 non-smokers lost their lives due
to SHS-attributed respiratory diseases, chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease, lung cancer, ischemic heart disease, and
cerebrovascular disease (stroke) in Hong Kong.' The estimated
annual economic loss of SHS was HK$ 1.08 billion.! With no
safe level of SHS exposure, continual efforts are needed to
reduce smoking and protect non-smokers from SHS.

Since the enactment of the Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance
(Cap. 371) in 1982, increasingly stringent smoke-free policies
have been introduced to reduce SHS exposure. Smoking was
first banned in public lifts and lower deck of public transport
land vehicles in 1982. Smoke-free areas were expanded to
cinemas, theatres, concert halls, amusement game centres
and all public transportation carriers in 1992, and to some
public indoor areas (e.g., shopping malls and banks) in 1998.
In 2007, a comprehensive ban on smoking in indoor public
places was introduced, including workplaces, restaurants,
markets, and both indoor and outdoor areas of kindergartens,
schools, colleges and hospitals. Smoking in some outdoor
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public places also became illegal, such as public swimming
pools and beaches, escalators, and public pleasure grounds.
Since 2009, smoking has been banned in more outdoor public
transport facilities, including eight tunnel or highway bus
interchanges in 2016.

Several local studies have shown the positive impact of the
2007 smoke-free legislation in Hong Kong. The Youth Quitline
of The University of Hong Kong received 26% more enquiry
calls within nine months after the legislation.* Mothers
reported much fewer infant exposure to SHS (from 87.2%
in 2005/06 to 29.3% in 2007/08). Their actions to protect
children from SHS increased, suggesting that the legislation
had increased SHS awareness and denormalized smoking.” In
the long run, the legislation reduced hospital admissions of
children due to lower respiratory tract infection,” and saved
around 1,000 lives per year in Hong Kong.”

Besides continuous expansion of smoke-free areas, reducing
the smoking population is crucial to protecting non-smokers
from SHS. Daily cigarette use in Hong Kong has dropped
substantially from 23.3% in 1982 to 9.5% in 2021, with more
remarkable reduction in males (from 39.7% to 16.7%).° This
shows the effectiveness of multi-pronged tobacco control
policies. However, in recent years, tobacco control policies
have not been strengthened substantially and the smoking
prevalence has plateaued. This appears to suggest existing
control policies may be incapable of hastening the demise of
smoking.” Novel and radical measures are needed to deal a
knock-out punch to the tobacco epidemic, reducing smoking
to a very low level (such as 5%) to create an atmosphere
favourable to a total ban on smoking.



Since 2013, COSH has conducted a series of Tobacco Control
Policy-related Survey (TCPS), including nine landline surveys
and two mobile phone surveys, to gather information on
smoking-related issues, such as pattern of smoking, SHS
exposure, the impact of tobacco control policies, and opinions
on current and future policies. Findings of TCPS have been
used to advocate for smoke-free area expansion, enlargement
of pictorial health warnings (PHWs), a total ban on alternative
smoking products (ASPs) and other tobacco control measures,
playing an important role in promoting smoke-free Hong
Kong.

In the present report, we examine (1) SHS exposure; (2)
smoke-free areas; and (3) tobacco endgame. Tobacco control
policies to be advocated in the future will also be discussed.

2. Methods

2.1 Study design and participants

TCPS 2021 was a cross-sectional landline and mobile phone
survey conducted from March to July 2021. Hong Kong
residents aged 15 years or above who spoke Cantonese were
recruited. Three target groups were included: (1) current
smokers who used any forms of smoking products either
daily or occasionally, (2) ex-smokers who used any forms of
smoking products in the past but had stopped, and (3) never
smokers who had never used any forms of smoking products.
Data collection of the survey was contracted to the Hong
Kong Public Opinion Research Institute Limited (PORI). Initial
call-ins took place from 2:30 pm to 10:30 pm from Monday to
Sunday to cover respondents with diversified working hours
of different industries. Each randomly selected telephone
number was called a maximum of five times, at different times
and on different days, before it was dropped as “non-contact”.
All interviews were conducted anonymously except for those
willing to participate in follow-up surveys. Participants could
withdraw from the study at any time without providing a
reason, and with no consequences.

2.2 Sampling methods and respondent selection

TCPS 2021 recruited 5,112 respondents, including 1,701
current smokers, 1,710 ex-smokers, and 1,701 never smokers.
Half the respondents of each smoking group were recruited
via landline interviews, while the other half via mobile phone
interviews. For landline interviews, telephone numbers
were first randomly drawn from the residential telephone
directories to become seed numbers, from which another set
of numbers would be generated by a computer programme
using the “plus/minus one/two” method to capture unlisted
numbers. Duplicated numbers were then filtered, and the
remaining numbers were mixed in random order to produce

the final sampling frame. When contact was successfully
established with a target household, one person of the
household was selected among all eligible household
members at home at the time of contact using the “next
birthday” rule. For mobile phone interviews, numbers were
randomly generated using known prefixes assigned to mobile
telecommunication service providers under the Numbering
Plan of the Office of the Communications Authority and mixed
in random order to produce the final sampling frame. Only
the users of the contacted mobile numbers were interviewed.
Due to the relatively small proportions of ex- and current
smokers in Hong Kong, oversampling of these two groups was
conducted for more precise estimates and detailed analysis,
and weighting was applied to adjust for oversampling.

2.3 Questionnaire development

The questionnaire was largely based on previous
questionnaires with addition of questions on emerging
issues. It included two sections: core questions and random
questions. Core questions were answered by all respondents,
consisting of questions on tobacco use, COVID-19 and
smoking, quit duration, smoking hotspots, etc. Random
questions were designed for random subsamples of
respondents with certain smoking status (six subsets for
current smokers, four subsets for ex-smokers, and two subsets
for never smokers), including SHS exposure (n=2,273), smoke-
free areas (n=2,260), tobacco endgame (n=1,839), etc. All
respondents in a subset answered the same questions.

2.4 Weighting and statistical analysis

The whole sample was weighted against the sex, age and
smoking status distribution of the 2021 Hong Kong Resident
population (inmates of institutions, domestic helpers and
persons living on board vessels were excluded).® Univariate
analysis of variables of interest by overall smoking status,
the status of using specific smoking products (regardless of
the use of other products), or sex was conducted. Chi-square
test and linear regression were used to examine differences
by subgroups. Statistical significance was set as P<0.05. All
analyses were conducted using STATA (Version 15.1, TX:
StataCorp LP).
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3. Results

3.1 Sample characteristics

Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of the weighted sample by smoking status (%)

Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total P-value
(n=1,701) (n=1,710) (n=1,701) (n=5,112)

(%) (%) (%) (%)

Sex <0.001
Male 40.1 84.8 82.2 471
Female 59.9 15.2 17.8 529

Age (years) <0.001
15-29 18.4 24 9.1 16.6
30-39 16.2 8.4 17.0 15.9
40-49 15.8 12.6 25.1 16.6
50-59 17.8 20.1 21.8 18.4
60 or above 30.6 55.8 26.3 316
DK/RTA 1.2 0.8 0.9 1.0

Education level <0.001
Primary or below 12.9 17.9 12.2 13.0
Secondary 456 54.0 60.0 475
Tertiary 40.7 27.2 27.1 38.6
DK/RTA 0.8 1.0 0.7 0.8

Employment <0.001
Employed 45.6 43.1 68.1 47.9
Student 10.2 0.4 1.1 8.8
Home-makers 16.4 5.2 3.6 14.5
Unemployed 3.6 37 6.1 3.8
Retired 23.0 46.8 20.3 24.0
DK/RTA 1.3 0.8 0.9 1.1

DK/RTA: Don't know/Refuse to answer.
Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.

Difference by smoking status were tested by Chi-square test.

Table 1 shows that current smokers (73.2%) and ex-smokers (27.2%) and current smokers (27.1%) (P<0.001). Employment
(88.5%) were more likely to be aged 40 years or above than was more common in current smokers (68.1%) than in never
never smokers (64.2%) (P<0.001). Tertiary education was (45.6%) and ex-smokers (43.1%) (P<0.001).

more common in never smokers (40.7%) than in ex-smokers
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3.2 SHS exposure

About three-fifths (57.6%) of respondents reported SHS
exposure at home, workplace, or other places in the past 7
days. Figure 1 shows that 11.8% of respondents were exposed
to SHS at home in the past 7 days, including 6.9% that had
more frequent exposure for 4-7 days. More current smokers
were exposed to SHS at home (17.1%) than never smokers
(11.4%) and ex-smokers (7.4%) (P<0.001).

Figure 1

SHS exposure at home in the past 7 days (n=2,273)

. 1-3 days . 4-7 days

20%

117.1%
15% —

10% — 11.4% 11.8%

7.4%
5%

0%
Current smokers Total
(n=574) (n=2,273)

Ex-smokers
(n=850)

Never smokers
(n=849)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

Figure 2 shows that 22.2% of working respondents were
exposed to SHS at workplace in the past 7 days, including
14.1% that were exposed to SHS for 4-7 days. More current
smokers were exposed to SHS at workplace (47.6%) than
never smokers (17.0%) and ex-smokers (30.9%) (P<0.001).

Figure 2

SHS exposure at workplace
in working respondents in the past 7 days (n=1,053)
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10% —
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Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
(n=320) (n=367) (n=366) (n=1,053)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

Figure 3 shows that 42.2% of respondents were exposed to
SHS outside home and workplace, including 17.9% who were
exposed to SHS for 4-7 days. The exposure was more common
in current smokers (47.7%) than in never smokers (41.8%) and
ex-smokers (37.2%) (P<0.001).

Figure 3

SHS exposure outside home and workplace
in the past 7 days (n=2,273)
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0% = = = —
Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
(n=849) (n=850) (n=574) (n=2,273)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

175 ——




Table 2. Common locations of SHS exposure outside home and workplace in respondents with past 7-day exposure

Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total P-value
(n=342) (n=320) (n=262) (n=924)
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Streets 75.5 69.9 59.3 73.3 <0.001
Parks and other resting 11.9 14.4 49 112 <0.001
areas
Public transport stops 11.7 7.8 49 10.6 <0.001
Next to rubbish bins 7.7 7.2 20.7 9.2 <0.001
Indoor shopping malls,
department stores, wet 9.0 5.2 0.9 7.9 <0.001
markets, supermarkets
Backstairs 6.0 5.1 47 5.8 <0.001
Outdoor restaurants 3.3 4.0 5.2 3.6 <0.001
Inside public transport 42 0.8 0.0 35 <0.001
vehicles
Outside office building
entrances 3.0 1.0 1.7 2.8 <0.001
Outside residential 2.7 3.1 0.9 25 <0.001
buildings entrances

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.

Difference by smoking status were tested by Chi-square test.

Table 2 shows the common locations of SHS exposure outside
home and workplace reported by respondents with past 7-day
exposure. Streets were most common (73.3%), followed by
parks and other resting areas (11.2%), public transport stops
(10.6%), area next to rubbish bins (9.2%), indoor shopping
malls, department stores, wet markets and supermarkets
(7.9%), backstairs (5.8%), outdoor restaurants (3.6%), inside
public transport vehicles (3.5%), outside office building
entrances (2.8%), and outside residential building entrances
(2.5%).

In general, SHS exposure in non-smokers (including never
smokers and ex-smokers) was more common than in current
smokers in most of the places covered in the survey. However,
in the places which are possible smoking hotspots, SHS
exposure was significantly more prevalent in current smokers
than never smokers and ex-smokers, such as area next to
rubbish bins (20.7% vs 7.7% and 7.2%) (P<0.001) and outdoor
restaurants (5.2% vs 3.3% and 4.0%) (P<0.001).

3.3 Smoke-free areas

Figure 4 shows strong support for the extension of smoke-free
areas. Major support was found for the extension of smoke-
free areas to public transport stops (94.3%), all queues in
public places (93.7%), area within ten meters of kindergartens,
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primary schools, secondary schools, special schools and
tutorial centres (90.2%), area within three meters of children
in public places (indoor and outdoor) (90.1%), private cars
with children inside (87.8%), pedestrian precincts (83.0%),
public areas with a ceiling (79.8%), when walking on streets
(79.7%), area within three meters of office building entrances
(79.6%), all common areas in housing estates (79.5%), and
outdoor areas of restaurants and bars (66.8%). Nearly two-
thirds (64.0%) supported banning smoking in all outdoor
public places.

Overwhelming support was found in never smokers and
ex-smokers for all the places above. Although the level of
support was generally lower in current smokers, more than
half supported expansion to most places, with over two-thirds
agreeing to make all queues in public places (82.9%), public
transport stops (81.5%), private cars with children inside
(78.2%), and area within ten meters of kindergartens, primary
schools, secondary schools, special schools and tutorial
centres (75.2%) smoke-free. Their support for smoking bans in
outdoor areas of restaurants and bars (29.7%) and all outdoor
public places (30.0%) was lowest.



Figure 4

Support for extension of smoke-free areas (n=2,260)

. Never smokers (n=849) . Ex-smokers (n=850) . Current smokers (n=561) . Total (n=2,260)
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Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
Difference by smoking status was tested by Chi-square test (*** P<0.001).
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Currently, smoking or carrying a lit cigarette, cigar or pipe, or
using an ASP in smoke-free areas is liable to a fixed penalty
of HK$1,500. Figure 5 shows that 81.3% of respondents
supported increasing the amount of fixed penalty for smoking
in smoke-free areas. Current smokers showed less support
(36.6%) than never smokers (87.1%) and ex-smokers (76.8%)
(P<0.001).

Figure 5

Figure 6 shows that 79.6% of respondents supported that
venue managers should be liable to penalty for any smoking
offence in smoke-free area under their responsibility. Current
smokers showed less support (57.8%) than never smokers
(82.2%) and ex-smokers (80.0%) (P<0.001).

Figure 6

Support for increasing amount of fixed penalty for
smoking in smoke-free areas (n=2,260)

Support for penalty for any smoking offence in
smoke-free area for venue managers (n=2,260)

100% — 87.1 .
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60% —
40% — 306
20% —
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Never smokers Ex-smokers Current smokers Total
(n=849) (n=850) (n=561) (n=2,260)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).
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(n=849) (n=850) (n=561) (n=2,260)

Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong
population.

Difference by smoking status was significant by Chi-square test (P<0.001).

3.4 Tobacco endgame

Figure 7
Support for tobacco endgame strategies (n=1,839)
. Never smokers (n=849) . Ex-smokers (n=429) . Current smokers (n=561) . Total (n=1,839)
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Results were weighted by sex, age and smoking status of the 2021 Hong Kong population.
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Figure 7 shows that 90.9% of respondents supported a
licensing system that allows only licensed retail shops to
sell smoking products, 73.9% supported a quota system for
smoking product sales with the quota reduced annually, and
56.6% supported only allowing registered smokers to buy or
use any smoking products. Over half respondents supported
for a total ban on sales of smoking products other than
cigarettes (61.4%), a total ban on smoking when smoking
prevalence drops to 5% or lower (60.3%), and a total ban on
smoking in people born in or after 2021 (52.3%). Although
current smokers showed much less support for the endgame
strategies, over one-third (37.6%) supported banning smoking
when smoking prevalence drops to 5% or lower.

4. Discussion

41 Secondhand smoke and smoke-free areas

Although the current smoke-free legislation covers all indoor
public areas and some outdoor public areas, TCPS 2021
showed that a substantial proportion (57.6%) of the Hong
Kong population was still exposed to SHS. Nearly three-fifths
of respondents with SHS exposure at home, about two-thirds
of working respondents with SHS exposure at workplace
and two-fifths of respondents with SHS exposure elsewhere
reported frequent exposure of at least 4 days a week. Similar
level of (past 7-day) exposure to SHS was observed in TCPS in
recent years, both at home (2021: 11.8%, 2020, 12.7%; 2018
wave 2: 14.2%) and at workplace (2021: 22.2%, 2020, 22.2%;
2018 wave 2: 25.4%). In TCPS 2021, two-fifths (42.2%) of the
population were exposed to SHS in places other than home
or workplace in the past 7 days, with streets being the most
commonly reported place. We also found 15.3% of the Hong
Kong population had third-hand smoke (THS) exposure at
home and 26.0% at other indoor places in the past 7 days
in TCPS 2018 wave 2. These findings highlight the need to
further expand smoke-free areas to protect non-smokers.

An increasing number of jurisdictions have expanded smoke-
free areas to certain outdoor public places and places with
children. For instance, smoking is banned outside entrances
or exits of buildings (Australia, Singapore, and Thailand),'*"
in busy streets/designated zones (some cities in Japan, and
Singapore),'" * at bus stops (Australia, Singapore, Thailand
and Macao),'”" " and in private cars carrying children
(Australia, Bahrain, some cities in Canada, France, Italy, South
Africa and some cities in the United States [US]).”” Some
countries have also banned smoking at home to protect
non-smoking residents from SHS exposure, such as Finland
(rental accommodations only),' Thailand'” and the US (public
housing only)." Hong Kong had little progress in expansion of
smoke-free area for more than ten years, and needs to catch
up urgently.

We found strong support for banning smoking in many
public places or places with children (by four-fifths or more
of the population), and in all outdoor public places (64.0%).
In current smokers, the support was relatively strong for
banning smoking in all queues in public places, public
transport stops, private cars with children inside, within ten
meters of kindergarten, primary schools, secondary schools,
special schools and tutoring centres, and within three meters
of children in public places (indoor and outdoor). Given the
public health and economic burden of SHS and very strong
public support, the Government should quickly expand
smoke-free areas, especially to those receiving massive
support from the public irrespective of smoking status.

4.2 Tobacco endgame

The World Health Organization has set a goal of a 30%
reduction relative to the 2010 prevalence of current tobacco
use in persons aged 15 years or above by 2025 to prevent
and control non-communicable diseases. In accordance with
WHO's goal, the Hong Kong Government launched “Towards
2025: Strategy and Action Plan to Prevent and Control Non-
Communicable Diseases in Hong Kong” in 2018, with reducing
the smoking prevalence to 7.8% by 2025 as one of the targets.

Several countries and regions have decided to go further
and declared tobacco endgame goals (reducing smoking
prevalence to 5% or lower), targeting to end the tobacco
epidemic. Radical strategies proposed to achieve tobacco
endgame can be categorized into four aspects: (1) product-
focused strategies, such as advocating less addictive or non-
addictive tobacco products by regulating nicotine levels and
banning flavors that make tobacco products more tolerable
or palatable to taste, (2) user-focused strategies, such as
a licensing system for purchasing tobacco products and
banning tobacco sales to people born after a specific year,
(3) market/supply-focused strategies, such as “sinking lid”
strategy that restricts tobacco supply on a regular basis, and
(4) institutional structure-focused strategies, such as levy on
tobacco manufacturers to fund tobacco control initiatives."
To date, only New Zealand has designated a smoke-free
action plan that outlines the above tobacco endgame
strategies and other innovative measures in the policy, such
as smoke-free generation (e.g., banning cigarette sales to
those born in or after 2009 at the time of implementation),
limiting retail availability, and reduction in nicotine levels of
smoking products.”’

We found relatively high support for several tobacco
endgame strategies in Hong Kong, such as a licensing system
for smoking product sales (90.9%) and a quota system for
smoking product sales with the quota reduced annually
(73.9%). Two-thirds (60.3%) supported a total ban on smoking
when the smoking prevalence drops to 5% or lower. In
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accordance with substantial public support, the Government
should review the applicability of the endgame strategies,
and establish a tobacco endgame plan as soon as possible,
while strengthening existing tobacco control measures.

5. Limitations

This study had some limitations. First, all information
was collected over the phone. While the data may have a
lower quality than those from face-to-face interviews, the
anonymous nature would encourage more truthful responses.
Second, only Cantonese-speaking respondents were
interviewed, but they consisted of 96.7% of the population
aged 15 years or above in the 2016 Population By-Census.
Third, as a cross-sectional survey, it cannot track changes in
tobacco consumption and opinions towards tobacco control
policies from the same respondents over time. Longitudinal/
cohort studies are warranted.

6. Conclusions

TCPS 2021 found many of the Hong Kong population were still
exposed to SHS at home, at workplace, and in other places.
Support for expansion of smoke-free areas was very strong.
The Government should rapidly expand smoke-free areas to
protect non-smokers from SHS exposure, which would also
motivate more smokers to quit. To ultimately eliminate SHS
and smoking, the Government needs to establish tobacco
endgame target, and implement novel and radical strategies.
The smoking prevalence of Hong Kong is lower than that of
most countries with an endgame target. The Government
should make reference to these countries, and formulate its
own tobacco endgame target and plan for Hong Kong to be
free from tobacco hazards.

7. Other results of TCPS 2021

7.1 Current use of smoking products

e (igarettes (9.4%) were the most commonly used
smoking product, followed by cigars (1.2%), electronic
cigarettes (e-cigarettes) (1.0%), heated tobacco products
(HTPs) (0.8%), waterpipe tobacco (0.7%), hand-rolled
cigarettes (0.6%), pipe tobacco (0.4%) and herbal
cigarettes (0.1%).

e On average, current cigarette smokers consumed 13.0
cigarettes per day. Over half (52.4%) had heavier nicotine
dependence that they smoked the first cigarette within
half an hour after waking up.
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Smoking hotspots

Two-fifths (42.5%) of current smokers reported using
smoking products at smoking hotspots (e.g., near
rubbish bins and back alleys) in the past 7 days.

The mean number of visits to smoking hotspots per day
by current smokers was 3.1 (SD = 2.7).

Perception of cigarettes

On an 11-point scale from 0 (not harmful at all) to 10
(very harmful), the mean score of perceived harmfulness
of cigarettes among all respondents was 8.4 (SD = 2.0).

On an 11-point scale from 0 (not addictive at all)
to 10 (very addictive), the mean score of perceived
addictiveness of cigarettes among all respondents was
7.5(SD=2.3).

Perception of ASPs and waterpipe tobacco

74.1 HTPs

e Among respondents who were aware of HTPs,
4.0% intended to use HTPs in the next 12
months. 61.7% of all respondents and 62.9% of
current smokers perceived HTPs as ineffective for
quitting cigarettes.

e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not harmful at all)
to 10 (very harmful), the mean score of perceived
harmfulness of HTPs among respondents who
were aware of HTPs was 7.7 (SD = 2.3).

e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not addictive
at all) to 10 (very addictive), the mean score
of perceived addictiveness of HTPs among
respondents who were aware of HTPs was 7.2 (SD
=2.5).

e Curiosity (41.7%) and cleaner (23.4%) were the
key reasons for HTP use.

74.2

e Among respondents who were aware of
e-cigarettes, 2.7% intended to use e-cigarettes in
the next 12 months.

E-cigarettes

e About two-thirds of respondents (63.9%) and
current smokers (68.7%) who were aware of
e-cigarettes perceived e-cigarettes as ineffective
for quitting cigarettes.
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e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not harmful at all)
to 10 (very harmful), the mean score of perceived
harmfulness of e-cigarettes among respondents
who were aware of e-cigarettes was 7.9 (SD = 2.1).

e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not addictive at
all) to 10 (very addictive), the mean score of
perceived addictiveness of e-cigarettes among
respondents who were aware of e-cigarettes was
7.5 (SD =2.2).

e Curiosity (44.0%) was the key reason for
e-cigarette use.

74.3

e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not harmful at all)
to 10 (very harmful), the mean score of perceived
harmfulness of waterpipe tobacco among
respondents who were aware of waterpipe
tobacco was 7.3 (SD = 2.5).

Waterpipe tobacco

e On an 11-point scale from 0 (not addictive at
all) to 10 (very addictive), the mean score of
perceived addictiveness of waterpipe tobacco
among respondents who were aware of
waterpipe tobacco was 6.8 (SD = 2.6).

Tobacco advertisements

About two-thirds (65.4%) of current smokers reported
usually or occasionally seeing point-of-sale tobacco
product displays in the past 30 days. The prevalence was
lower in never smokers (54.7%) and ex-smokers (55.2%)
(P<0.001).

63.2% of respondents perceived point-of-sale tobacco
product displays as advertisements. Such perception was
less common in current smokers (50.1%) than in never
smokers (64.8%) and ex-smokers (65.5%) (P<0.001).

About half (52.1%) respondents supported banning
point-of-sale tobacco product displays. Support was
lower in current smokers (35.0%) than in never smokers
(54.3%) and ex-smokers (51.5%) (P<0.001).

7.6

7.7

7.8

Pictorial health warnings (PHWs)

Nine in ten (90.4%) current smokers were aware of (had
seen) PHWs on cigarette packs in the past 30 days. The
awareness was lower in never smokers (50.3%) and ex-
smokers (53.7%) (P<0.001).

When current smokers saw PHWs in the past 30 days
(excluding those who had not seen), 45.1% thought
about the harms of smoking, 14.7% thought about
quitting smoking, and 7.2% forwent a cigarette.

Nearly two-thirds (63.0%) of respondents supported
regular PHW rotation. Support was lower in current
smokers (42.4%) than in never smokers (65.8%) and ex-
smokers (63.8%) (P<0.001).

Over half (54.4%) of respondents supported plain
packaging of cigarette packs. Support was lower in
current smokers (30.0%) than in never smokers (57.6%)
and ex-smokers (55.1%) (P<0.001).

Quit attempt and smoking cessation services

About one-fifth (18.5%) of current smokers had their
most recent quit attempt in the past 12 months.

About one-seventh (14.2%) of current smokers had ever
used smoking cessation services.

Among current smokers who had used smoking
cessation methods, the most commonly used method
was face-to-face counseling (15.3%), followed by
telephone enquiry (11.2%), telephone counseling (8.5%)
and group counseling (3.1%).

A quarter (25.4%) of current smokers had ever used
any smoking cessation products. Most commonly used
products included nicotine gum (15.1%) and nicotine
patch (14.7%), followed by nicotine lozenge (8.7%),
smoking cessation medications (3.0%), acupuncture
(2.6%) and Chinese medicine (1.2%).

Tobacco tax

Nearly three quarters (72.9%) of respondents supported
a tobacco tax increase in 2022, with 34.3% supporting
an increase greater than inflation. Overall support was
lower in current smokers (24.3%) than in never smokers
(78.8%) and ex-smokers (71.7%) (P<0.001).

Over two-thirds (68.1%) of respondents supported an
annual tobacco tax increase, with 30.9% respondents
supporting an annual increase greater than inflation.
Overall support was lower in current smokers (21.2%)
than in never smokers (74.0%) and ex-smokers (66.5%)
(P<0.001).
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Over half (54.5%) of current smokers would reduce
cigarette consumption by at least half if cigarette retail
price increases. The mean and median retail price to
motivate this was HK$107.3 and HK$100.0, respectively.

Over half (53.8%) of current smokers would quit
cigarettes if cigarette retail price increases. The mean
and median retail price to motivate this was $130.7 and
HK$100.0, respectively.

Two-thirds (66.2%) of current smokers would reduce
cigarette consumption by at least half or quit if cigarette
retail price increases. The mean and median price to
motivate this was $115.5 and HK$100.0, respectively.

Perceptions of COVID-19 and smoking

Current smokers generally underestimated the risks
of smoking on COVID-19. On a scale from 0 (strongly
disagree) to 10 (strongly agree), current smokers did
not agree that smoking would increase the risk of
COVID-19 infection (2.8 points on average) or the risk of
progression to severity (4.8 points on average), while ex-
smokers agreed that smoking would increase the risk of
COVID-19 infection (5.1 points on average) and the risk
of progression to severity (6.9 points on average).

Around one-tenth (10.2%) of current smokers and 43.6%
of ex-smokers reduced smoking during the 4™ COVID-19
wave in December 2020.
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